CARTAN SUBALGEBRAS FOR QUANTUM SYMMETRIC PAIR COIDEALS

GAIL LETZTER

ABSTRACT. There is renewed interest in the coideal subalgebras used to form quantum symmetric pairs because of recent discoveries showing that they play a fundamental role in the representation theory of quantized enveloping algebras. However, there is still no general theory of finite-dimensional modules for these coideals. In this paper, we establish an important step in this direction: we show that every quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebra admits a quantum Cartan subalgebra which is a polynomial ring that specializes to its classical counterpart. The construction builds on Kostant and Sugiura's classification of Cartan subalgebras for real semisimple Lie algebras via strongly orthogonal systems of positive roots. We show that these quantum Cartan subalgebras act semisimply on finite-dimensional unitary modules and identify particularly nice generators of the quantum Cartan subalgebra for a family of examples.

Contents

1.	Introduction	88
2.	Cartan subalgebras of real semisimple Lie algebras	93
3.	Quantized enveloping algebras	104
4.	Quantum symmetric pairs	111
5.	Lifting to the lower triangular part	116
6.	Conditions for commutativity	126
7.	Constructing Cartan subalgebras	136
8.	A family of examples: Type AIII/AIV	142
9.	Appendix: Commonly used notation	150
Acknowledgments		151
References		151

1. Introduction

In the mid-1980s, Drinfel'd and Jimbo ([Dr], [Ji]) introduced a family of algebras, referred to as quantized enveloping algebras, which are Hopf algebra deformations of enveloping algebras of semisimple Lie algebras. Shortly afterwards, Noumi, Sugitani, Dijkhuizen, and the author developed a theory of quantum symmetric spaces based on the construction of quantum analogs of symmetric pairs ([D], [NS], [N], [L2], [L3], [L4], [L5]). Classically, a symmetric pair consists of a semisimple Lie

Received by the editors June 4, 2017, and, in revised form, November 23, 2018.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 17B37; Secondary 17B10, 17B22.

 $Key\ words\ and\ phrases.$ Quantized enveloping algebras, symmetric pairs, coideal subalgebras, Cartan subalgebras.

algebra and a Lie subalgebra fixed by an involution. Quantum symmetric pairs are formed using one-sided coideal subalgebras because quantized enveloping algebras contain very few Hopf subalgebras. Although quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras can be viewed as quantum analogs of enveloping algebras of the underlying fixed Lie subalgebras, which are either semisimple or reductive, there is still no general classification of finite-dimensional modules for these coideal subalgebras. In this paper, we establish a significant step in this direction: we show that every quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebra admits a quantum Cartan subalgebra which is a polynomial ring that specializes to its classical counterpart and acts semisimply on finite-dimensional unitary modules. It should be noted that Kolb has extended the theory of quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras to quantized Kac-Moody algebras ([Ko]). Although we do not consider this more general situation here, we expect many of the ideas and constructions of this paper to carry over to the Kac-Moody setting.

One of the original goals in developing the theory of quantum symmetric spaces, realizing Macdonald-Koornwinder polynomials as quantum zonal spherical functions, has in large part been completed (see [N], [NS], [DN], [NDS], [DS], [L3], [L4]). Recently, one-sided coideal subalgebras used to form quantum symmetric pairs have gained renewed attention because of the discovery of their fundamental roles in the representation theory of quantized enveloping algebras. Ehrig and Stroppel ([ES]) show that a family of these coideal subalgebras are just the right algebras needed in the categorification of certain quantized enveloping algebra representations arising in Schur duality and skew Howe duality. In [BW], Bao and Wang obtain canonical bases for representations of this family of coideal subalgebras and use it to settle conjectures concerning irreducible characters of Lie superalgebras. Expanding greatly on these ideas, Bao and Wang present a general theory of canonical bases that works for all types of quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras in [BW2]. Following a program initiated in [BW], Balagovic and Kolb ([BK]) use quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras to construct universal K-matrices which provide solutions of the reflection equation arising in inverse scattering theory. These K-matrices (are expected to) play a similar role as the universal R-matrices for quantized enveloping algebras.

The body of work described in the previous paragraph relies on a variety of representations with respect to the quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras. However, these representations are mainly modules or submodules of the larger quantized enveloping algebras. For example, the analysis of zonal spherical functions on quantum symmetric spaces uses spherical modules, a special family of finite-dimensional simple representations for the quantized enveloping algebras (see for example [L1], [L2], and [L5]). Ehrig and Stroppel establish dualities involving quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras using exterior products of the natural representations for the larger quantized enveloping algebras ([ES]). Bao and Wang obtain canonical basis with respect to a quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebra for tensor products of finite-dimensional simple modules of the quantized enveloping algebra ([BW2]). One of the beautiful properties of Lusztig's canonical bases (Chapter 25, [Lu]) is that they yield compatible bases for each finite-dimensional simple module of a quantized enveloping algebra. Without a highest weight theory and corresponding classification of finite-dimensional simple modules for the quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras, a comparable result remains elusive.

The Cartan subalgebra of a quantized enveloping algebra is the Laurent polynomial ring generated by the group-like elements. The group-like property enables one to easily break down many modules into direct sums of weight spaces in the context of a highest weight module theory for the quantized enveloping algebra. This Cartan is unique in the sense that it is the only Laurent polynomial ring contained inside the quantized enveloping algebra of the correct size. Unfortunately, in most cases, a quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebra does not inherit a Cartan subalgebra in the form of a Laurent polynomial ring of group-like elements from the larger quantized enveloping algebra. This is because the Cartan subalgebra of the larger quantized enveloping algebra corresponds to a maximally split one with respect to the involution defining the quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebra. Hence the Laurent polynomial ring generated by the group-like elements inside a quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebra is typically too small to play the role of a Cartan subalgebra. This lack of an obvious Cartan subalgebra consisting of group-like elements has been the primary reason so little progress has been made on a general representation theory for quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras. In this paper, we show that, despite this fact, there are good Cartan subalgebra candidates for quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras (as stated in Theorem B below).

In order to find good choices for quantum symmetric pair Cartan subalgebras, we first revisit the classical case. It is well known that there is a one-to-one correspondence between isomorphism classes of real forms for a complex semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and conjugacy classes of involutions on \mathfrak{g} . Thus, understanding the Cartan subalgebras of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} is closely connected to understanding Cartan subalgebras of real semisimple Lie algebras. Unlike the complex setting, the set of Cartan subalgebras of a real semisimple Lie algebra do not form a single conjugacy class with respect to automorphisms of the Lie algebra. A theorem of Kostant and Sugiura ([OV, Section 4.7], [Su], and [K]) classifies these conjugacy classes using subsets of the positive roots that satisfy strongly orthogonal properties with respect to the Cartan inner product. Using Cayley transforms, which are a special family of Lie algebra automorphisms, the Cartan subalgebra \mathfrak{h} can be converted into \mathfrak{t} , a Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak g$ whose intersection with $\mathfrak g^\theta$ is a Cartan subalgebra of this smaller Lie algebra. In other words, for any symmetric pair, one can use Cayley transforms to express a Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} in terms of a fixed triangular decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+$.

The Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak{t} \cap \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is spanned by elements in the union of $\{e_{\beta} + f_{-\beta}, \beta \in \Gamma_{\theta}\}$ and $\mathfrak{g}^{\theta} \cap \mathfrak{h}$ where Γ_{θ} is a system of strongly orthogonal positive roots associated to θ (see Section 2). Note that elements in $\mathfrak{g}^{\theta} \cap \mathfrak{h}$ correspond in the quantum setting to the group-like elements of \mathcal{B}_{θ} . Lifting elements of the form $e_{\beta} + f_{-\beta}$ is more complicated. In order to accomplish these lifts, we use particularly nice systems of strongly orthogonal positive roots that satisfy extra orthogonality conditions with respect to the Cartan inner product.

Theorem A (Theorem 2.7). For each maximally split symmetric pair $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$, there exists a maximum-sized strongly orthogonal subset $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m\}$ of positive roots such that for all j we have $\theta(\beta_j) = -\beta_j$, and for all i > j and all simple roots α in the support of β_i , α is strongly orthogonal to β_j . Moreover, each β_j is strongly orthogonal to all but at most two distinguished simple roots contained in its support.

For $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ maximally split and Γ_{θ} chosen as in Theorem A, the elements $e_{\beta} + f_{-\beta}$, $\beta \in \Gamma_{\theta}$ are lifted to the quantum case in a two-step process. The first step lifts $f_{-\beta}$ to the lower triangular part of the quantized enveloping algebra so that the lift commutes with all generators for $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ defined by simple roots strongly orthogonal to β . In many cases, this lift is a member of one of Lusztig's PBW basis ([Ja, Chapter 8). For other cases, the construction is more subtle. It relies on showing that elements of special submodules of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ with respect to the adjoint action satisfy nice commutativity properties. The desired Cartan element associated to β is formed by considering elements of \mathcal{B}_{θ} with a lowest weight term equal to the lift of $f_{-\beta}$. The process uses fine information on the possible weights and biweights in the expansion of elements in \mathcal{B}_{θ} in terms of weight and biweight vectors and a special projection map. (See Section 3.1 for the precise notion of biweight.) We further insist that the quantum analogs of the $e_{\beta} + f_{-\beta}$ are fixed by a quantum version of the Chevalley antiautomorphism. This property ensures that elements of the quantum Cartan subalgebra of a quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebra acts semisimply on a large family of finite-dimensional modules. These lifts are the substance behind our main result, Theorem 7.2, which can be summarized as follows.

Theorem B. Every quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebra \mathcal{B}_{θ} contains a commutative subalgebra \mathcal{H} that is a polynomial ring over the algebra of group-like elements inside \mathcal{B}_{θ} . Moreover, \mathcal{H} specializes to the enveloping algebra of a Cartan subalgebra of the underlying fixed Lie subalgebra, \mathcal{H} acts semisimply on finite-dimensional simple unitary \mathcal{B}_{θ} -modules, and \mathcal{H} satisfies certain uniqueness conditions related to its expression as a sum of weight vectors.

There is one family of quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras that has its own separate history, namely, the one consisting of the nonstandard q-deformed enveloping algebras of orthogonal Lie algebras introduced in a paper by Gavrilik and Klimyk [GK]. The fact that the nonstandard q-deformed enveloping algebra $U'_q(\mathfrak{so}_n)$ agrees with one of the coideal subalgebras was realized from the beginning of the theory of quantum symmetric pairs (see for example [N, Section 2.4] and [L4, end of Section 2]). In a series of papers, Gavrilik, Klimyk, and Iorgov classify the finite-dimensional simple modules for $U_q'(\mathfrak{so}_n)$ using quantum versions of Gel'fand-Tsetlin basis (see [GK], [IK], and the references therein). Rowell and Wenzl study q-deformed algebras $U'_q(\mathfrak{so}_n)$ in the context of fusion categories ([W], [RW]). Taking advantage of the finite-dimensional representation theory for $U'_q(\mathfrak{so}_n)$, they prove parts of a conjecture on braided fusion categories ([RW]). An interesting aspect of their work is that they redo the classification of finite-dimensional modules for $U_q'(\mathfrak{so}_n)$ by developing a Verma module theory based on actions of a quantum Cartan subalgebra that agrees with the one studied here (see Remark 7.4). Preliminary investigations suggest a similar Verma module theory can be realized for other symmetric pair coideal subalgebras by analyzing the action of the quantum Cartan subalgebras presented in this paper. We intend to explore this further in future work.

There is also recent work on the representation theory of \mathcal{B}_{θ} for another infinite family of quantum symmetric pairs that form a subset of those of type AIII. In [Wa], H. Watanabe constructs a triangular decomposition for these coideal subalgebras, uses this decomposition to develop a Verma module theory, and then classifies irreducible modules living inside a large category of representations. The Cartan

part of this triangular decompositon plays a standard role: Cartan elements act as scalars on highest weight generating vectors for Verma modules and these scalars are the weights used in the classification. Building on this foundation, Watanabe studies analogs of Kashiwara's crystal bases and shows that they have particularly nice combinatorial properties. We see in Section 8 that the Cartan part of this triangular decomposition in [Wa] agrees with the one presented here. We expect that the Cartan subalgebras of this paper can be used to classify families of irreducible modules for all quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras of type AIII using very similar arguments to those in [Wa]. This would be a first step towards generalizing Watanabe's crystal basis results to other symmetric pairs, especially others of type AIII.

In analogy to Lusztig's well-known braid group action on quantized enveloping algebras, Kolb and Pellegrini ([KoP]) introduce a braid group action on certain families of quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras. One might expect that it is possible to construct generators for quantum Cartan subalgebras by starting with one element and taking images of it under braid group operators. However, as explained in Remark 8.4, the situation is more subtle. Indeed, this method does not necessarily result in elements that commute with each other. Nevertheless, the braid group action could be quite useful in computing the action of the Cartan subalgebra on various representations. In particular, Watanabe uses the braid group action in order to compute the action of Cartan elements on highest weight vectors and this might generalize to other symmetric pair families (see [Wa, Section 4.3]).

There are many connections with the quantum Cartan subalgebra of this paper and the center of \mathcal{B}_{θ} studied in [KoL]. Both constructions take advantage of various projection maps, weight and biweight expansions, the structure of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ with respect to the adjoint action, and certain commutativity conditions. In the last section of this paper, we comment on a particularly close connection between the center and the quantum Cartan subalgebra of \mathcal{B}_{θ} for a symmetric pair of type AIII/AIV (see Remark 8.3). In [Ko2], Kolb shows that central elements yield solutions to reflection equations. It would be interesting to see whether the quantum Cartan subalgebra elements of this paper, which share many properties of central elements, yield solutions to a related family of equations.

This paper is organized as follows. Section 2 is devoted to the classical case. After introducing basic notation in Section 2.1, we review in Section 2.2 some of the classical theory of Cartan subalgebras in the real setting, explain the notion of strongly orthogonal systems, and present part of the Kostant-Sugiura classification of real Cartan subalgebras in terms of strongly orthogonal systems of positive roots. In Section 2.3, we show how to use this classification and Cayley transforms to identify the Cartan subalgebra of a fixed Lie subalgebra \mathfrak{g}^{θ} with respect to a given triangular decomposition of \mathfrak{g} . Maximally split involutions are the focus of Section 2.4 where we present Theorem A (Theorem 2.7) with case-by-case explicit descriptions of the desired maximum-sized strongly orthogonal systems of positive roots.

Section 3 reviews basic properties of quantized enveloping algebras. We set notation in Section 3.1, discuss adjoint module structures and dual Vermas in Section 3.2, and describe Lusztig's automorphisms in Section 3.3. In Section 3.4, we review the quantum Chevalley antiautomorphism and the fact that subalgebras invariant

with respect to this automorphism act semisimply on finite-dimensional unitary modules.

In Section 4, we turn our attention to quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras. After setting notation in Section 4.1, we establish in Section 4.2 a result on the biweight space expansions of elements of a coideal subalgebra \mathcal{B}_{θ} associated to a maximally split involution θ . In Section 4.3, we introduce a projection map on the quantized enveloping algebra. We then show how to construct elements of \mathcal{B}_{θ} equal to a given lower triangular element plus terms that vanish with respect to this projection map.

The main result of Section 5 is a version of the first assertion of Theorem B for the lower triangular part of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$. The proof is based on lifting root vectors associated to weights in strongly orthogonal root systems (as specified by Theorem A) to elements in the lower triangular part that satisfy strong commutativity properties. These lifts rely on an analysis of certain finite-dimensional simple modules in the classical setting (Section 5.1) and lifts of special families of root vectors in Sections 5.2 and 5.3. Details of the lift are given in Section 5.4.

Section 6 sets up the basic tools needed to create Cartan elements in \mathcal{B}_{θ} . Section 6.1 introduces the notion of generalized normalizers in order to analyze when elements of \mathcal{B}_{θ} commute with elements of carefully chosen sub-quantized enveloping algebras of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$. Sections 6.2 and 6.3 establish properties of lowest and highest weight summands, respectively, of elements inside special generalized normalizers associated to \mathcal{B}_{θ} . Building on the prior sections, Section 6.4 presents methods for constructing Cartan elements with desired commutativity properties in \mathcal{B}_{θ} from the lift of the root vectors $f_{-\beta}$.

Theorem B, the main result of the paper, is the heart of Section 7. First, we establish in Section 7.1 a specialization criteria that is later used to show that the quantum Cartan subalgebras specialize to their classical counterparts. We show how to construct the desired Cartan elements, and thus prove the detailed version of Theorem B (Theorem 7.2 and Corollary 7.3), in Section 7.2.

In the final section (Section 8) of the paper, we analyze in detail the quantum Cartan subalgebras for a family of symmetric pairs of type AIII/AIV. After a brief overview of the generators and relations for this family in Section 8.1, we present the n=2 and n=3 cases in Sections 8.2 and 8.3, respectively. For general n (Section 8.4), we give explicit formulas for a set of generators for the quantum Cartan subalgebra. We also establish a close connection between the quantum Cartan subalgebra and central elements of subalgebras of \mathcal{B}_{θ} .

We conclude the paper with an appendix listing commonly used notation by order of appearance.

2. Cartan subalgebras of real semisimple Lie algebras

Let \mathbb{C} denote the complex numbers, let \mathbb{R} denote the real numbers, and let \mathbb{N} denote the nonnegative integers. We recall facts about normal real forms of a complex semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and present part of Kostant and Sugiura's results on the classification of Cartan subalgebras in the real setting in terms of strongly orthogonal systems of positive roots. Much of the material in this section is based on the presentation in [OV, Section 4.7] and [Kn, Chapter VI, Sections 6 and 7] (see also [Su], [AK], and [DFG]). However, we take a slightly different perspective, focusing on Cartan subalgebras of a subalgebra \mathfrak{g}^{θ} of \mathfrak{g} fixed by an involution θ

rather than Cartan subalgebras of related real forms. We conclude this section with Theorem 2.7, the detailed version of Theorem A, which identifies strongly orthogonal systems of positive roots with special properties.

2.1. Basic notation: The classical case. Let $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+$ be a fixed triangular decomposition of the complex semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Let Δ denote the set of roots of \mathfrak{g} and recall that Δ is a subset of the dual space \mathfrak{h}^* to \mathfrak{h} . Write Δ^+ for the subset of positive roots. Let $h_i, e_{\alpha}, f_{-\alpha}, i = 1, \ldots, n, \alpha \in \Delta^+$ be a Chevalley basis for \mathfrak{g} . Set $\pi = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$ equal to a fixed choice of simple roots for the root system Δ . As is standard, we view roots as elements of \mathfrak{h}^* (see for example [H, Chapter 14]). Let \mathcal{W} denote the Weyl group associated to the root system Δ and let w_0 denote the longest element of \mathcal{W} . Given a simple root α_i , we often write e_i for e_{α_i} and f_i for $f_{-\alpha_i}$. Given a positive root $\alpha \in \mathfrak{h}^*$, we write h_{α} for the coroot in \mathfrak{h} . Let (,,) denote the Cartan inner product on \mathfrak{h}^* .

We define notation associated to a subset π' of π as follows. Let $\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}$ be the semisimple Lie subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} generated by e_i , f_i , h_i for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Write $Q(\pi')$ (resp., $Q^+(\pi')$) for the set of linear combinations of elements in π' with integer (resp., nonnegative integer) coefficients. In particular, $Q(\pi)$ is just the root lattice for \mathfrak{g} with respect to the choice of simple roots π . Let $\Delta(\pi')$ be the subset of Δ equal to the root system generated by π' with respect to the Cartan inner product (,). Write $\mathcal{W}_{\pi'}$ for the subgroup of \mathcal{W} generated by the reflections defined by the simple roots in π' . In other words, $\mathcal{W}_{\pi'}$ can be viewed as the Weyl group for the root system $\Delta(\pi')$. Write $w(\pi')_0$ for the longest element of $\mathcal{W}_{\pi'}$. If π' is the empty set, we set $w(\pi')_0 = 1$.

Let $P(\pi)$ denote the weight lattice, and let $P^+(\pi)$ denote the subset of $P(\pi)$ consisting of dominant integral weights with respect to the choice of simple roots π of the root system Δ . Recall that $P(\pi)$ has a standard partial order defined by $\beta \geq \gamma$ if and only if $\beta - \gamma \in Q^+(\pi)$. Similarly, let $P(\pi')$ denote the weight lattice and let $P^+(\pi')$ denote the set of dominant integral weights associated to the root system $\Delta(\pi')$ with a set of simple roots π' . Since $\pi \subset \mathfrak{h}^*$, $P(\pi)$ and $Q(\pi)$ are subsets of \mathfrak{h}^* . Thus, given say $\lambda \in P(\pi)$, it makes sense to also consider $\lambda/2 \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ as we do at the beginning of Section 3.2.

Given a weight $\beta = \sum_i m_i \alpha_i \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ and $\alpha_i \in \pi$, we set $\operatorname{mult}_{\alpha_i}(\beta) = m_i$. Write $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$ for the subset of simple roots α_i in π such that $\operatorname{mult}_{\alpha_i}(\beta) = m_i \neq 0$. Define the height of β by $\operatorname{ht}(\beta) = \sum_i m_i$. Since the set π of simple roots form a basis for \mathfrak{h}^* , the notion of height works for all elements of \mathfrak{h}^* and hence for all elements in the weight lattice $P(\pi)$ and the root lattice $Q(\pi)$.

2.2. Cartan subalgebras and the normal real form. The normal real form of the semisimple Lie algebra $\mathfrak g$ is the real Lie subalgebra

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{R}h_{i} + \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta^{+}} \mathbb{R}e_{\alpha} + \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta^{+}} \mathbb{R}f_{-\alpha}.$$

Set $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}} = \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}} \cap \mathfrak{h} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbb{R} h_i$.

Consider a Lie algebra involution θ of \mathfrak{g} . Conjugating with a Lie algebra automorphism of \mathfrak{g} if necessary, we may assume that both \mathfrak{h} and $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$ are stable under the action of θ , and, moreover, θ restricts to an involution of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$. The Cartan

decomposition associated to θ is the decomposition of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$ into subspaces

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}=\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}\oplus\mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{R}}$$

where $\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}} = \{t \in \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}} | \ \theta(t) = t\}$ and $\mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{R}} = \{t \in \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}} | \ \theta(t) = -t\}.$

A Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}$ of the real semisimple Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$ is called $\mathit{standard}$ if

$$\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}=\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}^{+}\oplus\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}^{-}$$

where $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}^+ \subseteq \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}^- \subseteq \mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{R}}$. The space $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}^-$ is called the *vector part* of the Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}$. The dimension of $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}^+$ is called the *compact dimension* of $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and the dimension of $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}^-$ is called the *noncompact dimension* of $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}$. A standard Cartan subalgebra is called *maximally compact* if its compact dimension is the maximum possible value and is called *maximally noncompact* if its noncompact dimension is the largest possible value. Maximally noncompact Cartan subalgebras are also called maximally split Cartan subalgebras.

Let $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathbb{R}}$ be a maximal commutative real Lie algebra that is a subset of $\mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{R}}$. Note that $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}$ is maximally split if and only if

$$\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}^- = \mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}} \cap \mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{R}} = \mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}} \cap \mathfrak{a}_{\mathbb{R}} = \mathfrak{a}_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

Recall that θ has been adjusted so that the Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak h$ is stable with respect to θ . It follows that θ sends root vectors to root vectors. Hence θ induces an involution, which we also call θ , on the root system of $\mathfrak g$. In particular, $\theta(\alpha)$ equals the weight of $\theta(e_{\alpha})$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta$. This involution extends to the lattices $Q(\pi)$ and $P(\pi)$ by insisting that $\theta(\sum_i \eta_i \alpha_i) = \sum_i \eta_i \theta(\alpha_i)$ for all $\eta = \sum_i \eta_i \alpha_i$. We write $Q(\pi)^{\theta}$ (resp., $P(\pi)^{\theta}$) for the set of elements in $Q(\pi)$ (resp., $P(\pi)$) fixed by θ . Let Δ_{θ} denote the subset of the positive roots Δ^+ such that $\theta(\alpha) = -\alpha$.

We say that two elements α and β in \mathfrak{h}^* are orthogonal if they are orthogonal with respect to the Cartan inner product (i.e., $(\alpha, \beta) = 0$). The following definition introduces a stronger form of orthogonality and specifies important subsets of positive roots used in the classification of the Cartan subalgebras of real semisimple Lie algebras.

Definition 2.1. Let Γ be a subset of the positive roots Δ^+ .

- (i) Two positive roots α and β are strongly orthogonal if $(\alpha, \beta) = 0$ and $\alpha + \beta$ is not a root.
- (ii) Γ is a strongly orthogonal system of positive roots if every pair α, β in Γ is strongly orthogonal.
- (iii) Γ is a strongly orthogonal system of positive roots associated to the involution θ if $\Gamma \subseteq \Delta_{\theta}$ and Γ is a strongly orthogonal system of positive roots.

Given $\beta \in \mathfrak{h}^*$, write $\operatorname{Orth}(\beta)$ for the set consisting of all $\alpha \in \pi$ such that α, β are orthogonal. For $\beta \in \Delta^+$, we write $\operatorname{StrOrth}(\beta)$ for the set of all $\alpha \in \pi$ such that α, β are strongly orthogonal.

Now consider a strongly orthogonal system of positive roots Γ . To simplify notation, we refer to Γ as a *strongly orthogonal system* with the property that it consists of positive roots understood. Similarly, we call Γ a *strongly orthogonal* θ -system if it is a strongly orthogonal system of positive roots associated to the involution θ . A classification of strongly orthogonal θ -systems is given in [AK] and [DFG, Section 4.2].

The next theorem gives necessary and sufficient conditions for two Cartan subalgebras of a normal real form $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$ to be conjugate to each other.

Theorem 2.2 (Kostant-Sugiura's theorem [K], [Su]; see also [OV, Section 4.7]). A subspace $\mathfrak{b}_{\mathbb{R}}$ of $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a vector part of a standard Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}$ if and only if

$$\mathfrak{b}_{\mathbb{R}} = \{ x \in \mathfrak{a}_{\mathbb{R}} | \ \alpha(x) = 0 \ for \ all \ \alpha \in \Gamma \}$$

where Γ is a strongly orthogonal θ -system. Moreover, if $\mathfrak{b}'_{\mathbb{R}}$ is the vector part of another Cartan subalgebras $\mathfrak{s}'_{\mathbb{R}}$ of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$ defined by the strongly orthogonal θ -system Ω , then $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\mathfrak{s}'_{\mathbb{R}}$ are conjugate if and only if there is an element w in the Weyl group W that commutes with θ and $w\Omega = \Gamma$.

Since θ restricts to an involution of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$, we can lift the Cartan decomposition to the complex setting, yielding a decomposition

$$\mathfrak{g}=\mathfrak{g}^{ heta}\oplus\mathfrak{p}$$

where $\mathfrak{g}^{\theta} = \{\theta(t) = t | t \in \mathfrak{g}\} = \mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}} \oplus i\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\mathfrak{p} = \{\theta(t) = -t | t \in \mathfrak{g}\} = \mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{R}} \oplus i\mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{R}}$. We say that a Cartan subalgebra \mathfrak{s} of \mathfrak{g} is standard if it is the complexification of a standard Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak{s}_{\mathbb{R}}$ of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$. In particular, a Cartan subalgebra \mathfrak{s} of \mathfrak{g} is standard if and only if $\mathfrak{s} = (\mathfrak{s} \cap \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}) \oplus (\mathfrak{s} \cap \mathfrak{p})$.

Since θ restricts to an involution on $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$, it follows that $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a standard Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and so \mathfrak{h} is a standard Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} . Write \mathfrak{h}_{θ} for $\mathfrak{h} \cap \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ and \mathfrak{h}^- for $\mathfrak{h} \cap \mathfrak{p}$. We have

$$\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \mathfrak{h}^-$$

and we refer to \mathfrak{h}^- as the vector part of \mathfrak{h} since it is the complexification of the vector part of $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$. Set $\mathfrak{a} = \mathfrak{a}_{\mathbb{R}} + i\mathfrak{a}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and note that \mathfrak{a} is a maximal commutative complex Lie algebra subset of \mathfrak{p} .

2.3. Cayley transforms. We review here the process for converting a Cartan subalgebra into a maximally compact one via Cayley transforms as presented in [Kn, Chapter VI, Section 7]. Our setup is as before. We start with an involution θ of \mathfrak{g} that restricts to an involution of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and to an involution of $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$.

Let $\alpha \in \Delta_{\theta}$ and so $\theta(\alpha) = -\alpha$. Note that e_{α} , $f_{-\alpha}$, h_{α} are all in \mathfrak{p} and, moreover, $h_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{h}$ and so $h_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{a}$. Applying an automorphism to \mathfrak{g} that fixes elements of \mathfrak{h} and sends root vectors to scalar multiples of themselves if necessary, we may assume that

$$\theta(e_{\alpha}) = f_{-\alpha}$$

and thus $e_{\alpha} + f_{-\alpha} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta_{\theta}$. Given a Lie subalgebra \mathfrak{s} of \mathfrak{h} , let $\ker_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{s})$ denote the kernel of α restricted to \mathfrak{s} . Since $\theta(\alpha) = -\alpha$, we have $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \subset \ker_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{h})$. Hence $\ker_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{h}) = \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \ker_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{a})$ and so

$$\mathfrak{h} = \mathbb{C}h_{\alpha} \oplus \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \ker_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{a}).$$

Definition 2.3. Given a positive root γ , the Cayley transform \mathbf{d}_{γ} (as in [Kn, Chapter VI, Section 7]) is the Lie algebra isomorphism of \mathfrak{g} defined by $\mathbf{d}_{\gamma} = \mathrm{Ad}(\exp \frac{\pi}{4}(f_{-\gamma} - e_{\gamma}))$.

It follows from the above definition that the Cayley transform \mathbf{d}_{γ} sends h_{γ} to $e_{\gamma} + f_{-\gamma}$. Also $\mathbf{d}_{\gamma}(h) = h$ for all $h \in \ker_{\gamma}(\mathfrak{h})$. Therefore, for $\alpha \in \Delta_{\theta}$ we have

$$\mathbf{d}_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{h}) = \mathbb{C}(e_{\alpha} + f_{-\alpha}) \oplus \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \ker_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{a}).$$

Moreover, this direct sum decomposition restricts to the analogous one for $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}.$ We have

$$\mathbf{d}_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{h}) \cap \mathfrak{g}^{\theta} = \mathbb{C}(e_{\alpha} + f_{-\alpha}) \oplus \mathfrak{h}_{\theta}.$$

Hence \mathbf{d}_{α} transforms \mathfrak{h} into a Cartan subalgebra $\mathbf{d}_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{h})$ of compact dimension one higher than that of \mathfrak{h} .

We can repeat this process using the root space decomposition of \mathfrak{g} with respect to this new Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak{s} = \mathbf{d}_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{h})$. In particular, one picks a positive root β (if possible) with respect to \mathfrak{s} that vanishes on $\mathfrak{s} \cap \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$. Applying the Cayley transform defined by β yields another Cartan subalgebra where once again the compact dimension increases by one. Thus we have the following result as explained in the presentation of Cayley transforms in [Kn, Chapter VI, Section 7] (see also [DFG]).

Lemma 2.4. A standard Cartan subalgebra \mathfrak{h} with respect to the involution θ can be transformed into a maximally compact Cartan subalgebra by repeated applications of Cayley transforms defined by roots that vanish on the nonvector part of the Cartan subalgebra.

Let Γ be a strongly orthogonal θ -system. We can express \mathfrak{h} as

$$\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \sum_{\alpha \in \Gamma} \mathbb{C}h_{\alpha} \oplus \mathfrak{b},$$

where $\mathfrak{b} \subseteq \mathfrak{a}$ and $[h, e_{\alpha}] = 0$ (and so $\alpha(h) = 0$) for all $h \in \mathfrak{b}$ and $\alpha \in \Gamma$. Note also that the Cayley transforms $\mathbf{d}_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \Gamma$ are a commutative set of automorphisms on \mathfrak{g} . Applying all of them to \mathfrak{g} yields a Cartan subalgebra of the form

$$\mathfrak{h}_{ heta} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{lpha \in \Gamma} \mathbb{C}(e_{lpha} + f_{-lpha}) \right) \oplus \mathfrak{b}.$$

It is straightforward to see that this Cartan subalgebra is the complexification of a real Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$, and, moreover, \mathfrak{b} is the complexification of the vector part.

We say that a strongly orthogonal θ -system Γ is a maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system if $|\Gamma| > |\Omega|$ for all strongly orthogonal θ -systems Ω .

Theorem 2.5. Let θ be an involution of $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+$ compatible with the normal real structure such that \mathfrak{h} is a standard Cartan subalgebra with respect to θ and $\theta(e_{\alpha}) = f_{-\alpha}$ whenever $\theta(\alpha) = -\alpha$. Then Γ is a maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system if and only if

$$\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Gamma} \mathbb{C}(e_{\alpha} + f_{-\alpha}) \right)$$

is a Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} . Moreover, if Ω is another maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system, then $\Omega = w\Gamma$ for some element w in W that commutes with θ .

Proof. Consider a strongly orthogonal θ -system Γ . Since $\Gamma \subseteq \Delta_{\theta}$, we have $\theta(\alpha) = -\alpha$ and so $h_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{p}$ for all $\alpha \in \Gamma$. It follows that $\mathfrak{h}_{\Gamma} = \sum_{\alpha \in \Gamma} \mathbb{C}h_{\alpha}$ is a subspace

of \mathfrak{a} . The fact that Γ is a strongly orthogonal system ensures that $\{h_{\alpha} | \alpha \in \Gamma\}$ is a linearly independent set and so $\dim(\mathfrak{h}_{\Gamma}) = |\Gamma|$. Moreover, the subspace

$$\bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Gamma} \mathbb{C}(e_{\alpha} + f_{-\alpha})$$

of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} is a commutative Lie algebra and has the same dimension $|\Gamma|$. Since

(2.1)
$$\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Gamma} \mathbb{C}(e_{\alpha} + f_{-\alpha}) \right)$$

is a commutative Lie subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} , and hence a commutative Lie subalgebra of a Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} , we must have

(2.2)
$$\operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta}) - \dim(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}) \ge |\Gamma|,$$

where $\operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta})$ is the rank of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} which is just the dimension of any Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} . It follows that equality holds in (2.2) if and only if (2.1) is a Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} . The first part of the theorem then follows once we show that there exists a strongly orthogonal θ -system of maximum possible size $\operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta}) - \dim(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta})$.

Let \mathfrak{s} be a maximally compact Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} with respect to θ . It follows that $\mathfrak{s} \cap \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is a Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} and so $\dim(\mathfrak{s} \cap \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}) = \operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta})$. Let \mathfrak{b} be the complexification of the vector part of \mathfrak{s} and let \mathfrak{a} be a maximal commutative Lie algebra containing \mathfrak{b} and contained in \mathfrak{p} . We can write $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \mathfrak{a}$ and $\mathfrak{s} = (\mathfrak{s} \cap \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}) \oplus \mathfrak{b}$.

By Theorem 2.2, there exists a strongly orthogonal θ -system Γ such that

(2.3)
$$\mathfrak{b} = \{ x \in \mathfrak{a} | \alpha(x) = 0 \text{ for all } \alpha \in \Gamma \}.$$

The decomposition (2.3) ensures that $\mathfrak{h}_{\Gamma} \cap \mathfrak{b} = 0$. Hence

$$\mathfrak{h}_{\Gamma} + \mathfrak{b} = \mathfrak{h}_{\Gamma} \oplus \mathfrak{b} \subseteq \mathfrak{a}.$$

Let \mathfrak{b}' be a subspace of \mathfrak{a} such that

$$\mathfrak{h}_{\Gamma} \oplus \mathfrak{b}' \oplus \mathfrak{b} = \mathfrak{a}.$$

Recall that $\alpha(h_{\alpha}) > 0$ for all $\alpha \in \Gamma$. Since all pairs of roots in Γ are strongly orthogonal, it follows that $\alpha(h_{\beta}) = 0$ for all $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma$ with $\alpha \neq \beta$. Thus the map $(\alpha, x) \mapsto \alpha(x)$ defines a nondegenerate pairing on $\mathbb{C}\Gamma \times \mathfrak{h}_{\Gamma}$. This nondegenerate pairing allows us to adjust the space \mathfrak{b}' if necessary so that $\alpha(x) = 0$ for all $x \in \mathfrak{b}'$ and $\alpha \in \Gamma$. But then we see by (2.3), \mathfrak{b}' must equal zero and the inclusion of (2.4) is actually an equality. Thus we have

$$\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \mathfrak{h}_{\Gamma} \oplus \mathfrak{b}.$$

It follows that

$$\operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta}) = \dim(\mathfrak{s} \cap \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}) = \dim(\mathfrak{h}) - \dim(\mathfrak{b}) = \dim(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \mathfrak{h}_{\Gamma}) = \dim(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}) \oplus |\Gamma|.$$

Hence if \mathfrak{s} is a maximally compact Cartan subalgebra with respect to θ and Γ is a strongly orthogonal system satisfying (2.3), then

$$|\Gamma| = \operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta}) - \dim(\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}).$$

This completes the proof of the first assertion.

The second assertion follows from the fact that all maximally compact Cartan subalgebras with respect to θ are conjugate ([Kn, Proposition 6.61] and Theorem 2.2).

2.4. Maximally split involutions. In this section, we define the notion of maximally split involutions as presented in [L2, Section 7]. After reviewing basic properties from Section 7 of [L2], we identify a maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system Γ_{θ} for each choice of simple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and maximally split involution θ . The choice of Γ_{θ} also satisfies certain conditions that will allow us to lift the Cartan subalgebra of Theorem 2.5 to the quantum setting compatible with quantum analogs of $U(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta})$.

Definition 2.6 ([L2, Section 7]). The involution θ is called maximally split with respect to a fixed triangular decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+$ if it satisfies the following three conditions:

- (i) $\theta(\mathfrak{h}) = \mathfrak{h}$;
- (ii) if $\theta(h_i) = h_i$, then $\theta(e_i) = e_i$ and $\theta(f_i) = f_i$;
- (iii) if $\theta(h_i) \neq h_i$, then $\theta(e_i)$ (resp., $\theta(f_i)$) is a root vector in \mathfrak{n}^- (resp., \mathfrak{n}^+).

We call a pair $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ a maximally split symmetric pair provided that \mathfrak{g} is a complex semisimple Lie algebra and θ is a maximally split involution with respect to a known triangular decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+$. (The triangular decomposition is not included in the notation of such symmetric pairs, but rather understood from context.) By Section 7 of [L2], every involution θ of the semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} is conjugate to a maximally split involution.

The pair $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is irreducible if \mathfrak{g} cannot be written as the direct sum of two complex semisimple Lie subalgebras which both admit θ as an involution. By [A], the pair $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is irreducible if and only if \mathfrak{g} is simple or $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_1 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_2$ where \mathfrak{g}_1 and \mathfrak{g}_2 are isomorphic as Lie algebras. Moreover, in this latter case, θ is the involution that sends e_i to f_i^* , f_i to e_i^* , and h_i to $-h_i^*$ where $e_i, h_i, f_i, i = 1, \ldots, n$ (resp., $e_i^*, h_i^*, f_i^*, i = 1, \ldots, n$) are the generators for \mathfrak{g}_1 (resp., \mathfrak{g}_2).

As in previous sections, we modify θ via conjugation with an automorphism of \mathfrak{g} preserving root spaces so that $\theta(e_{\alpha}) = f_{-\alpha}$ and thus $e_{\alpha} + f_{-\alpha} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta_{\theta}$. The vector space $\mathfrak{h} \cap \mathfrak{p}$ is a maximal abelian Lie subalgebra of \mathfrak{p} which we can take for \mathfrak{a} . In particular, $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} \oplus \mathfrak{a}$ and \mathfrak{h} is a maximally split Cartan subalgebra with respect to θ .

Let π_{θ} denote the subset of π fixed by θ . There exists a permutation p on $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ which induces a diagram automorphism (also called p) on π such that

$$\theta(-\alpha_i) - \alpha_{p(i)} \in Q^+(\pi_\theta)$$

for all $\alpha_i \in \pi \setminus \pi_\theta$. Note that p restricts to a permutation on $\pi \setminus \pi_\theta$. We sometimes write $p(\alpha_i)$ for $\alpha_{p(i)}$. We extend p to a map on \mathfrak{h}^* by setting $p(\sum_i m_i \alpha_i) = \sum_i m_i p(\alpha_i)$.

Theorem 2.7. For each maximally split symmetric pair $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$, there exists a maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m\}$ and a set of simple roots $\{\alpha_{\beta}, \alpha'_{\beta} | \beta \in \Gamma_{\theta}\}$ such that for all $\beta \in \Gamma_{\theta}$, we have

(2.5)
$$\beta = \alpha_{\beta}, \quad \beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}, \quad or \quad \beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta},$$

where $w_{\beta} = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha'_{\beta}, \alpha_{\beta}\})_0$ and for all j = 1, ..., m, the following conditions hold:

- (i) for all i > j, Supp $(\beta_i) \subset \text{StrOrth}(\beta_j)$;
- (ii) $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta_j) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta_j}, \alpha'_{\beta_j}\} \subseteq \operatorname{StrOrth}(\beta_j);$
- (iii) θ restricts to an involution on Supp (β_j) ;
- (iv) $-w_{\beta_i}$ restricts to a permutation on $\pi_{\theta} \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta_i)$.

Moreover, we can further break down the expression for each β in Γ_{θ} given in (2.5) into the following five cases:

- (1) $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} = \alpha'_{\beta}$.
- (2) $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ and $\alpha_{\beta} = \alpha'_{\beta}$.
- (3) $\beta = p(\alpha_{\beta}) + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta} = w\alpha_{\beta}$ where $w = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\})_0$. In this case, $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ is a root system of type A_r where $r = |\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)|$ and $\alpha_{\beta} \neq \alpha'_{\beta} = p(\alpha_{\beta})$.
- (4) $\beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta} = w\alpha'_{\beta}$ where $w = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha'_{\beta}\})_0$. In this case, $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ is a root system of type B_r where $r = |\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)|$, $\{\alpha_{\beta}\} = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \pi_{\theta}$ and α'_{β} is the unique short root in $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$.
- (5) $\beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ and $\alpha'_{\beta} \neq \alpha_{\beta}$. In this case, $\alpha'_{\beta} \in \pi_{\theta}$, α'_{β} is strongly orthogonal to all $\alpha \in \text{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha'_{\beta}, \alpha_{\beta}\}$, and α'_{β} is not strongly orthogonal to β but the two roots are orthogonal (i.e., $(\alpha'_{\beta}, \beta) = 0$).

Proof. Note that it is sufficient to prove the theorem for the case where $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is irreducible since, in the general case, we can simply take a disjoint union of strongly orthogonal systems corresponding to each irreducible component that satisfies the desired properties of the theorem. Consider the irreducible symmetric pair $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ where \mathfrak{g} is the direct sum of two isomorphic copies of the same Lie algebra and θ is the involution descibed above. Then θ sends roots of \mathfrak{g}_1 to those of \mathfrak{g}_2 and so Δ_{θ} is the empty set. It follows that the only choice for Γ_{θ} in this case is the empty set which clearly satisfies the conditions of the theorem. Thus, for the remainder of the proof, we assume that \mathfrak{g} is simple.

The proof for \mathfrak{g} simple is by cases. We use the notation in [H, Section 12.1] for the set of simple roots and orthonormal unit vectors associated to root systems of various types of simple Lie algebras. For each case, we define θ , define p if p does not equal the identity, state Δ_{θ} , \mathfrak{h}_{θ} , and provide a choice for Γ_{θ} that satisfies the above conditions. If β is a simple root, then $\alpha_{\beta} = \beta = \alpha'_{\beta}$. For β not equal to a simple root in π , we specify α_{β} and α'_{β} . For the latter root, we also state whether $\alpha'_{\beta} \in \pi_{\theta}$ or whether it equals α_{β} or $p(\alpha_{\beta})$. The relationship between β , α_{β} , and α'_{β} can then be read from context. For example, $\beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ if $\alpha'_{\beta} = p(\alpha_{\beta})$ while $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ if $\text{mult}_{\alpha_{\beta}}(\beta) = 2$ and $\alpha'_{\beta} = \alpha_{\beta}$.

Recall that the automorphism group of a root system associated to a semisimple Lie algebra is the semidirect product of the Weyl group and the group of diagram automorphisms ([H, Section 12.2]). Moreover, -1 is not in the Weyl group associated to a simple Lie algebra if and only if this simple Lie algebra is one of the following types: $A_n(n > 1)$, D_n (for $n \ge 5$ and n odd), and E_6 ([H2, Section 4]). Hence, $-w_\beta$ restricts to the identity for all other cases, including D_n , n even. For type A_n and type E_6 , $-w_\beta$ restricts to the unique permutation on the simple roots corresponding to the unique nonidentity diagram automorphism. Using this information, it is straightforward to check that (iv) holds in all cases.

Type AI: \mathfrak{g} is of type A_n , $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$, $\Delta_{\theta} = \Delta^+$, $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = 0$, and we may choose $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_s\}$ where $\beta_j = \alpha_{2j-1}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, s$, $s = \lfloor (n+1)/2 \rfloor$.

Type AII: \mathfrak{g} is of type A_n where n=2m+1 is odd and $n\geq 3$, $\theta(\alpha_i)=\alpha_i$ for $i=2j+1,\ 0\leq j\leq m,\ \theta(\alpha_i)=-\alpha_{i-1}-\alpha_i-\alpha_{i+1}$ for $i=2j,\ 1\leq j\leq m$. In this case, $\mathfrak{h}_\theta=\operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_1,h_3,\ldots,h_{2m+1}\}$ and Δ_θ is empty, so Γ_θ is also the empty set.

Type AIII/AIV: \mathfrak{g} is of type A_n , r is an integer with $1 \leq r \leq (n+1)/2$, $\theta(\alpha_j) = \alpha_j$ for all $r+1 \leq j \leq n-r$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_{n-i+1}$ for $1 \leq i \leq r-1$ and

 $n-r+2\leq i\leq n,\ \theta(\alpha_r)=-\alpha_{r+1}-\alpha_{r+2}-\cdots-\alpha_{n-r}-\alpha_{n-r+1}\ \text{ and }\theta(\alpha_{n-r+1})=-\alpha_{n-r}-\alpha_{n-r-1}-\cdots-\alpha_{r+1}-\alpha_r.$ In this case, p(i)=n-i+1 for all $i=1,\ldots,n,$ $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta}=\mathrm{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_j,h_i-h_{n-i+1}|\ r+1\leq j\leq n-r,1\leq i\leq r\},\ \Delta_{\theta}=\{\alpha_k+\alpha_{k+1}+\cdots+\alpha_{n-k+1}|\ 1\leq k\leq r\},$ and the only choice for Γ_{θ} is $\Gamma_{\theta}=\Delta_{\theta}$. Hence we have $\Gamma_{\theta}=\{\beta_1,\cdots,\beta_r\},$ where $\beta_j=\alpha_j+\alpha_{j+1}+\cdots+\alpha_{n-j+1}$ for $j=1,\cdots,r.$ For each j, we may set $\alpha_{\beta_j}=\alpha_j$ and $\alpha'_{\beta_i}=p(\alpha_{\beta_j})=\alpha_{n-j+1}.$

Type BI/BII: \mathfrak{g} is of type B_n , r is an integer such that $1 \leq r \leq n$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = \alpha_i$ for all $r+1 \leq i \leq n$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ for all $1 \leq i \leq r-1$ if r < n and for all $1 \leq i \leq n$ if r = n, and $\theta(\alpha_r) = -\alpha_r - 2\alpha_{r+1} - \cdots - 2\alpha_{n-1} - 2\alpha_n$ if r < n. In this case, $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_{r+1}, \ldots, h_n\}$, Δ_{θ} is the subset of the positive roots Δ^+ generated by the set $\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_{r-1}, \alpha_r + \cdots + \alpha_n\}$ which is a root system of type B_r , and a choice for Γ_{θ} is $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \cdots, \beta_r\}$ where $\beta_{2j-1} = \alpha_{2j-1} + 2\alpha_{2j} + \cdots + 2\alpha_n$ with $\alpha_{\beta_{2j-1}} = \alpha_{2j} = \alpha'_{\beta_{2j-1}}$ and $\beta_{2j} = \alpha_{2j-1}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, \lfloor r/2 \rfloor$, and if r is odd, then $\beta_r = \alpha_r + \cdots + \alpha_n$ with $\alpha_{\beta_r} = \alpha_r$ and $\alpha'_{\beta_r} = \alpha_n$.

Type CI: \mathfrak{g} is of type C_n , $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$. We have $\Delta_{\theta} = \Delta^+$ and $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = 0$. There is one choice for Γ_{θ} , namely $\{2\epsilon_1, 2\epsilon_2, \ldots, 2\epsilon_n\}$. Rewriting this in terms of the simple roots $\{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n\}$, we have $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n\}$ where $\beta_j = 2\alpha_j + 2\alpha_{j+1} + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ for $1 \leq j \leq n-1$ and $\beta_n = \alpha_n$. We have $\alpha_{\beta_i} = \alpha_j = \alpha'_{\beta_i}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, n$.

Type CII, Case 1: \mathfrak{g} is of type C_n , r is even and satisfies $1 \leq r \leq n-1$, $\theta(\alpha_j) = \alpha_j$ for $j = 1, 3, \dots, r-1$ and $j = r+1, r+2, \dots, n$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_{i-1} - \alpha_i - \alpha_{i+1}$ for $i = 2, 4, \dots, r-2$, and $\theta(\alpha_r) = -\alpha_{r-1} - \alpha_r - 2\alpha_{r+1} - \dots - 2\alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n$. We have $\Delta_{\theta} = \{\alpha_j + 2\alpha_{j+1} + \dots + 2\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n | j = 1, 3, \dots, r-1\}$ and $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_1, h_3, \dots, h_{r-1}, h_{r+1}, h_{r+2}, \dots, h_n\}$. The only choice for Γ_{θ} is Δ_{θ} and so $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_{r/2}\}$ where $\beta_j = \alpha_{2j-1} + 2\alpha_{2j} + \dots + 2\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ with $\alpha'_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{2j-1}$ and $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{2j}$ for $j = 1, 2, \dots, r/2$.

Type CII, Case 2: \mathfrak{g} is of type C_n , n is even, $\theta(\alpha_j) = \alpha_j$ for $j = 1, 3, \dots, n-1$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_{i-1} - \alpha_i - \alpha_{i+1}$ for $i = 2, 4, \dots, n-2$, and $\theta(\alpha_n) = -2\alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n$. One checks that $\Delta_{\theta} = \{\alpha_j + 2\alpha_{j+1} + \dots + 2\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n | j = 1, 3, \dots, n-3\} \cup \{\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n\}$ and $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_1, h_3, \dots, h_{n-1}\}$. Moreover, the only choice for Γ_{θ} is Δ_{θ} . Hence we have $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_t\}$ where t = n/2, $\beta_j = \alpha_{2j-1} + 2\alpha_{2j} + \dots + 2\alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ for $j = 1, \dots, t-1$ and $\beta_t = \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$. We have $\alpha'_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{2j-1}$ and $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{2j}$ for $j = 1, \dots, t$.

Type DI/DII, Case 1: \mathfrak{g} is of type D_n , r is an integer such that $1 \leq r \leq n-2$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = \alpha_i$ for $i = r+1, r+2, \ldots, n$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, r-1$, and $\theta(\alpha_r) = -\alpha_r - 2\alpha_{r+1} \cdots - 2\alpha_{n-2} - \alpha_{n-1} - \alpha_n$. In this case, $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_i | r+1 \leq i \leq n\}$ and Δ_{θ} is the set of all positive roots contained in the span of the union of the following two sets: $\{\alpha_j | 1 \leq j \leq r-1\}$ and $\{\alpha_i + 2\alpha_{i+1} + 2\alpha_{i+2} + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n | 1 \leq i \leq r-1\}$. A choice for Γ_{θ} is $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_{2t}\}$ where $\beta_{2j} = \alpha_{2j-e}$ and $\beta_{2j-1} = \alpha_{2j-e} + 2\alpha_{2j-e+1} + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ with $\alpha_{\beta_{2j-1}} = \alpha_{2j-e+1} = \alpha'_{\beta_{2j-1}}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, t$ where t = |r/2|, e = 0 if r is odd and e = 1 if r is even.

Type DI, Case 2: \mathfrak{g} is of type D_n with $n \geq 4$ (case n = 3 is the same as type AI), $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq n-2$, $\theta(\alpha_n) = -\alpha_{n-1}$ and $\theta(\alpha_{n-1}) = -\alpha_n$. In this case, p(i) = i for $i = 1, \ldots, n-2$, p(n-1) = n, p(n) = n-1, $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \mathbb{C}(h_{n-1} - h_n)$ and Δ_{θ} is the set consisting of those positive roots in the span of the union of the following two sets: $\{\alpha_i | i = 1, \ldots, n-2\}$ and $\{\alpha_i + 2\alpha_{i+1} + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n | 1 \leq i \leq n-2\}$. A choice for Γ_{θ} is $\{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_{2t}\}$ where $\beta_{2j} = \alpha_{2j-e}$ and $\beta_{2j-1} = \alpha_{2j-e} + 2\alpha_{2j-e+1} + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ for $j = 1, \ldots, t$ where $t = \lfloor (n-1)/2 \rfloor$,

e = 1 if n is odd and e = 0 if n is even. Note that $\beta_{n-3+e} = \alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$. We have $\alpha_{\beta_{2j-1}} = \alpha_{2j-e+1} = \alpha'_{\beta_{2j-1}}$ for j = 1, ..., t-1, $\alpha_{\beta_{n-3+e}} = \alpha_{n-1}$ and $\alpha'_{\beta_{n-3+e}} = p(\alpha_{n-1}) = \alpha_n$.

Type DI, Case 3: \mathfrak{g} is of type D_n , $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Here, we have $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = 0$ and $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_{2t}\}$ where $t = \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$, $\beta_{2j} = \alpha_{2j-e}$ and $\beta_{2j-1} = \alpha_{2j-e} + 2\alpha_{2j-e+1} + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ for $j = 1, \ldots, t-1$, $\beta_{2t} = \alpha_{n-1}$, and $\beta_{2t-1} = \alpha_n$ where e = 0 if n is odd and e = 1 if n is even. We have $\alpha_{\beta_{2j-1}} = \alpha_{2j-e+1} = \alpha'_{\beta_{2j-1}}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, t-1$.

Type DIII, Case 1: \mathfrak{g} is of type D_n , n is even, $\theta(\alpha_i) = \alpha_i$ for $i = 1, 3, \ldots, n-1$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_{i-1} - \alpha_i - \alpha_{i+1}$ for $i = 2, 4, \ldots, n-2$, and $\theta(\alpha_n) = -\alpha_n$. In this case, $\Delta_{\theta} = \{\alpha_k + 2\alpha_{k+1} + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n | k = 1, 3, 5, \cdots, n-3\} \cup \{\alpha_n\}$. and $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_1, h_3, \ldots, h_{n-1}\}$. It follows that $\Gamma_{\theta} = \Delta_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_{n/2}\}$ where $\beta_j = \alpha_{2j-1} + 2\alpha_{2j} + \cdots + 2\alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ for $j = 1, \ldots, n/2 - 1$ and $\beta_{n/2} = \alpha_n$. We have $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{2j} = \alpha'_{\beta_j}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, n/2 - 1$.

Type DIII, Case 2: \mathfrak{g} is of type D_n , n is odd, $\theta(\alpha_i) = \alpha_i$ for $i \in \{1, 3, 5, \dots, n-2\}$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_{i-1} - \alpha_i - \alpha_{i+1}$ for $i = 2, 4, 6, \dots, n-3$, $\theta(\alpha_{n-1}) = -\alpha_{n-2} - \alpha_n$, and $\theta(\alpha_n) = -\alpha_{n-2} - \alpha_{n-1}$. In this case, p(i) = i for $i = 1, \dots, n-2$, p(n-1) = n, p(n) = n-1. We have $\Delta_{\theta} = \{\alpha_k + 2\alpha_{k+1} + \dots + 2\alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n | k = 1, 3, 5, \dots, n-2\}$ and $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}(\{h_i | i = 1, 3, \dots, n-2\} \cup \{h_{n-1} - h_n\})$. It follows that $\Gamma_{\theta} = \Delta_{\theta}$ and so $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \dots, \beta_t\}$ where t = (n-1)/2, $\beta_j = \alpha_{2j-1} + 2\alpha_{2j} + \dots + 2\alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ with $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{2j} = \alpha'_{\beta_j}$ for $j = 1, \dots, t-1$ and $\beta_t = \alpha_{n-2} + \alpha_{n-1} + \alpha_n$ with $\alpha_{\beta_t} = \alpha_{n-1}, \alpha'_{\beta_t} = p(\alpha_{\beta_{n-1}}) = \alpha_n$.

Type EI, EV, EVIII: \mathfrak{g} is of type E6, E7, E8, respectively, and $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ for all i. Hence $\Delta_{\theta} = \Delta^+$ and $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = 0$. Set

$$\gamma_1 = \epsilon_8 + \epsilon_7 = 2\alpha_1 + 3\alpha_2 + 4\alpha_3 + 6\alpha_4 + 5\alpha_5 + 4\alpha_6 + 3\alpha_7 + 2\alpha_8, \quad \alpha_{\gamma_1} = \alpha_8,$$

$$\gamma_2 = \epsilon_8 - \epsilon_7 = 2\alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2 + 3\alpha_3 + 4\alpha_4 + 3\alpha_5 + 2\alpha_6 + \alpha_7, \quad \alpha_{\gamma_2} = \alpha_1,$$

$$\gamma_3 = \epsilon_6 + \epsilon_5 = \alpha_7 + 2\alpha_6 + 2\alpha_5 + 2\alpha_4 + \alpha_3 + \alpha_2, \quad \alpha_{\gamma_3} = \alpha_6,$$

 $\gamma_4 = \epsilon_6 - \epsilon_5 = \alpha_7,$

$$\gamma_5 = \epsilon_4 + \epsilon_3 = \alpha_5 + 2\alpha_4 + \alpha_3 + \alpha_2, \quad \alpha_{\gamma_5} = \alpha_4,$$

 $\gamma_6 = \epsilon_4 - \epsilon_3 = \alpha_5$

$$\gamma_7 = \epsilon_2 - \epsilon_1 = \alpha_3,$$

$$\gamma_8 = \epsilon_2 + \epsilon_1 = \alpha_2.$$

Case 1. \mathfrak{g} is of type E8. A choice for Γ_{θ} is the set $\{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_8\}$ where $\beta_i = \gamma_i$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, 8$ and $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{\gamma_j} = \alpha'_{\beta_i}$ for j = 1, 2, 3, 5.

Case 2. \mathfrak{g} is of type E7. A choice for Γ_{θ} is the set $\{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_7\}$ where $\beta_i = \gamma_{i+1}$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, 7$ and $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{\gamma_{j+1}} = \alpha'_{\beta_j}$ for j = 1, 2, 4.

Case 3. \mathfrak{g} is of type E6. A choice for Γ_{θ} is $\{\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3, \beta_4\}$ where $\beta_i = \gamma_{i+4}$ for i = 1, 2, 3, 4 and $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{\gamma_{j+4}} = \alpha'_{\beta_j}$ for j = 1.

Type EII: \mathfrak{g} is of type E6, $\theta(\alpha_1) = -\alpha_6, \theta(\alpha_2) = -\alpha_2, \theta(\alpha_3) = -\alpha_5, \theta(\alpha_4) = -\alpha_4, \theta(\alpha_5) = -\alpha_3, \theta(\alpha_6) = -\alpha_1$. In this case, $p(1) = 6, p(2) = 2, p(3) = 5, p(4) = 4, p(5) = 3, p(6) = 1, \mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_1 - h_6, h_3 - h_5\} \text{ and } \Delta_{\theta} = \Delta^+ \cap \operatorname{span}\{\alpha_1 + \alpha_6, \alpha_3 + \alpha_5, \alpha_4\}$. Here, we may choose $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3\}$ where $\beta_1 = \alpha_1 + \alpha_3 + \alpha_4 + \alpha_5 + \alpha_6$ with $\alpha_{\beta_1} = \alpha_1$ and $\alpha'_{\beta_1} = p(\alpha_{\beta_1}) = \alpha_6, \beta_2 = \alpha_3 + \alpha_4 + \alpha_5$ with $\alpha_{\beta_2} = \alpha_3$ and $\alpha'_{\beta_2} = p(\alpha_{\beta_2}) = \alpha_5$, and $\beta_3 = \alpha_4$.

Type EIII: \mathfrak{g} is of type E6, $\theta(\alpha_j) = \alpha_j$ for j = 3, 4, 5, $\theta(\alpha_1) = -\alpha_3 - \alpha_4 - \alpha_5 - \alpha_6$, $\theta(\alpha_6) = \alpha_5 - \alpha_4 - \alpha_3 - \alpha_1$, and $\theta(\alpha_2) = -2\alpha_4 - \alpha_3 - \alpha_5 - \alpha_2$. In this case p(1) = 6, p(2) = 2, p(3) = 5, p(4) = 4, p(5) = 3, p(6) = 1, $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_3, h_4, h_5, h_1 - h_6\}$ and $\Delta_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \beta_2\} = \Gamma_{\theta}$ where $\beta_1 = \alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2 + 2\alpha_3 + 3\alpha_4 + 2\alpha_5 + \alpha_6$, $\beta_2 = \alpha_1 + \alpha_3 + \alpha_4 + \alpha_5 + \alpha_6$, $\alpha_{\beta_1} = \alpha_2 = \alpha'_{\beta_1}$, $\alpha_{\beta_2} = \alpha_1$, and $\alpha'_{\beta_2} = p(\alpha_{\beta_2}) = \alpha_6$.

Type EIV: \mathfrak{g} is of type E6, $\theta(\alpha_1) = -\alpha_1 - 2\alpha_3 - 2\alpha_4 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_5$, $\theta(\alpha_6) = -\alpha_6 - 2\alpha_5 - 2\alpha_4 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_3$, $\theta(\alpha_j) = \alpha_j$ for j = 2, 3, 4, 5. We have $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_2, h_3, h_4, h_5\}$. One checks that Δ_{θ} must be in the span of the two vectors $2\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + 2\alpha_3 + 2\alpha_4 + \alpha_5$ and $2\alpha_6 + \alpha_2 + 2\alpha_4 + 2\alpha_5 + \alpha_3$. Since this span does not contain any positive roots, we get Δ_{θ} is the empty set and so Γ_{θ} is also the empty set.

Type EVI: \mathfrak{g} is of type E7, $\theta(\alpha_j) = \alpha_j$ for j = 2, 5, 7, $\theta(\alpha_6) = -\alpha_6 - \alpha_5 - \alpha_7$, $\theta(\alpha_4) = -\alpha_2 - \alpha_5 - \alpha_4$, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ for i = 1, 3. In this case, $\Delta_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}\{\alpha_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3, \gamma_5, \gamma_7\} \cap \Delta^+$ and $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_2, h_5, h_7\}$. A choice for Γ_{θ} is $\{\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3, \beta_4\}$ where $\beta_1 = \gamma_2$ with $\alpha_{\beta_1} = \alpha_{\gamma_2}$ and $\beta_j = \gamma_{2j-1}$ with $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_{\gamma_{2j-1}}$ for j = 2, 3, 4.

Type EVII: \mathfrak{g} is of type E7, $\theta(\alpha_i) = \alpha_i$ for i = 2, 3, 4, 5, $\theta(\alpha_1) = -\alpha_1 - 2\alpha_3 - 2\alpha_4 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_5$, $\theta(\alpha_6) = -\alpha_6 - 2\alpha_5 - 2\alpha_4 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_3$, $\theta(\alpha_7) = -\alpha_7$. We have $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_2, h_3, h_4, h_5\}$ and $\Delta_{\theta} = \Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3\}$ where following the notation for types EI, EV, EVIII, we have $\beta_1 = \gamma_2$ with $\alpha_{\beta_1} = \alpha_1 = \alpha'_{\beta_1}$, $\beta_2 = \gamma_3$ with $\alpha_{\beta_2} = \alpha_6 = \alpha'_{\beta_2}$, and $\beta_3 = \gamma_4 = \alpha_7$.

Type EIX: \mathfrak{g} is of type E8, $\theta(\alpha_i) = \alpha_i$ for i = 2, 3, 4, 5, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ for i = 7, 8, $\theta(\alpha_1) = -\alpha_1 - 2\alpha_3 - 2\alpha_4 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_5$, $\theta(\alpha_6) = -\alpha_6 - 2\alpha_5 - 2\alpha_4 - \alpha_2 - \alpha_3$. The vector space $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_2, h_3, h_4, h_5\}$ and $\Delta_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}\{\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3, \beta_4\} = \Gamma_{\theta}$ where following the notation for types EI, EV, EVIII, we have $\beta_1 = \gamma_1$ with $\alpha_{\beta_1} = \alpha_8 = \alpha'_{\beta_1}$, $\beta_2 = \gamma_2$ with $\alpha_{\beta_1} = \alpha_1 = \alpha'_{\beta_1}$, $\beta_3 = \gamma_3$ with $\alpha_{\beta_2} = \alpha_6 = \alpha'_{\beta_2}$, and $\beta_4 = \gamma_4 = \alpha_7$.

Type FI: \mathfrak{g} is of type F4, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$, i = 1, 2, 3, 4. In this case, $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = 0$ and $\Delta_{\theta} = \Delta^+$. A choice for $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3, \beta_4\}$ where $\beta_1 = \epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 = 2\alpha_1 + 3\alpha_2 + 4\alpha_3 + 2\alpha_4$ with $\alpha_{\beta_1} = \alpha_1 = \alpha'_{\beta_1}$, $\beta_2 = \epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2 = \alpha_2 + 2\alpha_3 + 2\alpha_4$ with $\alpha_{\beta_2} = \alpha_4 = \alpha'_{\beta_2}$, $\beta_3 = \epsilon_3 + \epsilon_4 = \alpha_2 + 2\alpha_3$ with $\alpha_{\beta_3} = \alpha_3 = \alpha'_{\beta_3}$, and $\beta_4 = \epsilon_3 - \epsilon_4 = \alpha_2$.

Type FII: \mathfrak{g} is of type F4, $\theta(\alpha_i) = \alpha_i$ for $i = 1, 2, 3, \theta(\alpha_4) = -\alpha_4 - 3\alpha_3 - 2\alpha_2 - \alpha_1$. In this case, $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}\{h_1, h_2, h_3\}$ and $\Delta_{\theta} = \{\beta_1\} = \Gamma_{\theta}$ where $\beta_1 = \epsilon_1 = 2\alpha_4 + 2\alpha_2 + \alpha_1 + 3\alpha_3$ and $\alpha_{\beta_1} = \alpha_4 = \alpha'_{\beta_1}$.

Type G: \mathfrak{g} is of type G2, $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_i$ for i = 1, 2. In this case, $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = 0$ and $\Delta_{\theta} = \Delta^+$. There are three possibilities for a maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system inside Δ_{θ} , namely

- (1) $\{-2\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 + \epsilon_3, -\epsilon_2 + \epsilon_3\} = \{\alpha_2, \alpha_2 + 2\alpha_1\};$
- (2) $\{-2\epsilon_2 + \epsilon_1 + \epsilon_3, -\epsilon_1 + \epsilon_3\} = \{\alpha_2 + 3\alpha_1, \alpha_2 + \alpha_1\};$
- (3) $\{2\epsilon_3 \epsilon_1 \epsilon_2, \epsilon_1 \epsilon_2\} = \{2\alpha_2 + 3\alpha_1, \alpha_1\}.$

The first subset is a choice for Γ_{θ} . So we have $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \beta_2\}$ where $\beta_1 = \alpha_2 + 2\alpha_1$, $\alpha_{\beta_1} = \alpha_1 = \alpha'_{\beta_1}$ and $\beta_2 = \alpha_2$.

The next remark expands on properties of the roots described in the above theorem in light of the specific examples of Γ_{θ} given for each symmetric pair.

Remark 2.8. Let $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ be an irreducible maximally split symmetric pair and let Γ_{θ} be a maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system satisfying the conditions of Theorem 2.7. Let $\beta \in \Gamma_{\theta}$ and set $r = |\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)|$. Then in the explicit versions of Γ_{θ} given in

the proof of the theorem, we see that

- if β satisfies (3), then $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ is a root system of type A_r where r= $|\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)|$ and θ restricts to an involution on $\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)}$ of type AIII/AIV;
- if β satisfies (4), then β is the final root in Γ_{θ} where either $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is of type BI/BII and r is odd or $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is of type CII Case 2;
- if β satisfies (5), then $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ is a root system of type C_r , θ restricts to an involution of type CII on $\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)}$, and $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is of type CII.

3. Quantized enveloping algebras

In this section, we turn our attention to the quantized enveloping algebra of the complex semisimple Lie algebra q with a chosen triangular decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+$. After setting basic notation, we describe the structure of the locally finite part and a realization of dual Verma modules as subspaces of the quantized enveloping algebra. We also discuss Lusztig's automorphisms and Chevalley antiautomorphisms as well as the concept of specialization.

3.1. Basic notation: The quantum case. Let q be an indeterminate. quantized enveloping algebra, $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$, is the Hopf algebra over $\mathbb{C}(q)$ generated as an algebra by $E_i, F_i, K_i^{\pm 1}, i = 1, ..., n$ with relations and Hopf algebra structure as defined in [L2, Section 1] (with x_i, y_i, t_i replaced by E_i, F_i, K_i) or [Ko, Section 3.1]. Sometimes we write E_{α} (resp., $F_{-\alpha}$) for E_{j} (resp., F_{j}) where α is the simple root α_j . Note that a counit ϵ , which is an algebra homomorphism from $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ to the scalars, is part of the Hopf structure. In our setting, the counit is defined by $\epsilon(E_i) = \epsilon(F_i) = 0 \text{ and } \epsilon(K_i^{\pm 1}) = 1.$

Let U^+ be the $\mathbb{C}(q)$ subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ generated by $E_i, i = 1, \ldots, n$. Similarly, let U^- be the $\mathbb{C}(q)$ subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ generated by $F_i, i = 1, \ldots, n$. Let \mathcal{T} denote the group generated by the $K_1^{\pm 1}, \ldots, K_n^{\pm 1}$ and write U^0 for the group algebra over $\mathbb{C}(q)$ generated by \mathcal{T} . The algebra $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ admits a triangular decomposition which is an isomorphism of vector spaces

$$(3.1) U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \cong U^- \otimes U^0 \otimes U^+$$

via the multiplication map. Let G^+ (resp., G^-) be the subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ generated by $E_i K_i^{-1}$, i = 1, ..., n (resp., $F_i K_i$, i = 1, ..., n). One gets similar triangular decompositions upon replacing U^+ by G^+ or U^- by G^- .

The (left) adjoint action of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$, which makes $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ into a left module over itself, comes from the Hopf algebra structure and is defined on generators by

- $(\operatorname{ad} E_i)a = E_i a K_i a K_i^{-1} E_i,$ $(\operatorname{ad} K_i)a = K_i a K_i^{-1}$ and $(\operatorname{ad} K_i^{-1})a = K_i^{-1} a K_i,$
- $(ad F_i)a = F_i a K_i a F_i K_i = F_i K_i K_i^{-1} a K_i a F_i K_i$

for all $a \in U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ and each $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Temporarily fix i. It is straightforward to check that (ad E_i) $a = \epsilon(E_i)a = 0$, (ad F_i) $a = \epsilon(F_i)a = 0$ and (ad $K_i^{\pm 1}$) $a = \epsilon(E_i)a = 0$ $\epsilon(K_i^{\pm 1})a = a$ if and only if $[E_i, a] = [F_i, a] = [K_i^{\pm 1}, a] = 0$.

Set $A = \mathbb{C}[q, q^{-1}]_{(q-1)}$ and let \hat{U} be the A subalgebra generated by

$$E_i, F_i, K_i^{\pm 1}, \frac{(K_i - 1)}{(q - 1)}$$

for $i=1,\ldots,n$. The specialization of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ at q=1 is the \mathbb{C} algebra $U\otimes_A\mathbb{C}$. It is well known that $\hat{U} \otimes_A \mathbb{C}$ is isomorphic to $U(\mathfrak{g})$ (see for example [L2]). Given a subalgebra S of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$, we say that S specializes to the subalgebra \bar{S} of $U(\mathfrak{g})$ provided the image of $S \cap \hat{U}$ in $\hat{U} \otimes_A \mathbb{C}$ is \bar{S} .

Given a $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module V, the λ weight space of V, denoted V_{λ} , is the subspace consisting of vectors v such that $K_i v = q^{(\alpha_i, \lambda)} v$ for each i. Elements of V_{λ} are called weight vectors with respect to this module structure. We say that $u \in U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ is a weight vector of weight λ if it is a weight vector of weight λ with respect to the adjoint action. In other words, $K_i u K_i^{-1} = q^{(\alpha_i, \lambda)} u$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Given any (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$)-module M and a weight $\lambda \in Q(\pi)$, let M_{λ} denote the λ weight space of M with respect to the adjoint action.

We can write $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ as a direct sum of weight spaces with respect to the adjoint action where all weights are in $Q(\pi)$. Suppose that $a = \sum_{\lambda} a_{\lambda} \in U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ where each $a_{\lambda} \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))_{\lambda}$. We say that v is a weight summand of a with respect to the expression of a as a sum of weight vectors (or, simply, v is a weight summand of a) if $v = a_{\lambda}$ for some λ . Note that U^-, U^+, G^-, G^+ can all also be written as a sum of weight spaces with respect to the adjoint action. Using (3.1), we have the following direct sum:

(3.2)
$$U_q(\mathfrak{g}) = \bigoplus_{\lambda, \mu \in O^+(\pi)} G^-_{-\lambda} U^0 U^+_{\mu}.$$

Note that

$$G_{-\lambda}^- U^0 = U_{-\lambda}^- U^0$$

for each $\lambda \in Q^+(\pi)$ and so we can replace $G^-_{-\lambda}$ with $U^-_{-\lambda}$ in the above direct sum decomposition. Similarly, we could replace U^+_{μ} with G^+_{μ} for $\mu \in Q^+(\pi)$. We refer to $G^-_{-\lambda}U^0U^+_{\mu}$ as a biweight subspace of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$. An element $v \in G^-_{-\lambda}U^0U^+_{\mu}$ is said to have biweight $(-\lambda,\mu)$. Note that a vector of biweight $(-\lambda,\mu)$ has weight $\mu - \lambda$. We call $a = \sum_{\lambda,\mu \in Q^+(\pi)} a_{\lambda,\mu}$ where each $a_{\lambda,\mu} \in G^-_{-\lambda}U^0U^+_{\mu}$ the expansion of a as a sum of biweight vectors and call v a biweight summand of a if $v = a_{\lambda,\mu}$ for some $\lambda, \mu \in Q(\pi)$.

We have the following coarse version of (3.2):

(3.3)
$$U_q(\mathfrak{g}) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in Q^+(\pi)} G_{-\lambda}^- U^0 U^+.$$

Suppose that $\sum_{\lambda,\mu\in Q^+(\pi)}a_{\lambda,\mu}$ is the expansion of a as a sum of biweight vectors. Then

$$a = \sum_{\lambda \in Q^+(\pi)} a_{\lambda}$$
 where $a_{\lambda} = \sum_{\mu \in Q^+(\pi)} a_{\lambda,\mu}$

is the expression of a as a sum using the direct sum decomposition (3.3). Given an element u in $G^-_{-\zeta}U^0U^+$, set l-weight(u) = $-\zeta$. We say that u is a minimal l-weight summand of a if $u \in G^-_{-\zeta}U^0U^+$ and $a - u \in \sum_{\lambda \not\geq \zeta} G^-_{-\lambda}U^0U^+$.

Set $K_{\xi} = K_1^{\xi_1} \cdots K_n^{\xi_n}$ for each $\xi = \sum_i \xi_i \alpha_i$ in the root lattice $Q(\pi)$. Note that the map $\xi \mapsto K_{\xi}$ defines an isomorphism from $Q(\pi)$ to \mathcal{T} . We can enlarge the group \mathcal{T} to a group $\check{\mathcal{T}}$ so that this isomorphism extends to an isomorphism from the weight lattice $P(\pi)$ to $\check{\mathcal{T}}$. In particular, let r be a positive integer such that $r\eta \in Q(\pi)$ for each $\eta \in P(\pi)$ and form the free abelian group of rank n generated by $K_1^{1/r}, \ldots, K_n^{1/r}$ where $(K_j^{1/r})^r = K_j$ for each j. Note that \mathcal{T} embeds in this group in the obvious way. Given $\eta \in P(\pi)$, we set $K_{\eta} = K_1^{\eta_1/r} \cdots K_n^{\eta_n/r}$ where

 $\eta = (\eta_1/r)\alpha_1 + \dots + (\eta_n/r)\alpha_n$ and each η_j is an integer. The group $\check{\mathcal{T}}$ is the subgroup of $\langle K_1^{1/r}, \dots, K_n^{1/r} \rangle$ consisting of all elements of the form K_{ξ} where $\xi \in P(\pi)$ and thus the map $\xi \mapsto K_{\xi}$ defines an isomorphism from $P(\pi)$ to $\check{\mathcal{T}}$.

Let N be a positive integer so that $(\mu, \alpha_i) \in \frac{1}{N}\mathbb{Z}$ for all $\mu \in P(\pi)$ and $\alpha_i \in \pi$. We will often work with elements in the simply connected quantized enveloping algebra \check{U} , a Hopf algebra containing $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$. As an algebra, \check{U} is generated over $\mathbb{C}(q^{1/N})$ by $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ and $\check{\mathcal{T}}$ such that (ad $K_\mu)v = K_\mu v K_\mu^{-1} = q^{(\mu,\lambda)}v$ for all $v \in \check{U}_\lambda$. Note that the counit ϵ satisfies $\epsilon(K_\mu) = 1$ for all $K_\mu \in \check{\mathcal{T}}$. (For more details, see [J, Section 3.2.10]). Thus elements of \check{U} are linear combinations of terms of the form uK_μ where $u \in U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ and $\mu \in P(\pi)$. Note that (3.2) and thus the notion of biweight extends to \check{U} .

Given $\lambda \in P(\pi)$, write $M(\lambda)$ for the universal highest weight $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module (i.e., the Verma module) generated by a highest weight vector of weight λ and let $L(\lambda)$ be the simple highest weight $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module of highest weight λ . When λ is in $P^+(\pi)$, the simple module $L(\lambda)$ is finite-dimensional.

Suppose that π' is a subset of π . Set $U_{\pi'}$ equal to the subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ generated by $E_i, K_i^{\pm 1}, F_i$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Note that we can identify $U_{\pi'}$ with the quantized enveloping algebra $U_q(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$. Given a subalgebra M of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$, set $M_{\pi'} = U_{\pi'} \cap M$. For example, the subalgebra $U_{\pi'}^+$ of U^+ is the algebra generated by E_i with $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Given $\lambda \in P^+(\pi')$, write $L_{\pi'}(\lambda)$ for the simple highest weight $(U_{\pi'}U^0)$ -module of highest weight λ . Given a subset S of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$, we write $S^{U_{\pi'}}$ for the set

$$\{s \in S | [a, s] = 0 \text{ for all } a \in U_{\pi'} \}.$$

By the definition of the adjoint action and the counit ϵ , we see that $S^{U_{\pi'}}$ also equals the set

$$\{s \in S \mid (\text{ad } a)s = \epsilon(a)s \text{ for all } a \in U_{\pi'}\}.$$

We refer to $S^{U_{\pi'}}$ as a trivial (ad $U_{\pi'}$)-module. The set $S^{U_{\pi'}}$ is also called the centralizer of $U_{\pi'}$ inside of S.

We call a lowest weight vector f with respect to the action of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ (i.e., $F_i f = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi$) inside a module for this algebra a $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ lowest weight vector. In the special case where the action is the adjoint action, we call f an (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$) lowest weight vector. We use the same language for subsets π' of π with $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ replaced by $U_{\pi'}$.

3.2. Dual vermas and the locally finite part. We recall here the construction of a number of $(\operatorname{ad} U_q(\mathfrak{g}))$ -modules. (A good reference with more details is [J, Section 7.1].) Given $\lambda \in P(\pi)$ we can realize G^- as an $(\operatorname{ad} U_q(\mathfrak{g}))$ -module, which we refer to as $G^-(\lambda)$, via the action

$$(ad_{\lambda}E_{i})1 = 0$$
, $(ad_{\lambda}K_{i})1 = q^{\frac{1}{2}(\lambda,\alpha_{i})}1$, $(ad_{\lambda}F_{i})1 = (1 - q^{(\lambda,\alpha_{i})})F_{i}K_{i}$

for $i=1,\ldots,n$. (Here we are using a slightly different Hopf structure and so a slightly different adjoint action which is why we have G^- instead of U^- as in [J, Section 7.1].) With respect to this action, $G^-(\lambda)$ is isomorphic to the dual module $\delta M(\lambda/2)$ of $M(\lambda/2)$. Thus $G^-(\lambda)$ contains a unique simple submodule isomorphic to $L(\lambda/2)$. Note that we are following the construction in [J, Section 7.1] in choosing $\lambda \in P(\pi)$ as opposed to $\lambda \in 2P(\pi)$. This means that there is a

possibility that $\lambda/2$ is not in $P(\pi)$. However, $\lambda/2$ is still a well-defined element of \mathfrak{h}^* (as explained in Section 2.1) and the construction works fine when this happens.

If γ is dominant integral, then $L(\gamma)$ is finite-dimensional and hence can also be viewed as a module generated by a lowest weight vector. In this case, a lowest weight generating vector for $L(\gamma)$ has weight $w_0\gamma$. Note that 1 has weight γ viewed as an element in the module $G^{-}(2\gamma)$. Moreover, the $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ lowest weight vector of the submodule of $G^-(2\gamma)$ isomorphic to $L(\gamma)$ is of the form $(\mathrm{ad}_{2\gamma}y)1$ where $y \in U^-_{-\gamma'}$ and $\gamma' = \gamma - w_0 \gamma$. Now consider an arbitrary weight γ and a weight $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$. The dimension of the subspace of $\delta M(\gamma)$ spanned by vectors of weight greater than or equal to $\gamma - \beta$ is finite-dimensional. Therefore any $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ lowest weight vector of $\delta M(\gamma)$ generates a finite-dimensional submodule of $\delta M(\gamma)$. Thus $\delta M(\gamma)$, and hence $G^{-}(2\gamma)$, contains a $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ lowest weight vector of weight $\gamma - \beta$ if and only if γ is a dominant integral and $\beta = \gamma - w_0 \gamma$.

The degree function defined by

- $\deg_{\mathcal{F}}(F_i K_i) = \deg_{\mathcal{F}}(E_i) = 0$ for all i, $\deg_{\mathcal{F}} K_i = -1$ and $\deg_{\mathcal{F}} K_i^{-1} = 1$ for all i,

yields an (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$)-invariant filtration \mathcal{F} on \check{U} such that $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ is a homogenous subspace of degree $\operatorname{ht}(\lambda)$. This degree function, and hence this filtration, extends to \check{U} by setting $\deg_{\mathcal{F}} K_{\xi} = -\operatorname{ht}(\xi)$ and $\deg_{\mathcal{F}} K_{\xi}^{-1} = \operatorname{ht}(\xi)$ for all $\xi \in P(\pi)$. (This is just the ad-invariant filtration on $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ as in [J, Section 7.1], though with a slightly different form of the adjoint action.)

Now

(ad
$$F_i)K_{-\lambda} = F_i K_{-\lambda} K_i - K_{-\lambda} F_i K_i = (1 - q^{(\lambda, \alpha_i)}) F_i K_i K_{-\lambda}$$
.

In particular, $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ and $G^-(\lambda)$ are isomorphic as (U^-) -modules where the action on the first module is via (ad U^-) and the action on the second module is via $(ad_{\lambda}U^{-})$. This is not true if we replace U^{-} with U^{+} . Instead, the twisted adjoint action of U^+ corresponds to a version of the graded adjoint action with respect to the (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$)-invariant filtration \mathcal{F} . More precisely, given $f \in G^-$ and $i \in G^ \{1,\ldots,n\}$, there exists f' and f'' in G^- and a scalar c such that we can write

(ad
$$E_i$$
) $fK_{-\lambda} = f'K_{-\lambda} + f''K_{-\lambda}K_i^2 + cfK_{-\lambda}E_i$,

where here we are considering $fK_{-\lambda}$ as an element of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ and using the ordinary adjoint action of E_i . We obtain a graded action of (ad E_i) on $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ by dropping the lower degree term with respect to \mathcal{F} (i.e., $f''K_{-\lambda}K_i^2$) as well as the contribution from $\sum_i U_q(\mathfrak{g}) E_i$ (i.e., $cfK_{-\lambda}E_i$). Thus we may equip $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ with a graded adjoint action of U^+ . Using this graded adjoint action of U^+ combined with the ordinary action of (ad U^-) and setting (ad K_{β}) $K_{-\lambda} = q^{\frac{1}{2}(\lambda,\beta)}K_{-\lambda}$ for all $\beta \in$ $Q^+(\pi)$ makes $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ into an (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$)-module. (We will often refer to this action as the graded adjoint action, but still use the same notation for the adjoint action, where the fact that $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ is being viewed as a module rather than a subset of the larger module $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ is understood from context.) Note that in the above description of (ad E_i) $fK_{-\lambda}$, the term f' is the top degree term of (ad E_i) f (more precisely, (ad E_i) f = f' + terms of degree strictly less than 0) and is independent of λ . Hence, we may view the graded adjoint action of U^+ on $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ as independent of λ . Moreover, $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ and $G^-(\lambda)$ are isomorphic $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -modules where the action on the first module is the graded adjoint and on the second module is the twisted

adjoint action. (The fact that we can make $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ into an (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$)-module in this way is implicit in [J, Lemma 7.1.1].)

Now consider any weight λ . By the above discussion, $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ and $G^-(\lambda)$ are isomorphic as (ad U^-)-modules and the latter is isomorphic to $\delta M(\lambda/2)$. It follows that $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ contains a nonzero (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$) lowest weight vector $gK_{-\lambda}$ where g is of weight $-\beta$ if and only if $\lambda = 2\gamma$ and $\beta = \gamma - w_0\gamma$ for some $\gamma \in P^+(\pi)$. Moreover, this lowest weight vector is unique (up to scalar multiple) and is contained in $(\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-\lambda}$.

Let π' be a subset of π . For each $\lambda \in P(\pi)$, write $\tilde{\lambda}$ for the restriction of the weight λ to an element of $P(\pi')$, the weight lattice for π' . In particular, $\tilde{\lambda}$ is the element in $P(\pi')$ that satisfies $(\lambda, \alpha_i) = (\tilde{\lambda}, \alpha_i)$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Here, the subset π' is understood from context. Note that $G_{\pi'}^-K_{-\lambda}$ and $G_{\pi'}^-K_{-\tilde{\lambda}}$ are isomorphic as $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi'})$ -modules. Hence $G_{\pi'}^-K_{-\lambda}$ contains a nonzero $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi'})$ lowest weight vector, say $gK_{-\lambda}$, if and only if $\tilde{\lambda} = 2\tilde{\gamma}$ for some choice of $\tilde{\gamma} \in P^+(\pi')$. Moreover, the weight of $gK_{-\lambda}$ (viewed as an element in the $(\operatorname{ad} U_q(\mathfrak{g}))$ -module $G^-K_{-\lambda}$) is $w_{\pi'}\tilde{\gamma}$ where $w_{\pi'} = w(\pi')_0$ and so the weight of g (considered as an element of the $(\operatorname{ad} U_q(\mathfrak{g}))$ -module $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$) is $-\tilde{\gamma} + w_{\pi'}\tilde{\gamma}$. Since $(\gamma - \tilde{\gamma}, \alpha) = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \pi'$, we have $w_{\pi'}(\gamma - \tilde{\gamma}) = \gamma - \tilde{\gamma}$. Hence

$$-\gamma + w_{\pi'}\gamma = -(\gamma - \tilde{\gamma}) - \tilde{\gamma} + (\gamma - \tilde{\gamma}) + w_{\pi'}\tilde{\gamma} = -\tilde{\gamma} + w_{\pi'}\tilde{\gamma}.$$

Thus the weight of g is $-\gamma + w_{\pi'}\gamma$. We may similarly analyze (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vectors in $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ where we view this space as an (ad $U_{\pi'}$)-module. In particular, if $g \in G^-$ and $gK_{-\lambda}$ is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector, then g generates a finite-dimensional (ad $_{\lambda}U_{\pi'}$)-submodule of $G^-(\lambda)$ and the restriction $-\tilde{\mu}$ of the weight $-\mu$ of g (considered as an element of $G^-(\lambda)$) to π' must satisfy $\tilde{\mu} \in P^+(\pi')$. Note that $gK_{-\lambda}$ generates a finite-dimensional $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -submodule of $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ when we use the graded adjoint action. Thus if $b \in U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ and $(ad_{\lambda}b)g = 0$, we have

(3.4)
$$\deg_{\mathcal{F}}((\mathrm{ad}\ b)gK_{-\lambda}) \le \deg_{\mathcal{F}}(K_{-\lambda}) = \mathrm{ht}(\lambda).$$

Let $F(\check{U})$ denote the locally finite part of \check{U} with respect to the (left) adjoint action. By [J, Section 7.1], $F(\check{U})$ admits a direct sum decomposition

$$F(\check{U}) = \bigoplus_{\gamma \in P^+(\pi)} (\text{ad } U_q(\mathfrak{g})) K_{-2\gamma}$$

as (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$)-modules. The subspace of $G^-K_{-2\gamma}$ corresponding to the finite-dimensional (ad_{2\gamma}U_q(\mathbf{g}))-submodule of $G^-(2\gamma)$ is the subspace (ad $U^-)K_{-2\gamma}$ of $G^-K_{-2\gamma}$.

Let π' be a subset of π as above. Set $F_{\pi'}(\check{U})$ equal to the locally finite part of \check{U} with respect to the action of (ad $U_{\pi'}$). By the defining relations for $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ (see for example Lemma 4.5 of [JL]) and the definition of the adjoint action, we see that $E_j, F_j K_j \in F_{\pi'}(\check{U})$ for all $\alpha_j \notin \pi'$ and $F(\check{U}) \subseteq F_{\pi'}(\check{U})$. Also, $K_{-2\gamma} \in F_{\pi'}(\check{U})$ for all γ that restricts to a dominant integral weight in $P^+(\pi')$.

Since $F_{\pi'}(\check{U})$ contains all the finite-dimensional (ad $U_{\pi'}$)-submodules of \check{U} , it follows that the subspace of elements in $F_{\pi'}(\check{U})$ that admit a trivial (ad $U_{\pi'}$) action is the same as the subspace of elements in \check{U} admitting such a trivial action. In

particular, we have

$$F_{\pi'}(\check{U})^{U_{\pi'}} = \{ a \in F_{\pi'}(\check{U}) | \text{ (ad } u)a = \epsilon(u)a \text{ for all } u \in U_{\pi'} \}$$
$$= \{ a \in \check{U} | \text{ (ad } u)a = \epsilon(u)a \text{ for all } u \in U_{\pi'} \} = \check{U}^{U_{\pi'}}.$$

It follows from the discussion at the end of Section 3.1, that this subspace agrees with the centralizer of $U_{\pi'}$ inside \check{U} . In particular,

$$\check{U}^{U_{\pi'}} = \{ a \in \check{U} | ua - au = 0 \text{ for all } u \in U_{\pi'} \}
= \{ a \in \check{U} | \text{ (ad } u)a = \epsilon(u)a \text{ for all } u \in U_{\pi'} \}.$$

3.3. Lusztig's automorphisms. For each $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$, let T_j denote Lusztig's automorphism associated to the simple root α_j ([Lu, Section 37.1]; see also Section 3.4 of [Ko]). For each w in W, the automorphism T_w is defined to be the composition

$$T_w = T_{r_1} \cdots T_{r_m},$$

where $s_{r_1} \cdots s_{r_m}$ is a reduced expression for w and each s_{r_j} is the reflection defined by the simple root α_{r_j} . By [Lu] (or [Ja, Section 8.18]) T_w is independent of reduced expression for w. One of the properties satisfied by the T_j , $j = 1, \ldots, n$ is $T_j^{-1} = \sigma T_j \sigma$ where σ is the $\mathbb{C}(q)$ algebra antiautomorphism defined by

(3.5)
$$\sigma(E_j) = E_j, \quad \sigma(F_j) = F_j, \quad \sigma(K_j) = K_j^{-1}, \quad \sigma(K_j^{-1}) = K_j.$$

The following result of [Ko] relates Lusztig's automorphisms and submodules of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ with respect to the action of (ad $U_{\pi'}$) where $\pi' \subset \pi$.

Lemma 3.1 ([Ko, Lemma 3.5]). Let π' be a subset of the simple roots π and let α_i be a simple root not in π' . Set $w_{\pi'} = w(\pi')_0$.

- (i) The subspace $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi'})(E_i)$ of U^+ is a simple finite-dimensional $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi'})$ submodule of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ with highest weight vector $T_{w_{\pi'}}(E_i)$ and lowest weight
 vector E_i .
- (ii) The subspace $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi'})(F_iK_i)$ of G^- is a simple finite-dimensional $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi'})$ submodule of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ with highest weight vector F_iK_i and lowest weight vector $T_{w_{-i}}^{-1}(F_iK_i)$.

Assume π' , α_i , and $w_{\pi'}$ are chosen as in the above lemma. Note that $\widetilde{w_{\pi'}\alpha_i}$, the restriction of the weight $w_{\pi'}\alpha_i$ with respect to π' , is an element in $P^+(\pi')$. In particular, as $(U_{\pi'})$ -modules $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi'})(E_i)$ is isomorphic to $L_{\pi'}(w_{\pi'}\alpha_i)$, the finite-dimensional simple $(U_{\pi'}U^0)$ -module of highest weight $w_{\pi'}\alpha_i$.

3.4. The quantum Chevalley antiautomorphism. Let $U_{\mathbb{R}(q)}$ be the $\mathbb{R}(q)$ subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ generated by E_i, F_i, K_i , and K_i^{-1} . Let κ denote the algebra antiautomorphism of $U_{\mathbb{R}(q)}$ defined by

$$\kappa(E_i) = F_i K_i \quad \kappa(F_i) = K_i^{-1} E_i, \quad \kappa(K) = K$$

for all $i=1,\ldots,n$ and $K\in\mathcal{T}$. Note that $\kappa^2=\mathrm{Id}$ and so κ is an involution. We define the notion of complex conjugate for $\mathbb{C}(q)$ by setting $\bar{s}=s$ for all $s\in\mathbb{C}$ and $\bar{q}=q$ and insisting that conjugation is an algebra automorphism. Extend κ to a conjugate linear antiautomorphism of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ by setting $\kappa(au)=\bar{a}\kappa(u)$ for all $a\in\mathbb{C}(q)$ and $u\in U_{\mathbb{R}(q)}$. We refer to κ as the quantum Chevalley antiautomorphism as in [L2]. Note that

$$\kappa((\operatorname{ad} E_j)b) = \kappa(E_jb - K_jbK_i^{-1}E_j) = \kappa(b)F_jK_j - F_j\kappa(b)K_j = -(\operatorname{ad} F_j)\kappa(b).$$

It follows that

(3.6)
$$\kappa((\text{ad } E_{i_1} \cdots E_{i_m}) E_k K) = (-1)^m (\text{ad } F_{i_1} \cdots F_{i_m}) (K F_k K_k)$$

for all $K \in \mathcal{T}$.

We recall information about unitary modules for quantum groups as presented in [L2]. Let C be a subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ such that $\kappa(C)=C$. Given a C-module M, a mapping S_M from $M\times M$ to $\mathbb{R}(q)$ is called sesquilinear if S_M is linear in the first variable and conjugate linear in the second. We say that the C-module M is unitary provided M admits a sesquilinear form S_M that satisfies

- $S_M(av, w) = S_M(v, \kappa(a)w)$ for all $a \in C$ and $v, w \in M$;
- $S_M(v,v)$ is a positive element of $\mathbb{R}(q)$ for each nonzero vector $v \in M$;
- $S_M(v, w) = \overline{S_M(w, v)}$ for all v and w in M.

Theorem 3.2. Let C be a subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ such that $\kappa(C) = C$. Every finite-dimensional unitary C-module can be written as a direct sum of finite-dimensional simple C-modules.

Proof. This is just Theorem 2.4 and Corollary 2.5 of [L2] except that here we only assume that C is a κ invariant subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ where as in [L2], C is additionally assumed to be a (left) coideal subalgebra. Nevertheless, the proofs in [L2] do not use the coideal assumption and thus apply to this more general setting.

The next result is an immediate consequence of Theorem 3.2 and the fact that a commutative polynomial ring H acts semisimply on an H-module V if and only if V can be written as a direct sum of eigenspaces with respect to the action of H.

Corollary 3.3. Let C be a subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ such that $\kappa(C) = C$. Let H be a commutative subalgebra of C such that

- $\kappa(H) = H$;
- $H \cap U^0$ is the Laurent polynomial ring generated by $H \cap \mathcal{T}$;
- H is isomorphic to a polynomial ring over $H \cap U^0$.

Then any finite-dimensional unitary C-module can be written as a direct sum of eigenspaces with respect to the action of H.

Recall that every finite-dimensional simple $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module $L(\lambda)$ admits a sesquilinear form S defined by $S(av,bv)=S(v,\mathcal{P}_{HC}(\kappa(a)b)v)$ where v is a highest weight generating vector for $L(\lambda)$ and \mathcal{P}_{HC} is the Harish-Chandra projection as defined in (1.14) of [L2]. Thus, the following result is an immediate consequence of Theorem 3.2.

Corollary 3.4. Let C be a subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ such that $\kappa(C) = C$. The finite-dimensional simple $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module $L(\lambda)$ admits a semisimple C action for all $\lambda \in P^+(\pi)$.

The next corollary is a special case of Corollary 3.3.

Corollary 3.5. Let H be a commutative subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ such that $\kappa(H) = H$. Assume further that $H \cap U^0$ is the Laurent polynomial ring generated by $H \cap \mathcal{T}$ and that H is isomorphic to a polynomial ring over $H \cap U^0$. Then any finite-dimensional $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module can be written as a direct sum of eigenspaces with respect to the action of H.

4. Quantum symmetric pairs

We review the construction of quantum symmetric pairs following [Ko, (Sections 4 and 5)], which is closely based on [L2] but uses right coideal subalgebras instead of left ones. Afterwards, we analyze elements of these coideal subalgebras through biweight space expansions and the introduction of a special projection map.

- 4.1. **Definitions.** Let θ be a maximally split involution for the semisimple Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+$ as defined in Section 2.4. Let \mathcal{M} be the subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ generated by $E_i, F_i, K_i^{\pm 1}$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi_{\theta}$. Note that $\mathcal{M} = U_q(\mathfrak{m})$ where \mathfrak{m} is the Lie subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} generated by e_i, f_i, h_i for all $\alpha_i \in \pi_{\theta}$. By Section 4 of [Ko], we can lift θ to an algebra automorphism θ_q of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ and use this automorphism to define quantum analogs of $U(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta})$. In particular, the quantum symmetric pair (right) coideal subalgebra $\mathcal{B}_{\theta,\mathbf{c},\mathbf{s}}$ is generated by
 - the group $\mathcal{T}_{\theta} = \{K_{\beta} | \beta \in Q(\pi)^{\theta}\},\$
 - $\mathcal{M} = U_q(\mathfrak{m}),$
 - the elements $B_i = F_i + c_i \theta_q(F_i K_i) K_i^{-1} + s_i K_i^{-1}$ for all i with $\alpha_i \notin \pi_\theta$,

where $\mathbf{c} = (c_1, \dots, c_n)$ and $\mathbf{s} = (s_1, \dots, s_n)$ are *n*-tuples of scalars with $\mathbf{c} \in \mathbf{C}$ and $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbf{S}$ where \mathbf{C} and \mathbf{S} are defined as in [Ko, (5.9) and (5.11)], respectively, (see also [L2, Section 7, Variations 1 and 2]). We write \mathcal{B}_{θ} for $\mathcal{B}_{\theta,\mathbf{c},\mathbf{s}}$ where \mathbf{c} and \mathbf{s} are understood from context. We further assume that each entry in \mathbf{s} and each entry in \mathbf{c} is in $\mathbb{R}[q, q^{-1}]_{(q-1)}$. This guarantees that each B_i is contained in $U_{\mathbb{R}(q)}$ and in \hat{U} . Thus \mathcal{B}_{θ} admits a conjugate linear antiautomorphism (see the discussion below) and specializes to $U(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta})$ as q goes to 1 ([L2, Section 7]).

Note that there are extra conditions on both \mathbf{C} and \mathbf{S} . Only the latter affect the arguments of this paper. For the entries of \mathbf{s} it is important to note that $s_i \neq 0$ implies α_i is an element of a distinguished subset \mathcal{S} of $\pi \setminus \pi_{\theta}$ (see [L2, Variation 2] for the definition of \mathcal{S}). By Section 7 of [L3], we have \mathcal{S} is empty except in the following cases:

- Type AIII: n = 2m + 1, π_{θ} is empty and $S = \{\alpha_{m+1}\}$.
- Type CI: $S = \{\alpha_n\}$.
- Type DIII: Case 1, $S = \{\alpha_n\}$.
- Type EVII: $S = \{\alpha_7\}$.

Let Γ_{θ} be the choice of the strongly orthogonal θ -system of Theorem 2.7. By the above description for \mathcal{S} with respect to irreducible symmetric pairs and the proof of Theorem 2.7, we see that if $\alpha_i \in \mathcal{S}$ and $\alpha_i = \alpha_{\beta}$ for some $\beta \in \Gamma_{\theta}$, then $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} = \alpha_i$. In other words, $\alpha_{\beta} \in \mathcal{S}$ implies that β is a simple root.

Write $\mathbb{N}S$ for the set of linear combinations of elements in S with nonnegative integer coefficients. Note that S is a subset of Δ_{θ} and in particular, $\theta(\alpha) = -\alpha$ for all $\alpha \in S$. This follows immediately by inspection of the list above, but was also part of the original definition of S in [L3, Section 7]. We will find this property useful in some of the arguments below which include generic elements of $\mathbb{N}S$.

By [L2], there exists a Hopf algebra automorphism ψ of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ that restricts to a real Hopf algebra automorphism of $U_{\mathbb{R}(q)}$ and so that $\psi \kappa \psi^{-1}$ restricts to a conjugate linear antiautomorphism of \mathcal{B}_{θ} . Set $\kappa_{\theta} = \psi \kappa \psi^{-1}$ and note that κ_{θ} is a conjugate linear antiautomorphism of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$. Thus Theorem 3.2, Corollary 3.3, and Corollary 3.4 hold for κ replaced by κ_{θ} and apply to $C = \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$. Therefore, \mathcal{B}_{θ} acts semisimply on finite-dimensional unitary \mathcal{B}_{θ} -modules and the set of finite-dimensional unitary

 \mathcal{B}_{θ} -modules includes the set of finite-dimensional $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -modules. Note that $\kappa_{\theta}(X)$ is a nonzero scalar multiple of $\kappa(X)$ for any nonzero weight vector X in U^+ , G^+ , U^- or G^- . Thus, if we show that Y is a nonzero scalar multiple of $\kappa(X)$ for weight vectors $X \in U^+$ (resp., $X \in G^+$) and $Y \in G^-$ (resp., $Y \in U^-$), then the same assertion holds for κ replaced by κ_{θ} .

By Theorem 4.4 of [Ko], θ_q restricts to the identity on \mathcal{M} and $\theta_q(K_\beta) = K_{\theta(\beta)}$ for all $\beta \in Q(\pi)$. Also, in the case where $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_{p(i)}$, we get $\theta_q(F_iK_i) = cE_{p(i)}$ for some nonzero scalar c. More generally, by Theorem 4.4 of [Ko], for $\theta(\alpha_i) \neq \alpha_i$ there exists a nonnegative integer r and elements

$$Z_{i}^{-} = F_{i_{1}} \cdots F_{i_{r}}$$
 and $Z_{i}^{+} = E_{j_{1}} \cdots E_{j_{r}}$

with α_{i_k} and α_{j_k} in π_{θ} for $1 \leq k \leq r$ and nonzero scalars u_i and v_i such that

$$\theta_q(E_i) = u_i \sigma((\text{ad } Z_{p(i)}^-)(F_{p(i)} K_{p(i)}))$$

and

(4.1)
$$\theta_q(F_i K_i) = v_i(\operatorname{ad} Z_{p(i)}^+)(E_{p(i)})$$

where σ is the $\mathbb{C}(q)$ algebra antiautomorphism defined in (3.5). Moreover, $\theta_q(F_iK_i)$ is the highest weight vector of the (ad \mathcal{M})-module generated by $E_{p(i)}$ as described in Lemma 3.1(ii). An analogous assertion holds for $\theta_q(E_i)$.

Set $\check{\mathcal{T}}_{\theta} = \{K_{\mu} | \mu \in P(\pi)^{\theta}\}$ and note that $\check{\mathcal{T}}_{\theta}$ is a subgroup of $\check{\mathcal{T}}$ which is contained in the simply connected quantized enveloping algebra (see Section 3.1). It is sometimes convenient to extend \mathcal{B}_{θ} to a "simply connected version" by including the elements \mathcal{T}_{θ} . We denote this extended algebra by \mathcal{B}_{θ} . By definition, $\mathcal{B}_{\theta} = \mathcal{B}_{\theta}\mathcal{T}_{\theta}$.

4.2. Biweight space expansions. Set $\mathcal{M}^+ = \mathcal{M} \cap U^+$, the subalgebra of \mathcal{M} generated by E_i for all $\alpha_i \in \pi_\theta$. Note that we have only defined the generators B_i for $\alpha_i \notin \pi_\theta$. It is useful to set $B_i = F_i$ for $\alpha_i \in \pi_\theta$. Given an m-tuple $J = (j_1, \dots, j_m)$ with entries in $j_k \in \{0,1\}$, we set $F_J = F_{j_1} \cdots F_{j_m}$ and $B_J = B_{j_1} \cdots B_{j_m}$.

Let \mathcal{J} be the subset of tuples with entries in $\{0,1\}$ so that $\{F_J, J \in \mathcal{J}\}$ forms a basis for U^- . We have the following direct sum decomposition for \mathcal{B}_{θ} ([L2, (7.17)]):

(4.2)
$$\mathcal{B}_{\theta} = \bigoplus_{J \in \mathcal{J}} B_J \mathcal{M}^+ \mathcal{T}_{\theta}.$$

Given an m-tuple J, write wt(J) = $\alpha_{j_1} + \alpha_{j_2} + \cdots + \alpha_{j_m}$. The next result provides us with fine information concerning the biweight expansion of elements B_J in \mathcal{B}_{θ} .

Lemma 4.1. Let $J = (j_1, \ldots, j_m)$ be an m-tuple of nonnegative integers such that $\operatorname{wt}(J) = \beta$. Then $\deg_{\mathcal{F}}(B_J) = m = \operatorname{ht}(\beta)$ and

$$(4.3) B_J \in F_J + \sum_{(\lambda, \eta, \gamma, \gamma') \in \mathcal{N}} G^-_{-\beta + \lambda + \eta + \gamma} U^+_{\theta(-\lambda) - \gamma} K_{-\beta + 2\gamma'},$$

where \mathcal{N} is the set of four-tuples $(\lambda, \eta, \gamma, \gamma')$ in $Q^+(\pi \setminus \pi_\theta) \times \mathbb{NS} \times Q^+(\pi) \times Q^+(\pi)$ satisfying

- $0 < \lambda \le \beta$,
- $\gamma \leq \beta \lambda$ and $\gamma \leq \theta(-\lambda) \eta$,

Proof. The claim about degree follows immediately from (4.3) and the fact that elements in G^- and U^+ have degree 0. By assumption, $K_{j_1}^{-1} \cdots K_{j_m}^{-1} = K_{-\beta}$. Recall that for $\alpha_i \notin \pi_\theta$, B_i is a linear combination of F_i , $\theta_q(F_iK_i)K_i^{-1}$ and K_i^{-1} with the final term only appearing if $\alpha_i \in \mathcal{S}$. Also, by the definition of $\theta_q(F_{j_r}K_{j_r})$ (see (4.1) and the related discussion), we have

$$\theta_q(F_{j_r}K_{j_r}) \in [(\text{ad } \mathcal{M}^+)E_{p(j_r)}] \subseteq U_{\theta(-\alpha_i)}^+$$

To prove (4.3), note that B_J can be written as a linear combination

(4.4)
$$B_J \in F_J + \sum_{\mathcal{I}_2 \cup \mathcal{I}_3 \neq \emptyset} \mathbb{C}(q) A(\mathcal{I}_1, \mathcal{I}_2, \mathcal{I}_3) K_{-\beta},$$

where $\{\mathcal{I}_1, \mathcal{I}_2, \mathcal{I}_3\}$ forms a partition of $\{1, \ldots, m\}$ such that $\{\alpha_i | i \in \mathcal{I}_2\} \cap \pi_{\theta} = \emptyset$ and $\{\alpha_i | i \in \mathcal{I}_3\} \subseteq \mathcal{S}$, and

$$A(\mathcal{I}_1, \mathcal{I}_2, \mathcal{I}_3) = A_{j_1} A_{j_2} \cdots A_{j_m},$$

where

- $A_{j_i} = F_{j_i} K_{j_i}$ if $i \in \mathcal{I}_1$,
- $A_{j_i} = \theta_q(F_{j_i}K_{j_i})$ if $i \in \mathcal{I}_2$,
- $A_{j_i} = s_{j_i}$ if $i \in \mathcal{I}_3$.

Assume that \mathcal{I}_2 is not empty. Set $\gamma_k = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}_k} \alpha_{j_i}$ for k = 1, 2, and 3 and note that $\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + \gamma_3 = \beta$. The assumption on \mathcal{I}_2 further forces $\gamma_2 > 0$. Consider first the case where \mathcal{I}_3 is empty and so $\gamma_1 = \beta - \gamma_2$. If we simply reorder the A_{j_i} so that elements with $j_i \in \mathcal{I}_1$ are on the left and elements with $j_i \in \mathcal{I}_2$ are on the right we get a term in

$$G^-_{-\beta+\gamma_2}U^+_{\theta(-\gamma_2)}K_{-\beta}.$$

In order to understand what other spaces of the form $G_{\xi}^- U_{\xi'}^+ K_{-\xi''}$ show up in the biweight expansion of $A(\mathcal{I}_1, \mathcal{I}_2, \mathcal{I}_3) K_{-\beta}$, we need to understand what happens when we commute an element A_{j_r} in U^+ (i.e., $j_r \in \mathcal{I}_2$) pass an element A_{j_k} in G^- (i.e., $j_k \in \mathcal{I}_1$).

The following identity is easily derived from one of the standard defining relations for $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$:

(4.5)
$$E_i F_j K_j - q^{-2} F_j K_j E_i = -\delta_{ij} (q - q)^{-1} (1 - K_i^2).$$

Suppose that $A_{j_r} = \theta_q(F_{j_i}K_{j_i}) \in U^+_{\theta(-\alpha_{j_r})}$ and $A_{j_k} = F_iK_i$. Relation (4.5) implies that there exists a scalar c such that

$$A_{j_r}A_{j_k} \in cA_{j_k}A_{j_r} + U^+_{\theta(-\alpha_{j_r})-\alpha_i} + U^+_{\theta(-\alpha_{j_r})-\alpha_i}K^2_i.$$

Thus, moving the A_{i_r} terms in U^+ to the right of the A_{i_k} terms in G^- yields

$$(4.6) A(\mathcal{I}_{1}, \mathcal{I}_{2}, \mathcal{I}_{3})K_{-\beta} \in G_{-\beta+\gamma_{2}}^{-}U_{\theta(-\gamma_{2})}^{+}K_{-\beta}$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{\gamma \leq \beta-\gamma_{2} \\ \gamma \leq \theta(-\gamma_{2})}} \sum_{\gamma' \leq \gamma} G_{-\beta+\gamma_{2}+\gamma}^{-}U_{\theta(-\gamma_{2})+\gamma}^{+}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'}$$

when $\mathcal{I}_2 \neq \emptyset$ and $\mathcal{I}_3 = \emptyset$. Moreover, since $\mathcal{I}_2 \neq \emptyset$, we have $\gamma_2 > 0$. Now suppose that \mathcal{I}_3 is nonempty. We can write

$$A(\mathcal{I}_1, \mathcal{I}_2, \mathcal{I}_3) = sA_{j_1'} \cdots A_{j_r'},$$

where $s = \prod_{j_i \in \mathcal{I}_3} s_{j_i}$ and j'_1, \ldots, j'_r is the sequence obtained from j_1, \ldots, j_m by removing all j_k with $k \in \mathcal{I}_3$. In other words, we have consolidated the terms A_{j_i} with $j_i \in \mathcal{I}_3$ into a single scalar s, and then renumbered the remaining A_{j_i} accordingly. Note that $\operatorname{wt}(j'_1, \ldots, j'_r) = \beta - \gamma_3$. Arguing as above we get

$$(4.7) A(\mathcal{I}_{1}, \mathcal{I}_{2}, \mathcal{I}_{3}) K_{-\beta} = s A_{j'_{1}} \cdots A_{j'_{r}} K_{-\beta}$$

$$\in G^{-}_{-\beta + \gamma_{2} + \gamma_{3}} U^{+}_{\theta(-\gamma_{2})} K_{-\beta}$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{\gamma \leq \beta - \gamma_{2} - \gamma_{3} \\ \gamma \leq \theta(-\gamma_{2})}} \sum_{\gamma' \leq \gamma} G^{-}_{-\beta + \gamma_{2} + \gamma_{3} + \gamma} U^{+}_{\theta(-\gamma_{2}) + \gamma} K_{-\beta + 2\gamma'}$$

when $\mathcal{I}_3 \neq \emptyset$. Note that in this case, $\gamma_3 > 0$.

The lemma now follows by expanding out the second term of the right hand side of (4.4) using (4.6), (4.7) with $\gamma_2 = \lambda$ and $\gamma_3 = \eta$.

Remark 4.2. It is sometimes useful to use coarser versions of Lemma 4.1. It particular, it follows from (4.3) that

$$B_J \in F_J + \sum_{0 < \lambda \le \beta} \sum_{0 \le \gamma \le \beta} G_{-\beta + \lambda}^- U^+ K_{-\beta + \gamma}$$

and

$$B_J \in F_J + \sum_{0 < \lambda < \beta} G^-_{-\beta + \lambda} U^0 U^+$$

for each m-tuple J with $\operatorname{wt}(J) = \beta$. It follow from the direct sum decomposition (4.2) and the definition of l-weight (Section 3.1) that if g is a minimal l-weight summand of an element $b \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$ of l-weight $-\lambda$, then $g \in U_{-\lambda}^{-} \mathcal{M}^{+} \mathcal{T}_{\theta}$.

4.3. **Decompositions and projections.** Set N_{θ}^{+} equal to the subalgebra of U^{+} generated by $(\operatorname{ad} \mathcal{M}^{+})U_{\pi\backslash\pi_{\theta}}^{+}$. By [L2, Section 6], N_{θ}^{+} is an $(\operatorname{ad} \mathcal{M})$ -module. Multiplication induces an isomorphism (this is just [L2, (6.2)] with G^{-} replaced by U^{+})

$$N_{\theta}^+ \otimes \mathcal{M}^+ \cong U^+.$$

Let \mathcal{T}' be the subgroup of \mathcal{T} generated by $\{K_i | \alpha_i \notin \pi_\theta \text{ and } i \leq p(i)\}$. Note that $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_\theta \times \mathcal{T}'$ and hence the multiplication map defines an isomorphism

$$\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}] \otimes \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}'] \cong U^0.$$

It follows from the triangular decomposition (3.1) for $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ and the above tensor product decompositions, that multiplication also induces an isomorphism

$$U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \cong U^- \otimes \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_\theta] \otimes \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}'] \otimes N_\theta^+ \otimes \mathcal{M}^+.$$

Using the fact that elements of \mathcal{M}^+ are eigenvectors with respect to the adjoint action of \mathcal{T} , we may reorder this tensor product decomposition as

$$(4.8) U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \cong U^- \otimes \mathcal{M}^+ \otimes \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_\theta] \otimes \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}'] \otimes N_\theta^+.$$

Let $(N_{\theta}^+)_+$ denote the span of the weight vectors in N_{θ}^+ of positive weight in $Q^+(\pi)$. Set

$$(\mathcal{T}')_+ = \sum_{\substack{K \in \mathcal{T}' \\ K \neq Id}} \mathbb{C}(q)K$$

and let $(\mathcal{T}'N_{\theta}^{+})_{+}$ denote the subspace of $\mathcal{T}'N_{\theta}$ defined by

$$(\mathcal{T}'N_{\theta}^{+})_{+} = (\mathcal{T}')_{+}N_{\theta}^{+} + \mathcal{T}'(N_{\theta}^{+})_{+}.$$

The tensor product decomposition (4.8) yields a direct sum decomposition

$$(4.9) U_q(\mathfrak{g}) = (U^- \mathcal{M}^+ \mathcal{T}_\theta) \oplus (U^- \mathcal{M}^+ \mathcal{T}_\theta (\mathcal{T}' N_\theta^+)_+).$$

Let \mathcal{P} denote the projection of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ onto $U^-\mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_\theta$ with respect to this decomposition.

Proposition 4.3. Given a positive weight β and an element $b \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$ such that

$$b = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} B_I a_I$$

where each $a_I \in \mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_\theta$, there exists an element $\tilde{b} \in \mathcal{B}_\theta$ such that

(i)
$$\tilde{b} = b + \sum_{\text{wt}(J) < \beta} B_J c_J \text{ for } c_J \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mathcal{T}_\theta.$$

(ii)
$$\mathcal{P}(\tilde{b}) = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I$$
.

Proof. If wt(I) = α_i for some i, then $b = B_i a$ for some $a \in \mathcal{M}^+ \mathcal{T}_\theta$ and the lemma follows immediately from the definitions of the generator B_i (both when $\alpha_i \in \pi_\theta$ and when $\alpha_i \notin \pi_\theta$) and the projection map \mathcal{P} . We prove the lemma using induction on ht(β). In particular, we assume that (i) and (ii) hold for all β' with $\beta' < \beta$.

By Remark 4.2 and the definition of G^- , we can write

$$b = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I + Y$$

with

$$Y \in \sum_{0 < \lambda \leq \beta} G^-_{-\beta + \lambda} U^+ U^0 = \sum_{0 < \lambda \leq \beta} U^-_{-\beta + \lambda} U^+ U^0.$$

Using the direct sum decomposition (4.9), we see that

$$\mathcal{P}(Y) \in \sum_{0 < \lambda \le \beta} U_{-\beta+\lambda}^{-} \mathcal{M}^{+} \mathcal{T}_{\theta}.$$

Thus, there exist $c_J \in \mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_\theta$ such that

$$\mathcal{P}(Y) = \sum_{\beta' < \beta} \sum_{\text{wt}(J) = \beta'} F_J c_J.$$

It follows that

$$(4.10) \mathcal{P}(b) = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I + \mathcal{P}(Y) = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I + \sum_{\beta' < \beta} \sum_{\text{wt}(J)=\beta'} F_J c_J.$$

Set

$$(4.11) b_{\beta'} = \sum_{\beta' < \beta} \sum_{\text{wt}(J) = \beta'} B_J c_J$$

and note that $b_{\beta'} \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$. For $\beta' < \beta$, we may apply the inductive hypothesis, yielding elements $\tilde{b}_{\beta'}$ satisfying (i) and (ii) with respect to $b_{\beta'}$. In particular, we have

(4.12)
$$\mathcal{P}(\tilde{b}_{\beta'}) = \sum_{\text{wt}(J)=\beta'} F_J c_J.$$

Set

$$\tilde{b} = b - \sum_{\beta' < \beta} \tilde{b}_{\beta'}$$

and note that $\tilde{b} \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$. The definition (4.11) of $b_{\beta'}$ and the fact that each $\tilde{b}_{\beta'}$ satisfies (i) with β replaced by β' guarantees that \tilde{b} also satisfies (i). Condition (ii) for \tilde{b} follows from (4.10) and (4.12).

It follows from Proposition 4.3 that the map $b \mapsto \mathcal{P}(b)$ defines a vector space isomorphism from \mathcal{B}_{θ} onto $U^{-}\mathcal{M}^{+}\mathcal{T}_{\theta}$. This is the essence of the next result.

Corollary 4.4. The projection map \mathcal{P} restricts to a vector space isomorphism from \mathcal{B}_{θ} onto $U^{-}\mathcal{M}^{+}\mathcal{T}_{\theta}$. Thus, if $b \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$, then $\mathcal{P}(b) = 0$ if and only if b = 0.

Let β_1 be a maximal weight such that $c_J \neq 0$ for some J such that $\operatorname{wt}(J) = \beta_1$ in the right hand side of (4.10). The right hand side of (4.10) can be written as

$$\sum_{\operatorname{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I + \sum_{\operatorname{wt}(J)=\beta_1} F_J c_J + \sum_{\substack{\beta' < \beta \\ \beta' > \beta_1}} \sum_{\operatorname{wt}(J)=\beta'} F_J c_J.$$

Set $d_1 = b - \sum_{\text{wt}(J) = \beta_1} B_J c_J$ and apply induction on the set of $\beta' \not\geq \beta_1$. The end result is an element d_2 in \mathcal{B}_{θ} with the same image under \mathcal{P} as \tilde{b} . Hence, by Corollary 4.4, we have $d_2 = b$.

Now assume that each of the a_I terms in the above expression are scalars. We can expand c_J as a sum of weight vectors in $\mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_\theta$. For each of these weight vectors, say c'_J , we can find $\lambda_0, \gamma_0, \gamma'_0, \eta_0$ satisfying the assumptions of Lemma 4.1 with respect to β such that

$$\beta_1 = \beta - \lambda_0 - \eta_0 - \gamma_0$$

and $c_J' \in U_{\theta(-\lambda_0)-\gamma_0}^+ K_{-\lambda_0-\eta_0-\gamma_0+2\gamma_0'}$. Now suppose that $\lambda_1, \gamma_1, \gamma_1', \eta_1$ also satisfy the assumptions of this lemma with β replaced by β_1 . Set $\lambda_2 = \lambda_0 + \lambda_1$, $\gamma_2 = \lambda_0 + \lambda_1$. $\gamma_0 + \gamma_1, \gamma_2' = \gamma_0' + \gamma_1', \text{ and } \eta_2 = \eta_0 + \eta_1.$ It is straightforward to check that $\lambda_2, \gamma_2, \gamma_2', \eta_2'$ satisfy the conditions of Lemma 4.1 with respect to β . Moreover,

$$(G^-_{-\beta_1+\lambda_1+\eta_1+\gamma_1}U^+_{\theta(-\lambda_1)-\gamma_1}K_{-\beta_1+2\gamma_1'})c_J'\subseteq G^-_{-\beta+\lambda_2+\eta_2+\gamma_2}U^+_{\theta(-\lambda_2)-\gamma_2}K_{-\beta+2\gamma_2'}.$$

It follows that, just as for b of Proposition 4.3, the term d_1 is contained in a sum of spaces of the form

$$G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\eta+\gamma}U^+_{\theta(-\lambda)-\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'},$$

where $\beta, \lambda, \eta, \gamma, \gamma'$ satisfy the conditions of Lemma 4.1. By induction, the same is true for $d_2 = b$.

5. Lifting to the lower triangular part

We begin the process of lifting Cartan elements of the form $e_{\beta} + f_{-\beta}$ to the quantum setting. The main result of this section identifies a lift with nice properties of $f_{-\beta}$ for nonsimple roots β in the special strongly orthogonal θ -systems of Theorem 2.7.

5.1. Properties of special root vectors. Consider a subset π' of π . Given a weight $\lambda \in P^+(\pi)$, we write $\bar{L}(\lambda)$ for the finite-dimensional simple $U(\mathfrak{g})$ -module with highest weight λ and let $\bar{L}_{\pi'}(\lambda)$ denote the finite-dimensional simple $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}+\mathfrak{h})$ -module generated by a vector of highest weight λ . Recall that $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}+\mathfrak{h})$ acts semisimply on $U(\mathfrak{g})$ -modules. For all weights γ that are in $P(\pi)$ and restrict to an integral dominant weight in $P^+(\pi')$, we write $[\bar{L}(\lambda):\bar{L}_{\pi'}(\gamma)]$ for the multiplicity of $\bar{L}_{\pi'}(\gamma)$ in $\bar{L}(\lambda)$ where both are viewed as $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}+\mathfrak{h})$ -modules. Suppose that $\beta \in P^+(\pi)$ and $(\beta,\alpha)=0$ for all $\alpha \in \pi'$. It follows that the finite-dimensional simple $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}+\mathfrak{h})$ -module $\bar{L}_{\pi'}(\beta)$ of highest weight β is a trivial one-dimensional $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}+\mathfrak{h})$ -module.

Set $\mathfrak{n}_{\pi'}^- = \mathfrak{g}_{\pi'} \cap \mathfrak{n}^-$. Let M be a finite-dimensional $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ -module. We can decompose M into a direct sum of finite-dimensional simple $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ -modules, each generated by a highest weight vector. Note that any nonzero highest weight vector with respect to the action of $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ inside M is not an element of $\mathfrak{n}_{\pi'}^- M$. In particular,

$$(5.1) M = M_0 \oplus \mathfrak{n}_{-} M$$

where M_0 is the space spanned by the $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ highest weight vectors in M. For each simple root α , let ν_{α} denote the corresponding fundamental weight.

Theorem 5.1. Let $\beta \in \Delta^+$ and $\alpha_{\beta} \in \text{Supp}(\beta)$ such that

- (i) $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$,
- (ii) $\pi' \subseteq StrOrth(\beta)$

where $\pi' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}$ and $w_{\beta} = w(\pi')_0$. Then for all $m \geq 1$, $\bar{L}(m\nu_{\alpha_{\beta}})$ has a unique nonzero vector (up to scalar multiple) of weight $m\nu_{\alpha_{\beta}} - \beta$ that generates a trivial $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ -module.

Proof. Fix $m \geq 1$. Set $\nu = \nu_{\alpha_{\beta}}$. Note that w_{β} is a product of reflections defined by roots in π' . Since $\alpha_{\beta} \notin \pi'$, we must have $w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta} - \alpha_{\beta} \in Q(\pi')$. Thus, the coefficient of α_{β} in $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ written as a linear combination of simple roots is 2. By assumption (ii) and the fact that ν is the fundamental weight associated to α_{β} , we have $(m\nu - \beta, \alpha) = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \pi'$. Hence any weight vector in $\bar{L}(m\nu)$ of weight $m\nu - \beta$ that is a highest weight vector with respect to the action of $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ generates a trivial $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ -module. Thus we only need to prove

(5.2)
$$[\bar{L}(m\nu) : \bar{L}_{\pi'}(m\nu - \beta)] = 1.$$

Let v denote a highest weight generating vector of $\bar{L}(m\nu)$. Since $(\nu,\alpha)=0$ for all $\alpha\in\pi', U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ acts trivially on v. Moreover, $\alpha_{\beta}\notin\pi'$ ensures that $f_{-\alpha_{\beta}}v$ is a highest weight vector with respect to the action of $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$. It follows that $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})f_{-\alpha_{\beta}}v$ and $\bar{L}_{\pi'}(m\nu-\alpha_{\beta})$ are isomorphic as $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}+\mathfrak{h})$ -modules. Thus $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})f_{-\alpha_{\beta}}v$ contains a unique nonzero lowest weight vector (up to scalar multiple) of weight $w_{\beta}(m\nu-\alpha_{\beta})=m\nu-w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}=m\nu-\beta+\alpha_{\beta}$ with respect to the action of $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}+\mathfrak{h})$.

By the previous paragraph, $yf_{-\alpha_{\beta}}v$ is a (possibly zero) scalar multiple of the lowest weight vector of $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})f_{-\alpha_{\beta}}v$ for any choice of $y \in U(\mathfrak{n}_{\pi'})$ of weight $-\beta+2\alpha_{\beta}$. Thus, there is at most one nonzero vector (up to scalar multiple) in $\bar{L}(m\nu)$ of weight $m\nu-\beta$ of the form

$$f_{-\alpha_{\beta}}yf_{-\alpha_{\beta}}v,$$

where $y \in U(\mathfrak{n}_{\pi'}^-)$. Hence the $m\nu - \beta$ weight space of $\bar{L}(m\nu)$ satisfies

(5.3)
$$\bar{L}(m\nu)_{m\nu-\beta} \subseteq \mathbb{C}f_{-\alpha_{\beta}}yf_{-\alpha_{\beta}}v + \mathfrak{n}_{\pi'}U(\mathfrak{n}^{-})v.$$

Since there are no highest weight $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ vectors inside $\mathfrak{n}_{\pi'}^-U(\mathfrak{n}^-)v$, (5.3) ensures that $\bar{L}(m\nu)$ contains at most one highest weight vector of weight $m\nu - \beta$. In particular,

(5.4)
$$[\bar{L}(m\nu) : \bar{L}_{\pi'}(m\nu - \beta)] \le 1.$$

By assumption (ii), $(\alpha, \beta) = 0$ and $\alpha + \beta$ is not a root for all $\alpha \in \pi'$. It follows that $\beta - \alpha$ is also not a root for all $\alpha \in \pi'$. In particular, we have

$$[e_{\alpha}, f_{-\beta}] = 0 = [f_{-\alpha}, f_{-\beta}]$$

for all $\alpha \in \pi'$. Thus $e_{\alpha}f_{-\beta}v = [e_{\alpha}, f_{-\beta}]v = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \pi'$. Similarly, $f_{-\alpha}f_{-\beta}v = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \pi'$. Therefore, $\mathbb{C}f_{-\beta}v$ is a trivial $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'} + \mathfrak{h})$ -submodule of $\bar{L}(m\nu)$ of the desired weight. This shows that the inequality in (5.4) is actually an equality which proves (5.2).

Let $\lambda \in P^+(\pi)$ with $m_i = 2(\lambda, \alpha_i)/(\alpha_i, \alpha_i)$ for each i and let v denote the highest weight generating vector for $\bar{L}(\lambda)$. By Section 21.4 of [H], we have

$$fv = 0$$
 if and only if $f \in \sum_{i} U(\mathfrak{n}^{-}) f_{i}^{m_{i}+1}$

for all $f \in U(\mathfrak{n}^-)$. Consider $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$. Suppose that π' is a proper subset of $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$, $m_i = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$ and $m_j \geq \operatorname{mult}_{\alpha_j} \beta$ for all $\alpha_j \in \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \pi'$. Then

(5.5)
$$fv = 0 \text{ if and only if } f \in \sum_{\alpha_i \in \pi'} U(\mathfrak{n}^-) f_i$$

for all elements f of weight $-\beta$ in $U(\mathfrak{n}^-)$.

Corollary 5.2. Let $\beta \in \Delta^+$ and $\alpha_{\beta} \in \text{Supp}(\beta)$ such that

- (i) $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$,
- (ii) $\pi' \subseteq StrOrth(\beta)$.

where $\pi' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}$ and $w_{\beta} = w(\pi')_0$. Then the root vector $f_{-\beta}$ is the unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) of weight $-\beta$ in $U(\mathfrak{n}^-)$ such that $[a, f_{-\beta}] = 0$ for all $a \in \mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}$.

Proof. Suppose that f is a nonzero element of weight $-\beta$ in $U(\mathfrak{n}^-)$ and assume that $[e_i, f] = [f_i, f] = [h_i, f] = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Choose $m \geq 2$. By (i) we have $m \geq \text{mult}_{\alpha_\beta}\beta$. Set $\nu = \nu_{\alpha_\beta}$ and let v be the highest weight generating vector for $\bar{L}(m\nu)$. Since $[e_i, f] = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$, it follows that fv is a highest weight vector of weight $m\nu - \beta$. By assumptions on β , we also have $[e_i, f_{-\beta}] = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. By Theorem 5.1 and its proof, any highest weight vector in $\bar{L}(m\nu)$ of highest weight $m\nu - \beta$ with respect to the action of $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ is a scalar multiple of $f_{-\beta}v$. Hence

$$(f - cf_{-\beta})v = 0$$

for some scalar c. Set $f' = f - cf_{-\beta}$. By (5.5) and the related discussion, it follows that

$$(5.6) f' \in \sum_{\alpha \in \pi'} U(\mathfrak{n}^-) f_i.$$

Let ι be the Lie algebra antiautomorphism of $\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}$ sending e_i to e_i , f_i to f_i , and h_i to $-h_i$ for all $i=1,\ldots,n$. Since [a,f']=0 for all $a\in\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}$, the same is true for $\iota(f')$. By (5.6), we have

(5.7)
$$\iota(f') \in \sum_{\alpha_i \in \pi'} f_i U(\mathfrak{n}^-).$$

Choose $\lambda \in P^+(\pi)$ so that $2(\lambda, \alpha_i)/(\alpha_i, \alpha_i) \geq \text{mult}_{\alpha_i}\beta$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Let w be a nonzero highest weight generating vector for $\bar{L}(\lambda)$. Since $[a, \iota(f')] = 0$ for all $a \in \mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}$, it follows that $\iota(f')w$ is a $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$ highest weight vector with respect to the action of $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'})$. By (5.7), we see that $\iota(f')w \in \mathfrak{n}_{\pi'}^-U(\mathfrak{n}^-)w$. It follows from (5.1) and the related discussion that $\iota(f') = 0$. Hence f' = 0 and f is a scalar multiple of $f_{-\beta}$.

5.2. Quantum analogs of special root vectors. In analogy to the classical setting, we write $[L(\lambda):L_{\pi'}(\gamma)]$ for the multiplicity of $L_{\pi'}(\gamma)$ in $L(\lambda)$ where $\lambda \in P^+(\pi)$, γ is in $P(\pi)$ and restricts to a dominant integral weight in $P^+(\pi')$, and both modules are viewed as $U_{\pi'}U^0$ -modules. Note that the character formula for the finite-dimensional simple $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module $L(\lambda)$ of highest weight λ is the same as its classical counterpart ([J, Chapter 4] or [JL, Section 5.10]). Hence

$$[L(\lambda): L_{\pi'}(\gamma)] = [\bar{L}(\lambda): \bar{L}_{\pi'}(\gamma)]$$

for all subsets π' of π , all dominant integral weights $\lambda \in P^+(\pi)$, and all weights $\gamma \in P(\pi)$ so that $\tilde{\gamma} \in P^+(\pi')$. Thus, we have the following quantum analog of Theorem 5.1.

Theorem 5.3. Let $\beta \in \Delta^+$ and $\alpha_{\beta} \in \text{Supp}(\beta)$ such that

- (i) $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$,
- (ii) $\pi' \subseteq StrOrth(\beta)$,

where $\pi' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}$ and $w_{\beta} = w(\pi')_0$. Then for all $m \geq 1$, $L(m\nu_{\alpha_{\beta}})$ has a unique nonzero vector (up to scalar multiple) of weight $m\nu_{\alpha_{\beta}} - \beta$ that generates a trivial $U_{\pi'}$ -module.

Consider a subset π' of π and a weight $\lambda \in P^+(\pi)$ such that $(\lambda, \alpha_i) = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. It follows from the description of the (ordinary) adjoint action given in Section 3.1 that $(\operatorname{ad} F_i)K_{-2\lambda} = (\operatorname{ad} E_i)K_{-2\lambda} = 0$ and $(\operatorname{ad} K_i)K_{-2\lambda} = K_{-2\lambda}$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Hence, for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$, the ordinary adjoint action of E_i , namely $(\operatorname{ad} E_i)$, on $(\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-2\lambda}$ agrees with the action of $(\operatorname{ad}_{\lambda} E_i)$ on $(\operatorname{ad}_{\lambda} U^-)1$, which is the $(\operatorname{ad} U_q(\mathfrak{g}))$ -submodule of $G^-(\lambda)$ (from Section 3.2) generated by 1. The analogous assertion holds with E_i replaced by K_i . In particular, as $U_{\pi'}$ -modules, $(\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-\lambda}$ is isomorphic to $(\operatorname{ad}_{\lambda} U^-)1$ where the action on the first module is using the ordinary adjoint action and the action on the latter is using the twisted adjoint action. (Note that this means that the ordinary adjoint action of $U_{\pi'}$ on $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ is the same as the graded action of $U_{\pi'}$ on $G^-K_{-\lambda}$ as presented in Section 3.2.)

Corollary 5.4. Let $\beta \in \Delta^+$ and $\alpha_{\beta} \in \text{Supp}(\beta)$ such that

- (i) $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$,
- (ii) $\pi' \subseteq StrOrth(\beta)$,

where $\pi' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}$ and $w_{\beta} = w(\pi')_0$. Then there exists a unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) Y in $(U_{-\beta}^-)^{U_{\pi'}}$. Moreover, a scalar multiple of Y specializes to $f_{-\beta}$ as q goes to 1 and $YK_{\beta}K_{-2\nu_{\alpha_{\beta}}} \in (\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-2\nu_{\alpha_{\beta}}}$.

Proof. Set $\nu = \nu_{\alpha_{\beta}}$. Let $G^{-}(2\nu)$ be the $(\mathrm{ad}_{2\nu}U_{q}(\mathfrak{g}))$ -module defined in Section 3.2. Note that 1 corresponds to a highest weight vector of highest possible weight inside $G^{-}(2\nu)$. Hence the socle of $G^{-}(2\nu)$, which is isomorphic to $L(\nu)$, is equal to $(\mathrm{ad}_{2\nu}U^{-})1$. By the discussion preceding the lemma, $(\mathrm{ad}_{2\nu}U^{-})1$ is isomorphic to (ad $U^-)K_{-2\nu}$ as $U_{\pi'}$ -modules with respect to the ordinary adjoint action. Thus as $U_{\pi'}$ -modules, (ad $U^-)K_{-2\nu}$ and $L(\nu)$ are isomorphic. Hence, by Theorem 5.3, (ad $U^-)K_{-2\nu}$ contains a nonzero element $YK_{\beta-2\nu}$ of weight $-\beta$ that admits a trivial action with respect to (ad $U_{\pi'}$). By the definition of the adjoint action, we have $Y \in U_{-\beta}^-$. Since (ad $U_{\pi'}$) acts trivially on $K_{\beta-2\nu}$, we also have (ad m)Y = $\epsilon(m)Y$ for all $m \in U_{\pi'}$. Multiplying Y by a (possibly negative) power of (q-1) if necessary, we may assume that $Y \in \hat{U}$ but $Y \notin (q-1)\hat{U}$. Hence Y specializes to a nonzero element of weight $-\beta$ in $U(\mathfrak{n}^-)$ that commutes with all elements of $\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}$. By Corollary 5.2, Y specializes to a nonzero scalar multiple of $f_{-\beta}$. Now suppose that Y' is another element in $U_{-\beta}^-$ satisfying (ad $m)Y' = \epsilon(m)Y'$ for all $m \in U_{\pi'}$. Assume that Y' is not a scalar multiple of Y. Then some linear combination of Yand Y' must specialize to an element in $U(\mathfrak{n}^-)$ different from the specialization of Y. This contradicts Corollary 5.2, thus proving the desired uniqueness assertion.

Remark 5.5. In general, the lifts of root vectors $f_{-\beta}$ given in Corollary 5.4 do not agree with the corresponding weight $-\beta$ element of the quantum PBW basis defined by Lusztig (see [Ja, Chapter 8]). To get an idea of why this is true, assume that in addition $\beta = w\alpha_{\beta} = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ where $w = s_{\alpha_{\beta}}w_{\beta}$, $w_{\beta} = w(\pi')_{0}$, and $\pi' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}$ as happens for many of the weights appearing in the strongly orthogonal θ -systems of Theorem 2.7. By Lemma 3.1, $F = T_{w_{\beta}}^{-1}(F_{-\alpha_{\beta}}K_{\alpha_{\beta}})$ is (ad $U_{\pi'}^{-}$) invariant. Applying $T_{\alpha_{\beta}}^{-1}$ to F yields an element that is trivial with respect to the action of (ad F_{i}) for simple roots $\alpha_{i} \in \pi'$ that also satisfy $(\alpha_{i}, \alpha_{\beta}) = 0$. This is because $T_{\alpha_{\beta}}(F_{i}) = F_{i}$ under these conditions. However, if $(\alpha_{i}, \alpha_{\beta}) \neq 0$, then $T_{\alpha_{\beta}}^{-1}(F_{i}) \neq F_{i}$, and, as a result, we cannot expect (ad F_{i})($T_{\alpha_{\beta}}^{-1}(F)$) = 0. Hence F is generally not a trivial element with respect to the action of (ad $U_{\pi'}$). If instead, we express $\beta = w'\alpha_{j}$ with $\alpha_{j} \in \pi'$ and w' some element in the Weyl group W, then we cannot expect (ad F_{j})($T_{w'}^{-1}(F_{j}K_{j})$) = 0. In contrast to the results in this section, we see in the next section that Lusztig's automorphisms play a key role in defining quantum analogs of root vectors for a different family of positive roots.

5.3. Quantum analogs of special root vectors, type A. We establish a result similar to Corollary 5.4 for positive roots in type A.

Theorem 5.6. Let $\beta \in \Delta^+$ and $\alpha_{\beta} \in \text{Supp}(\beta)$ such that

- (i) $\beta = p(\alpha_{\beta}) + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta} = w\alpha_{\beta}$,
- (ii) $\pi' \subseteq \operatorname{StrOrth}(\beta)$.

where $\pi' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}, p(\alpha_{\beta})\}$, $w_{\beta} = w(\pi')_{0}$, and $w = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\})_{0}$. Then there exists a unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) $Y \in (U_{-\beta}^{-})^{U_{\pi'}}$ such that $YK_{\beta}K_{-2\nu_{\alpha_{\beta}}} \in (\operatorname{ad} U^{-})K_{-2\nu_{\alpha_{\beta}}}$. Moreover, a scalar multiple of Y specializes to $f_{-\beta}$ as q goes to 1.

Proof. Set $\nu = \nu_{\alpha_{\beta}}$ and $\pi'' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}$. Choose k so that $\alpha_{\beta} = \alpha_{k}$. Set $Y = T_{w}^{-1}(F_{k})$. By the definition of T_{w} and its inverse (see Section 3.3 and Section 3.4 of [Ko]), we see that Y is a nonzero scalar multiple of $T_{w}^{-1}(F_{k}K_{k})K_{-\beta}$. By Lemma 3.1, YK_{β} is in $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi''}^{-})(F_{k}K_{k})$ and is a lowest weight vector of weight $-\beta$ in the $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi''})$ -module generated by $F_{k}K_{k}$. Since YK_{β} has weight $-\beta$ and $(\beta, \alpha_{i}) = 0$ for all $\alpha_{i} \in \pi'$, it follows that YK_{β} is a trivial $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi'})$ vector in this module. Thus $(\operatorname{ad} m)YK_{\beta} = (\operatorname{ad} m)Y = \epsilon(m)Y$ for all $m \in U_{\pi'}$. The facts that $F_{k}K_{k}K_{-2\nu}$ is a scalar multiple of $(\operatorname{ad} F_{k})K_{-2\nu}$ and $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi''})$ acts trivially on $K_{-2\nu}$ ensure that $Y \in [(\operatorname{ad} U^{-})K_{-2\nu}]K_{2\nu-\beta}$. Moreover, by the definition of the Lusztig automorphisms, Y specializes to the root vector $f_{-\beta}$ as q goes to 1.

Note that $(\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-2\nu} = (\operatorname{ad} U^-)(F_kK_kK_{-2\nu}) + \mathbb{C}(q)K_{-2\nu}$ since $(\operatorname{ad} F_i)K_{-2\nu} = 0$ for all $i \neq k$. Hence, any element in $(\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-2\nu}$ of weight $-\beta$ is contained in the $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi''})$ -module $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi''})(F_kK_kK_{-2\nu})$. As stated in Lemma 3.1, this $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi''})$ -module is isomorphic to the finite-dimensional $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi''})$ -module with lowest weight $-\beta$. Hence $(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi''})F_kK_kK_{-2\nu}$ contains a unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) of weight $-\beta$. This proves the uniqueness assertion.

Let φ be the \mathbb{C} algebra automorphism of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ which fixes all E_i, F_i , sends K_i to K_i^{-1} , and sends q to q^{-1} and let φ' be the \mathbb{C} algebra automorphism of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ which fixes all $K_i^{-1}E_i, F_iK_i$, sends K_i to K_i^{-1} , and sends q to q^{-1} . Note that $\kappa \varphi = \varphi' \kappa$ where κ is the quantum Chevalley antiautomorphism of Section 3.4.

The next lemma will be useful in the analysis of quantum root vectors and Cartan elements associated to a weight β satisfying the conditions of Theorem 5.6. Note that in these cases, $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ is a root system of type A. It turns out that this lemma is also useful in later sections for the analysis associated to weights β that satisfy condition (4) of Theorem 2.7. In this latter case, $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ is of type B.

Lemma 5.7. Let $\alpha_{i_1}, \ldots, \alpha_{i_{m+1}}$ be a set of roots with $(\alpha_{i_j}, \alpha_{i_k}) = -1$ if $k = j \pm 1$ and 0 if $k \neq j \pm 1$ and $i_j \neq i_k$. Then

$$\begin{array}{ll} \text{(i)} & ((\text{ad } E_{i_1} \cdots E_{i_m}) E_{i_{m+1}}) = (-q)^m \varphi((\text{ad } E_{i_{m+1}} \cdots E_{i_2}) E_{i_1}), \\ \text{(ii)} & ((\text{ad } F_{i_1} \cdots F_{i_m}) F_{i_{m+1}} K_{i_{m+1}}) = q^m \varphi'((\text{ad } F_{i_{m+1}} \cdots F_{i_2}) F_{i_1} K_{i_1}). \end{array}$$

Proof. By the definition of the adjoint action and the assumptions of the lemma, we see that

(ad
$$E_j$$
) $E_{j+1} = E_j E_{j+1} - q E_{j+1} E_j$
= $-q(E_{j+1} E_j - q^{-1} E_j E_{j+1}) = -q \varphi((\text{ad } E_{j+1}) E_j).$

The first assertion follows from this equality and induction. The second assertion follows by applying the quantum Chevalley antiautomorphism κ to both sides and the similar equality given by (3.6).

We are interested in $\beta \in \Delta^+$ that satisfy (i) and (ii) of Theorem 5.6 and appear in one of the strongly orthogonal θ -systems of Theorem 2.7 and its proof. In particular, β fits into case (3) of Theorem 2.7 and by Remark 2.8, $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$ is of type A and θ restricts to an involution of type AIII/AIV on the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)}$. One checks that this situation only arises when \mathfrak{g} is of type A, D, or E. Hence Δ , and thus $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ are both simply-laced. Note that the simple root α_{β} corresponds to the first simple root of $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$ and $p(\alpha_{\beta})$ corresponds to the last when the simple roots of $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$ are ordered in the standard way corresponding to the Dynkin

diagram of type A. Thus, $(\alpha_{\beta}, \beta) \neq 0$ and $(p(\alpha_{\beta}), \beta) \neq 0$. Moreover, since Δ is of simply-laced type, we have

(5.8)
$$(\alpha_{\beta}, \beta) = -1 = (p(\alpha_{\beta}), \beta).$$

The next corollary establishes connections between a lift of the root vector e_{β} to G^+ to a lift of the root vector $f_{-\beta}$ to U^- .

Corollary 5.8. Let $\beta \in \Delta^+$ and $\alpha_{\beta} \in \text{Supp}(\beta)$ such that

- (i) $\beta = p(\alpha_{\beta}) + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta} = w\alpha_{\beta}$,
- (ii) $\pi' \subseteq StrOrth(\beta)$,

where $\pi' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}, p(\alpha_{\beta})\}$, $w_{\beta} = w(\pi')_0$, $w = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\})_0$. Assume further that $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ is a root system of type A, the symmetric pair $\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)}$, $(\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)})^{\theta}$ is of type AIII/AIV, and neither α_{β} nor $p(\alpha_{\beta})$ is in $\operatorname{Orth}(\beta)$. Let Y be the unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) in $(U_{-\beta}^-)^{U_{\pi'}}$ such that $YK_{\beta}K_{-2\nu} \in (\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-2\nu_{\alpha\beta}}$. Then

- (a) Y is the unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) in $(U_{-\beta}^-)^{U_{\pi'}}$ such that $F_{-p(\alpha_\beta)}Y q^{-1}YF_{-p(\alpha_\beta)} = 0$,
- (b) Y is the unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) in $(U_{-\beta}^-)^{U_{\pi'}}$ such that $F_{-\alpha_{\beta}}Y qYF_{-\alpha_{\beta}} = 0$.

Moreover, if $X \in (G_{\beta}^+)^{U_{\pi'}}$ and

(5.9)
$$\left(\theta_q(F_{-\alpha_\beta}K_{\alpha_\beta})K_{\alpha_\beta}^{-1}\right)X - qX\left(\theta_q(F_{-\alpha_\beta}K_{\alpha_\beta})K_{\alpha_\beta}^{-1}\right) = 0,$$

then $\kappa(X)$ is a nonzero scalar multiple of Y.

Proof. Set $\nu = \nu_{\alpha_{\beta}}$. By Theorem 5.6, there exists a unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) $YK_{\beta-2\nu}$ in $(U_{-\beta}^-)^{U_{\pi'}}$ that is also in (ad $U^-)K_{-2\nu}$. Recall (Section 3.2) that $G^-K_{-2\nu}$ has a unique nonzero (up to scalar multiple) (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$) lowest weight vector Y' of weight $-\nu + w\nu = -w\alpha_{\beta} = -\beta$ and this lowest weight vector is in (ad $U^-)K_{-2\nu}$. Since $(\beta, \alpha_i) = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$, $Y' \in (U_{-\beta}^-)^{U_{\pi'}}$. The uniqueness property ensures that $Y' = YK_{\beta-2\nu}$ and so $YK_{\beta-2\nu}$ is the unique (up to scalar multiple) (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$) lowest weight vector of $G^-K_{\beta-2\nu}$. By (5.8) and the definition of the adjoint action in Section 3.1, we have

$$(5.10) (F_{-p(\alpha_{\beta})}Y - q^{-1}YF_{-p(\alpha_{\beta})}) = [(\text{ad } F_{-p(\alpha_{\beta})})YK_{\beta-2\nu}]K_{-\beta+2\nu} = 0.$$

In particular, Y is the unique nonzero element of $(U_{-\beta}^-)^{U_{\pi'}}$ (up to scalar multiple) that satisfies (5.10) which proves (a).

By Lemma 5.7, $\varphi(Y)$ is the unique nonzero element of $(U_{-\beta}^-)^{U_{\pi'}}$ (up to scalar multiple) that satisfies

(5.11)
$$(F_{-\alpha_{\beta}}\varphi(Y) - q^{-1}\varphi(Y)F_{-\alpha_{\beta}}) = [(\text{ad } F_{-\alpha_{\beta}})\varphi(Y)K_{\beta-2\nu}]K_{-\beta+2\nu} = 0.$$

Applying φ to each side of (5.11) yields

$$(5.12) (F_{-\alpha_{\beta}}Y - qYF_{-\alpha_{\beta}}) = 0.$$

Hence, we can also view Y as the unique nonzero element of $(U_{-\beta}^-)^{U_{\pi'}}$ (up to scalar multiple), that satisfies (5.12). Thus (b) also holds.

Now suppose that $X \in (G_{\beta}^+)^{U_{\pi'}}$ and X satisfies (5.9). Note that (5.9) is equivalent to

(5.13)
$$q^{-1} \left(\theta_q(F_{-\alpha_\beta} K_{\alpha_\beta}) \right) X - q X \theta_q(F_{-\alpha_\beta} K_{\alpha_\beta}) = 0.$$

Since $\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)}$, $(\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)})^{\theta}$ is of type AIII/AIV, there are two possibilities for the intersection π_{θ} and $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$. The first is

$$\pi_{\theta} \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \subseteq \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}, p(\alpha_{\beta})\}\$$

and the second is

$$\pi_{\theta} \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}, p(\alpha_{\beta})\}.$$

In the first case, we have $\theta_q(F_{-\alpha_\beta}K_{\alpha_\beta}) = E_{p(\alpha_\beta)}$ and so (5.13) becomes

(5.14)
$$q^{-1}E_{p(\alpha_{\beta})}X - qXE_{p(\alpha_{\beta})} = 0$$

while in the second case, it follows from (4.1) that

$$\theta_q(F_{-\alpha_\beta}K_{\alpha_\beta}) = c[(\text{ad } E_{i_1}E_{i_2}\cdots E_{i_m})E_{p(\alpha_\beta)}]$$

for some nonzero scalar c and choice of i_1, \ldots, i_m in $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ with $\alpha_{i_j} \in \pi'$ for $j = 1, \ldots, m$. Since $\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)}, (\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)})^{\theta}$ is of type AIII/AIV, the sequence of roots

$$\alpha_{i_0} = \alpha_{p(\alpha_\beta)}, \alpha_{i_1}, \dots, \alpha_{i_m}, \alpha_{i_{m+1}} = \alpha_\beta$$

form a set of simple roots for a root system of type A_{m+2} . Note that $\{\alpha_{i_1}, \ldots, \alpha_{i_m}\}$ = π' . Moreover,

(ad
$$F_{i_m}\cdots F_{i_1}E_{i_1}E_{i_2}\cdots E_{i_m})E_{p(\alpha_\beta)}$$

is a nonzero scalar multiple of $E_{p(\alpha_{\beta})}$. Since X commutes with all elements of $U_{\pi'}$, applying (ad $F_{i_m} \cdots F_{i_1}$) to both sides of (5.13) yields (5.14) in this case as well.

Now (5.14) is equivalent to

(5.15)
$$E_{p(\alpha_{\beta})}K_{p(\alpha_{\beta})}^{-1}X - qXE_{p(\alpha_{\beta})}K_{p(\alpha_{\beta})}^{-1} = 0.$$

Applying the quantum Chevalley antiautomorphism κ (see Section 3.4) to X and to both sides of (5.15) yields an element $\kappa(X) \in U_{-\beta}^-$ that commutes with all elements of $U_{\pi'}$ and satisfies

$$F_{-p(\alpha_{\beta})}\kappa(X) - q^{-1}\kappa(X)F_{-p(\alpha_{\beta})} = 0.$$

By (a), $\kappa(X)$ is a (nonzero) scalar multiple of Y.

- 5.4. The lower triangular part. Recall that \mathcal{T}_{θ} is equal to the group consisting of all elements K_{β} , $\beta \in Q(\pi)^{\theta}$. Write $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}]$ for the group algebra generated by \mathcal{T}_{θ} . Note that $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}]$ is the Laurent polynomial ring with generators
 - $K_i, \alpha_i \in \pi_\theta$,
 - $K_i K_{\theta(\alpha_i)}$, $\alpha_i \notin \pi_\theta$ and i < p(i).

Theorem 5.9. Let θ be a maximally split involution and let $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m\}$ be a maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system as in Theorem 2.7. For each j, there exists a unique nonzero element Y_j (up to scalar multiple) in $U_{-\beta_j}^-$ such that

- (i) $Y_j \in [(\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-2\nu_j}]K_{2\nu_j-\beta_j}$ where ν_j is the fundamental weight corresponding to α_{β_i} .
- (ii) For all $\alpha_s \in \text{StrOrth}(\beta_j)$, Y_j commutes with E_s, F_s , and $K_s^{\pm 1}$.
- (iii) A scalar multiple of Y_j specializes to $f_{-\beta_j}$ as q goes to 1.
- (iv) If β_j satisfies Theorem 2.7(5), then $Y_j \in [(\operatorname{ad} F_{-\alpha'_{\beta}})(\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-2\nu_j}]K_{2\nu_j-\beta_j}$.

Moreover, $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][Y_1,\ldots,Y_m]$ is a commutative polynomial ring over $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}]$ in m generators that specializes to $U(\mathfrak{h}^{\theta} \oplus \mathfrak{k})$ as q goes to 1 where \mathfrak{k} is the commutative Lie algebra generated by $f_{-\beta_1},\ldots,f_{-\beta_m}$.

Proof. We use the notation of Theorem 2.7. Fix j with $1 \le j \le m$ and set $\beta = \beta_j$ and $\nu = \nu_j$. Set $\pi' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha'_{\beta}, \alpha_{\beta}\}$ and $w_{\beta} = w(\pi')_0$. Let k be the integer in $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ such that $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_k$. Note that $(\operatorname{ad} E_k)K_{-2\nu}$ is a scalar multiple of $E_kK_{-2\nu}$ while $(\operatorname{ad} E_s)K_{-2\nu} = 0$ for $s \ne k$.

Suppose that Y is a nonzero element of $U_{-\beta}^-$ satisfying conditions (i). Since Y has weight $-\beta$, it follows from (i) that

$$Y \in [(\text{ad } U^-_{\text{Supp}(\beta)})K_{-2\nu}]K_{2\nu-\beta}$$

and hence Y is an element of G^- of weight $-\beta$. It follows that $Y \in G^-_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)}$. Consider $\alpha_s \in \operatorname{StrOrth}(\beta)$ and assume that $\alpha_s \notin \operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$. Recall that $(\alpha_s, \alpha) \leq 0$ for all $\alpha \in \pi \setminus \{\alpha_s\}$. Since β is a positive root and $(\beta, \alpha_s) = 0$, we must have $(\alpha_s, \alpha) = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$. Moreover, since α_s is a simple root not equal to α , we have that $\alpha_s - \alpha$ is not a root. This ensures that $\alpha_s + \alpha$ is also not a root and so α_s, α are strongly orthogonal for all $\alpha \in \operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$. Using the defining relations of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$, it is straightforward to see that $E_s, F_s, K_s^{\pm 1}$ commute with any element in $U_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)}$ and hence commute with Y. Thus, given $Y \in U_{-\beta}^-$ satisfying (i), we need only show (ii) holds for $\alpha_s \in \operatorname{StrOrth}(\beta) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$.

Using Theorem 2.7, we break the argument up into five possibilities for β . Each of these five cases is handled separately. In the discussion below, we drop the subscript j from Y_j and simply write Y.

Case 1. $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} = \alpha'_{\beta}$. In this case, $Y = F_k$ and it is easy to see that Y is the unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) of weight $-\beta$ satisfying the three conditions (i), (ii), and (iii).

Case 2. $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ and $\alpha_{\beta} = \alpha'_{\beta}$. By Theorem 2.7(ii), we have $\pi' \subseteq \text{StrOrth}(\beta)$. By Corollary 5.4, there exists a unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) $Y \in (U^-_{-\beta})^{U_{\pi'}}$. Moreover, $Y \in [(\text{ad } U^-)K_{-2\nu}]K_{2\nu-\beta}$ and multiplying by a scalar if necessary, Y specializes to $f_{-\beta}$ as q goes to 1. Thus Y satisfies (i), (ii), and (iii).

Case 3. $\beta = p(\alpha_{\beta}) + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta} = w\alpha_{\beta}$ where $w = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\})_0$. By Theorem 5.6 and its proof, $Y = T_w^{-1}(F_k)$ satisfies the conclusions of the theorem.

Case 4. $\beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta} = w\alpha'_{\beta}$ where $w = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha'_{\beta}\})_0$. Furthermore, we may assume that $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) = \{\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_r\}$ generates a root system of type B_r where we are using the standard ordering, $\alpha'_{\beta} = \gamma_r$ the unique short root and $\alpha_{\beta} = \gamma_1$. Note that $w = s_1 \cdots s_r$ is a reduced expression for w where s_i is the reflection associated to the simple root γ_i for each i.

Set $Y' = T_w^{-1}(F_{-\gamma_s})$. Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 5.6, we see that Y' commutes with $E_s, F_s, K_s^{\pm 1}$ for all $\alpha_s \in \operatorname{StrOrth}(\beta)$ and Y' specializes to $f_{-\beta}$ as q goes to 1. Hence Y' satisfies (ii) and (iii). Set $\pi'' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha'_\beta\}$. By Lemma 3.1, $Y'K_\beta$ is a lowest weight vector in the (ad $U_{\pi''}$)- module generated by $F_{-\gamma_r}K_{\gamma_r}$. Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 5.6, we observe that Y' is the unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) element in $[(\operatorname{ad} U_{\pi''}^-)F_{-\gamma_r}K_{\gamma_r}]K_{-\beta}$ of weight $-\beta$ satisfying (ii) and (iii). However, $\gamma_r = \alpha'_\beta$ and we want this result to hold for

 $\gamma_1 = \alpha_{\beta}$. To achieve this, we apply the \mathbb{C} algebra automorphism φ' defined in the previous section. Indeed, set $Y = \varphi'(Y'K_{\beta})K_{-\beta}$. It follows from the definition of φ' that Y also satisfies (ii) and (iii).

To see that Y satisfies (i), we apply Lemma 5.7. In particular, using the reduced expression for w and the fact that $Y'K_{\beta}$ is a lowest weight vector in the (ad $U_{\pi'}$)-module generated by $F_{-\gamma_r}K_{\gamma_r}$ yields

$$Y'K_{\beta} = c(\text{ad } F_{-\gamma_1}F_{-\gamma_2}\cdots F_{-\gamma_{s-1}})(F_{-\gamma_s}K_{\gamma_s})$$

for some nonzero scalar c. By Lemma 5.7, we see that

$$YK_{\beta} = q^{s-1}c(\text{ad } F_{-\gamma_s}F_{-\gamma_{s-1}}\cdots F_{-\gamma_2})(F_{-\gamma_1}K_{\gamma_1})$$

and so $Y \in [(ad \ U^{-})K_{-2\nu}]K_{2\nu-\beta}$ as desired.

Case 5. $\beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ and $\alpha'_{\beta} \neq \alpha_{\beta}$. Furthermore, $\alpha'_{\beta} \in \pi_{\theta}$, α'_{β} is strongly orthogonal to all simple roots in $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha'_{\beta}, \alpha_{\beta}\}$, and α'_{β} and β are orthogonal but not strongly orthogonal to each other. In particular, $\beta' = \beta - \alpha_{\beta'}$ is a positive root. Note also that $\beta' = \alpha_{\beta} + w\alpha_{\beta}$ where $w = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta') \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\})_0$. Moreover, properties of β ensure that $(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}) \subseteq \operatorname{StrOrth}(\beta)$. Arguing as in Case 2 yields an element $Y' \in U^-_{-\beta'}$ satisfying (i), (ii), and (iii) with β replaced by β' . Set $Y = [(\operatorname{ad} F_{-\alpha'_{\beta}})Y'K_{\beta'}]K_{-\beta}$ and note that Y satisfies (i)–(iv).

Now suppose that Y'' is another element in $U_{-\beta}^-$ satisfying (i), (ii), (iii), and (iv). Since $Y'' \in [(\text{ad } U^-)K_{-2\nu}]K_{2\nu-\beta}$, the multiplicity of α'_{β} in β is 1 and α'_{β} is strongly orthogonal to all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$, we have

$$[(\mathrm{ad}E_{\alpha'_{\beta}})(Y''K_{\beta-2\nu})]K_{2\nu-\beta}\in (U^{-}_{-\beta'})^{U_{\pi'}}\cap (\mathrm{ad}\ U^{-})K_{-2\nu}.$$

By the uniqueness part of Corollary 5.4, $[(adE_{\alpha'_{\beta}})(Y''K_{\beta-2\nu})]K_{2\nu-\beta}$ is a scalar multiple of Y'. On the other hand, if

$$Y'' = [(\text{ad } F_{-\alpha'_{\beta}})fK_{\beta'}]K_{-\beta'}$$

for some $f \in U^-_{-\beta'}$, then $[(\operatorname{ad} E_{\alpha'_{\beta}})(Y''K_{\beta-2\nu})]K_{2\nu-\beta}$ is a scalar multiple of f and so f = Y' after suitable scalar adjustment. This completes the proof of the uniqueness assertion in this case.

We have shown that for each $\beta_j \in \Gamma_\theta$, there exists a unique nonzero element (up to scalar multiple) $Y_j \in U_{-\beta}^-$ satisfying (i)-(iv). Recall that each $\beta \in \Gamma_\theta$ satisfies $\theta(\beta) = -\beta$ and so $(\alpha, \beta) = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \pi_\theta$. Hence, the fact that Y_j has weight $-\beta_j$ ensures that Y_j commutes with all elements in \mathcal{T}_θ . Now consider Y_j and Y_s with s > j. By construction, Y_s is in $U_{\text{Supp}(\beta_s)}^-$. By Theorem 2.7, $\text{Supp}(\beta_s) \subseteq \text{StrOrth}(\beta_j)$. Hence assertion (ii) ensures that each F_r with $\alpha_r \in \text{Supp}(\beta_s)$ commutes with Y_j . Thus Y_s commutes with Y_j for all s > k. It follows that $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_\theta][Y_1, \ldots, Y_m]$ is a commutative ring.

By the discussion above, each Y_j specializes to the root vector $f_{-\beta_j}$ as q goes to 1. Recall that \mathcal{B}_{θ} specializes to $U(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta})$ and, in particular, $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}]$ specializes to $U(\mathfrak{h}^{\theta})$ as q goes to 1. Therefore, $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][Y_1,\ldots,Y_m]$ specializes to $U(\mathfrak{h}^{\theta}\oplus\mathfrak{t})$ as q goes to 1. Note that $\mathfrak{h}^{\theta}\oplus\mathfrak{t}$ is a commutative Lie algebra. Thus, $U(\mathfrak{h}^{\theta}\oplus\mathfrak{t})$ is a polynomial ring in dim $\mathfrak{h}^{\theta}+m$ variables. It follows that there are no additional relations among the Y_j other than the fact that they commute since such relations would specialize to extra relations for elements of $U(\mathfrak{h}^{\theta}\oplus\mathfrak{t})$. Hence $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][Y_1,\ldots,Y_m]$ is a polynomial ring in m variables over $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}]$.

6. Conditions for commutativity

Given a weight $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$ and a subset π' of $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$, we establish conditions for special elements in $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ to commute with all elements in $U_{\pi'}$. These results will be used in Section 7 to show that the quantum Cartan subalgebra elements commute with each other.

6.1. Generalized normalizers. One of the key ideas in establishing commutativity is to use the simple fact that if $a \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$, then so is the commutator ba - ab for any $b \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$. Many of the arguments we use break down a into sums of terms that still retain this commutator property for certain choices of b. In particular, these summands are elements of a generalized normalizer. By generalized normalizer, we mean the following: given three algebras C, D, U with $C \subseteq D \subseteq U$, the generalized normalizer of D inside U with respect to C, denoted $\mathcal{N}_{U}(D:C)$, is defined by

$$\mathcal{N}_U(D:C) = \{ X \in U | bX - Xb \in D \text{ for all } b \in C \}.$$

Since we will only be considering $U = U_q(\mathfrak{g})$, we drop the U subscript and just write $\mathcal{N}(D:C)$.

We use standard commutator notation in the discussion below. In other words, [b,a]=ba-ab for all $a,b\in U_q(\mathfrak{g})$. It follows from the definition of the adjoint action (see Section 3.1) that $[F_i,a]=((\operatorname{ad} F_i)a)\,K_i^{-1}$. Hence in many cases it is straightforward to translate between the commutator and the adjoint action.

Recall the notion of l-weight defined in Section 3.1.

Lemma 6.1. Let π' be a subset of π , let $\zeta \in Q^+(\pi)$ and $\xi \in Q(\pi)$, and let g, u be nonzero elements of $G^-_{-\zeta}, U^+$, respectively. Either there exists $\alpha_i \in \pi'$ such that

(6.1)
$$(ad F_i)gK_{\xi}u \in g'K_{\xi}u + G_{-\zeta}U^0U^+,$$

where g' is a nonzero term in $G^-_{-\zeta-\alpha_i}$ or gK_{ξ} is a nonzero (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector. Hence if

(6.2)
$$X \in gK_{\xi}u + \sum_{\lambda \nearrow \zeta} G_{-\lambda}^{-} U^{0} U^{+},$$

where $g \in G_{-\zeta}$ and $X \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{B}_{\theta} : \mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'})$, then gK_{ξ} is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector or $uK_{\xi+\zeta} \in \mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_{\theta}$.

Proof. For each $\alpha_i \in \pi'$ we have

$$(\operatorname{ad} F_i)gK_{\xi}u = ((\operatorname{ad} F_i)gK_{\xi}) K_i^{-1}uK_i + gK_{\xi} ((\operatorname{ad} F_i)u).$$

Note that

$$((\operatorname{ad} F_i)gK_\xi)K_i^{-1}uK_i \in G_{-\zeta-\alpha_i}^-K_\xi U^+ \quad \text{and} \quad gK_\xi\left((\operatorname{ad} F_i)u\right) \in G_{-\zeta}U^0 U^+.$$

Hence if (ad $F_i)gK_{\xi} \neq 0$ for some choice of i with $\alpha_i \in \pi'$, then (6.1) holds with $g' = ((\text{ad } F_i)gK_{\xi})K_{-\xi} \neq 0$. On the other hand, if (ad $F_i)gK_{\xi} = 0$ for all i with $\alpha_i \in \pi'$, then gK_{ξ} is a nonzero (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector.

Now assume that X is an element of $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{B}_{\theta}: \mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'})$ that satisfies (6.2). Let $\alpha_i \in \pi'$ and assume that (ad $F_i)g \neq 0$. It follows that $g'K_{\xi}uK_i^{-1}$ is a minimal l-weight summand of $[B_i, gK_{\xi}u]$ where $g' \in G_{-\zeta-\alpha_i}$ and $[F_i, gK_{\xi}u]K_i = [(\text{ad } F_i)gK_{\xi}u]$ as in (6.1). Note that $g'K_{\xi}uK_i^{-1} \in U_{-\zeta-\alpha_i}^{-1}uK_{\xi+\zeta}$. By Remark 4.2, we see that $uK_{\xi+\zeta} \in \mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_{\theta}$.

6.2. Lowest weight terms. Recall the notion of height defined in Section 2.1. Here, we use a version of height with respect to a subset τ of π . In particular, given a weight $\beta = \sum_{\alpha_i \in \pi} m_i \alpha_i$, set $\operatorname{ht}_{\tau}(\beta) = \sum_{\alpha_i \in \tau} m_i$. Consider a weight $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$ and let $b = \sum_{\operatorname{wt}(I) = \beta} B_I a_I$ be an element of

Consider a weight $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$ and let $b = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} B_I a_I$ be an element of \mathcal{B}_{θ} where each $a_I \in \mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_{\theta}$. Set \tilde{b} equal to the element of \mathcal{B}_{θ} so that $\mathcal{P}(\tilde{b}) = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I$ as constructed in Proposition 4.3. Assume that, in addition, there exists a subset π' of $\text{Supp}(\beta)$ so that $\text{ht}_{\tau}(\beta) = 2$ where $\tau = \text{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \pi'$. By the discussion at the end of Section 4.3, \tilde{b} is contained in a sum of spaces of the form

$$G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\eta+\gamma}U^+_{\theta(-\lambda)-\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'},$$

where $\beta, \lambda, \eta, \gamma, \gamma'$ satisfy the conditions of Lemma 4.1. We can express \tilde{b} as a sum of four terms a_0, a_1, a_2 , and a_3 where

- $a_3 = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I$,
- $a_2 \in \sum_{\delta \in Q^+(\pi')\setminus\{0\}} G^-_{-\beta+\delta} U^0 U^+,$
- $a_1 \in \sum_{\text{ht}_{\tau}(\delta)=1} G^{-}_{-\delta} U^0 U^+,$
- $a_0 \in \sum_{\delta \in Q^+(\pi')} G^-_{-\delta} U^0 U^+$.

We will be using terms of the form \tilde{b} associated to weights β that live in special strongly orthogonal θ -systems in order to construct the quantum Cartan element at β . A crucial part of the construction relies on understanding when a summand of minimal l-weight of carefully chosen elements in $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector. We present three lemmas that analyze properties of such (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vectors. These results will eventually be applied to a_0, a_1 , and a_2 with respect to particular choices of \tilde{b} .

The first lemma addresses properties of (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vectors contained in $G^-_{-\beta+\delta}U^0U^+$ where $\delta \in Q^+(\pi')$ and $0 \le \delta < \beta$. Note that in the context of this lemma, $\delta = \lambda + \gamma$. Moreover, the weights λ, γ , and γ' in this lemma satisfy similar conditions to those of Lemma 4.1.

Lemma 6.2. Let $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$ and let π' be a subset of $Orth(\beta) \cap Supp(\beta)$. Let λ, γ, γ' be three elements in $Q^+(\pi)$ such that

- (i) $\lambda \leq \beta$.
- (ii) $\gamma \leq \beta \lambda$, $\gamma \leq \theta(-\lambda)$, and $\lambda + \gamma \in Q^+(\pi')$.
- (iii) $0 \le \gamma' \le \gamma$

If $G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'}$ contains a nonzero (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector, then $\lambda = \gamma = \gamma' = 0$ and $G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'} = U^-_{-\beta}$.

Proof. Let g be a nonzero element of $G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}$ so that $gK_{-\beta+2\gamma'}$ is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector. Note that the assumption $\lambda + \gamma \in Q^+(\pi')$ combined with the fact that both λ and γ are in $Q^+(\pi)$, forces both λ , γ to be in $Q^+(\pi')$. Since $\gamma' \leq \gamma$, we also have $\gamma' \in Q^+(\pi')$.

Set $\xi = (\beta - 2\gamma')/2$. Recall that we can make G^- into a $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module, denoted $G^-(2\xi)$, using the twisted adjoint action $\mathrm{ad}_{2\xi}$ (Section 3.2). Moreover, $G^-(2\xi)$ and $G^-K_{-2\xi}$ are isomorphic as (U^-) -modules where the action on the latter space is via the ordinary adjoint action. Hence g is an $(\mathrm{ad}_{2\xi}U_{\pi'})$ lowest weight vector, and, by the discussion in Section 3.2, g generates a finite-dimensional $(\mathrm{ad}_{2\xi}U_{\pi'})$ -submodule of $G^-(2\xi)$. The fact that this is a twisted action implies that the weight of g viewed

as a vector in the $(ad_{2\xi}U_q(\mathfrak{g}))$ -module $G^-(2\xi)$ is

$$\xi - \beta + \lambda + \gamma = -\beta/2 + \lambda + \gamma - \gamma'$$
.

Upon restricting to the action of $U_{\pi'}$, the weight of g is $\lambda + \gamma - \gamma'$ since $\lambda, \gamma, \gamma' \in Q^+(\pi')$ and $\tilde{\beta} = 0$. Note that $\gamma - \gamma' \geq 0$ and $\lambda \geq 0$. Hence $\lambda + \gamma - \gamma' \geq 0$. On the other hand, g is a lowest weight vector, hence its weight must be nonpositive. This forces $\lambda + \gamma - \gamma' = 0$ and so $\lambda = \gamma - \gamma' = 0$. Since $\gamma' \leq \gamma \leq \theta(-\lambda) = 0$, we also have $\gamma = \gamma' = 0$. The final equality of weight spaces of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ follows upon replacing λ, γ , and γ' with 0.

The second lemma focuses on understanding (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vectors contained in $G_{-\delta}^-U^0$ where $\delta \in Q^+(\pi')$. In the notation of this lemma, δ corresponds to $\beta - \lambda - \gamma$.

Lemma 6.3. Let $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$ and let π' be a subset of $Orth(\beta) \cap Supp(\beta)$. Let λ, γ, γ' be three elements in $Q^+(\pi)$ such that

- (i) $0 < \lambda < \beta$.
- (ii) $\gamma \leq \beta \lambda$, $\gamma \leq \theta(-\lambda)$ and $\beta \lambda \gamma \in Q^+(\pi')$.
- (iii) $\gamma' < \gamma$ and $\gamma' \in Q^+(\pi')$.

If $G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'}$ contains a nonzero (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector, then $\gamma'=0$, $\beta=\lambda+\gamma$, and

$$G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'}=\mathbb{C}(q)K_{-\beta}.$$

Proof. Let g be a nonzero element of $G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}$ so that $gK_{-\beta+2\gamma'}$ is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector. Assumption (ii) ensures that $G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma} \subset G^-_{\pi'}$.

Set $\xi = (\beta - 2\gamma')/2$. It follows from Section 3.2, that $\tilde{\xi} \in P^+(\pi')$ and the weight of g is $-\tilde{\xi} + w_{\pi'}\tilde{\xi} = -\xi + w_{\pi'}\xi$ where $w_{\pi'} = w(\pi')_0$. Hence, the assumptions on $gK_{-2\xi}$ ensure that

(6.3)
$$\beta - \lambda - \gamma = \xi - w_{\pi'}\xi = \frac{1}{2} \left((\beta - 2\gamma') - w_{\pi'}(\beta - 2\gamma') \right).$$

Since $\tilde{\beta} = 0$, we must have $\tilde{\xi} - w_{\pi'}\tilde{\xi} = -2\tilde{\gamma}' + w_{\pi'}2\tilde{\gamma}'$. But $\tilde{\xi} \in P^+(\pi')$ and $\gamma' \in Q^+(\pi')$ yields a contradiction unless $\xi = \tilde{\xi} = -2\tilde{\gamma}' = -2\gamma' = 0$. Hence g has weight $\tilde{\xi} - w_{\pi'}\tilde{\xi}$ which equals zero. This in turn implies that $\beta - \lambda - \gamma = 0$, and $G^-_{\beta+\lambda+\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'} = G^-_0K_{-\beta} = \mathbb{C}(q)K_{-\beta}$.

The third lemma in the series also analyzes properties of (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vectors contained in $G^-_{\delta}U^0$ with $\delta \in Q^+(\pi')$ where again $\delta = \beta - \lambda - \gamma$. However, in contrast to Lemmas 6.2 and 6.3, we assume that $\gamma' \notin Q^+(\pi')$. In addition, we add assumptions to β that correspond to some of the properties of roots in the set Γ_{θ} of Theorem 2.7.

Lemma 6.4. Let $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$ and set $\pi' = \operatorname{Orth}(\beta) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$. Assume that $\operatorname{ht}_{\pi \setminus \pi'} \beta = 2$ and θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$. Let λ, γ, γ' be three weights in $Q^+(\pi)$ satisfying

- (i) $0 < \lambda \leq \beta$ and $\lambda \in Q^+(\pi \setminus \pi_\theta)$.
- (ii) $\gamma \leq \beta \lambda$, $\gamma \leq \theta(-\lambda)$, and $\beta \lambda \gamma \in Q^+(\pi')$.
- (iii) $\gamma' \leq \gamma$ and $\gamma' \notin Q^+(\pi')$.
- (iv) $-w_{\pi'} = -w(\pi')_0$ restricts to a permutation on $\pi_{\theta} \cap \pi'$.

If $G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'}$ contains a nonzero (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector, then $\theta(-\lambda)+\gamma-2\gamma'\in Q^+(\pi_\theta)$, $\lambda+\gamma-2\gamma'\in Q(\pi)^\theta$ and

(6.4)
$$G_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}^{-}U_{\theta(-\lambda)-\gamma}^{+}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'} \subseteq U^{-}\mathcal{M}^{+}\mathcal{T}_{\theta}.$$

Proof. Let g be a nonzero element of $G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}$ so that $gK_{-\beta+2\gamma'}$ is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector. We start the argument as in the proof of Lemma 6.3. Using the assumption $\beta-\lambda-\gamma\in Q^+(\pi')$, we see that $G^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}\subset G^-_{\pi'}$. The weight $\xi=(\beta-2\gamma')/2$ satisfies $\tilde{\xi}\in P^+(\pi')$. Also, the weight of g is $-\tilde{\xi}+w_{\pi'}\tilde{\xi}=-\xi+w_{\pi'}\xi$. In particular, just as in Lemma 6.3, the assumptions on $gK_{-2\xi}$ ensure that (6.3) is true.

We are assuming $\gamma' \notin Q^+(\pi')$ (see (iii)). This combined with the assumptions that both γ' and γ are in $Q^+(\pi)$ and $\gamma' \leq \gamma$, ensure that γ is also not in $Q^+(\pi')$. Suppose that $\lambda \in Q^+(\pi')$. The fact that $\lambda \in Q^+(\pi \setminus \pi_\theta)$ implies that $\theta(-\lambda) \in Q^+(\pi)$. Since θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$, it follows that $\theta(-\lambda)$ is in $Q^+(\pi')$. By (ii) and (iii), we have $\gamma' \leq \theta(-\lambda)$ which forces $\gamma' \in Q^+(\pi')$, a contradiction of (iii). Hence $\lambda \notin Q^+(\pi')$. Therefore, the assumption on the height of β combined with $\beta - \lambda - \gamma \in Q^+(\pi')$ (assumption (ii)) yields

$$\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\lambda) = \operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\gamma) = \operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\gamma') = 1.$$

Thus $\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash\pi'}(\beta-2\gamma')=0$. Since $\gamma'\leq\gamma$ and $\gamma'\leq\beta-\lambda$, it follows that $\beta-2\gamma'\geq0$ and hence $\beta-2\gamma'\in Q^+(\pi')$. Hence, by assumption (iv) and (6.3), we have

$$\operatorname{ht}_{\pi \setminus \pi_{\theta}}(\beta - \lambda - \gamma) = \operatorname{ht}_{\pi \setminus \pi_{\theta}}((\beta - 2\gamma')/2 - w_{\pi'}(\beta - 2\gamma')/2) = \operatorname{ht}_{\pi \setminus \pi_{\theta}}(\beta - 2\gamma').$$

Thus

$$ht_{\pi \setminus \pi_{\theta}}(\lambda + \gamma - 2\gamma') = 0.$$

It follows from assumptions (ii) and (iii) that $\gamma' \leq \theta(-\lambda)$ and so $2\gamma' \leq \theta(-\lambda) + \gamma$. Therefore,

$$\theta(-\lambda) + \gamma - 2\gamma' > 0.$$

Since $\lambda \in Q^+(\pi \setminus \pi_\theta)$, we have that $\theta(-\lambda) - \lambda \in (p(\lambda) - \lambda) + Q^+(\pi_\theta)$. Recall that p permutes the roots of $\pi \setminus \pi_\theta$. Hence $\operatorname{ht}_{\pi \setminus \pi_\theta}(\theta(-\lambda) - \lambda) = 0$ and so

$$0 = \operatorname{ht}_{\pi \setminus \pi_{\theta}}(\lambda + \gamma - 2\gamma') = \operatorname{ht}_{\pi \setminus \pi_{\theta}}(\theta(-\lambda) + \gamma - 2\gamma').$$

This equality combined with the positivity of the weight $\theta(-\lambda) + \gamma - 2\gamma'$ guarantees that $\alpha_i \notin \text{Supp}(\theta(-\lambda) + \gamma - 2\gamma')$ for each $\alpha_i \in \pi \setminus \pi_\theta$. Thus

(6.5)
$$\theta(-\lambda) + \gamma - 2\gamma' \in Q^+(\pi_\theta)$$

and so

$$\lambda + \gamma - 2\gamma' = (\theta(\lambda) + \lambda) + \theta(-\lambda) + \gamma - 2\gamma' \in Q(\pi)^{\theta}.$$

Therefore,

$$(6.6) G_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}^{-}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'} = U_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}^{-}K_{-\lambda-\gamma+2\gamma'} \subseteq U_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}^{-}\mathcal{T}_{\theta}.$$

Now $\gamma' \leq \gamma$ and $\gamma \leq \theta(-\lambda)$ ensure that $0 \leq \theta(-\lambda) - \gamma \leq \theta(-\lambda) + \gamma - 2\gamma'$. Thus, (6.5) implies that $\theta(-\lambda) - \gamma$ is also in $Q^+(\pi_\theta)$. Hence $U^+_{\theta(-\lambda)-\gamma} \subseteq \mathcal{M}^+$. This result combined with (6.6) yields (6.4).

6.3. **Highest weight terms.** In this section, we analyze certain elements in subspaces of the form U^+K_{ζ} that also belong to $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{B}_{\theta}:\mathcal{B}_{\theta}\cap U_{\pi'})$. These results will be applied to the term $a_2\in\sum_{\delta\in Q^+(\pi')}G^-_{-\delta}U^0U^+$ of Section 6.2 for special choices of \tilde{b} .

Lemma 6.5. Let $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$ such that $\beta - \alpha_i \notin Q^+(\pi_\theta)$ and $\beta + \alpha_i \notin Q^+(\pi_\theta)$ for all $\alpha_i \in \text{Supp}(\beta)$. Set $\pi' = \text{Orth}(\beta) \cap \text{Supp}(\beta)$ and assume that θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$. Let $X \in U^+K_{-\beta}$. If $X \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{B}_\theta : \mathcal{B}_\theta \cap U_{\pi'})$, then $X \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{\mathcal{B}_\theta \cap U_{\pi'}}$.

Proof. It follows from the defining relations (in particular, see (4.5)) of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ that

$$[F_i, X] \in U^+ K_{-\beta + \alpha_i} + U^+ K_{-\beta - \alpha_i}.$$

The assumptions on $\beta \pm \alpha_i$ ensure that neither $K_{-\beta+\alpha_i}$ nor $K_{-\beta-\alpha_i}$ is in \mathcal{T}_{θ} for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. It follows that $\mathcal{P}([F_i, X]) = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. A similar argument shows that $\mathcal{P}([K_i^{-1}, X]) = 0$. Note that

$$[\theta_q(F_iK_i)K_i^{-1}, X] \in U^+K_{-\beta-\alpha_i}$$

for all $\alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_\theta$. Hence we also have $\mathcal{P}([\theta_q(F_iK_i)K_i^{-1}, X]) = 0$ for these choices of α_i . It follows that $\mathcal{P}([B_i, X]) = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$.

If $\alpha_i \in \pi'$, then $B_i \in U_{\pi'}$ since θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$. Hence, by assumption, $[B_i, X] \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$ for all i such that $\alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_{\theta}$. It follows from Corollary 4.4 that

$$[B_i, X] = 0$$
 for all $\alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_\theta$.

Similar arguments show that $\mathcal{P}([E_i, X]) = \mathcal{P}([F_i, X]) = \mathcal{P}([K_i^{\pm 1}, X]) = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi_\theta \cap \pi'$. Hence $[E_i, X] = [F_i, X] = [K_i^{\pm 1}, X] = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi_\theta \cap \pi'$. It follows that [b, X] = 0 for all $b \in \mathcal{B}_\theta \cap U_{\pi'}$.

Recall that in the fifth case of Theorem 2.7, $\beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ where $\alpha'_{\beta} \in \pi_{\theta}$, $\alpha'_{\beta} \neq \alpha_{\beta}$, $w_{\beta} = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}, \alpha'_{\beta}\})_0$ and α'_{β} is strongly orthogonal to all simple roots in $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}, \alpha'_{\beta}\}$. It follows that $\alpha'_{\beta} \notin \operatorname{Supp}(w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta})$ and so α'_{β} is also not in $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta - \alpha'_{\beta})$. Set $\beta' = \beta - \alpha'_{\beta}$. Since $\theta(\beta) = -\beta$ and $\theta(\alpha'_{\beta}) = \alpha'_{\beta}$, we have $\theta(\beta - \alpha'_{\beta}) = -\beta - \alpha'_{\beta}$ and so $\theta(\beta') = -\beta' - 2\alpha'_{\beta}$. Thus β' satisfies the following conditions:

- $\theta(\beta') \in -\beta' Q^+(\pi_\theta)$.
- $\operatorname{Supp}(\theta(-\beta') \beta') \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta') = \emptyset.$

Note that if $\theta(\beta) = -\beta$, then β also satisfies the above two properties (with β' replaced by β). We use these two properties as assumptions on β in the next lemma so that we can eventually apply it to both roots β satisfying $\theta(\beta) = -\beta$ and to roots of the form β' derived from case (5) of Theorem 2.7.

Lemma 6.6. Let $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$ such that $\theta(-\beta) - \beta \in Q^+(\pi_\theta)$ and $\operatorname{Supp}(\theta(-\beta) - \beta) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) = \emptyset$. Set $\pi' = \operatorname{Orth}(\beta) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$. Assume that

- $\pi' \subseteq \operatorname{Orth}(\theta(-\beta))$.
- θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$.
- $\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\beta) = 2$.
- $(\pi_{\theta} \cup S) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \subseteq \pi'$.

Let

$$X \in \sum_{\eta \in Q^+(\pi')} \sum_{0 \le \gamma \le \beta} U^+_{\theta(-\beta+\gamma)-\gamma-\eta} K_{-\beta}.$$

If $X \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{B}_{\theta} : \mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'})$, then $X \in U_{\theta(-\beta)}^+ K_{-\beta} + \mathbb{C}(q)K_{-\beta}$ and $X \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$.

Proof. Assume $X \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{B}_{\theta} : \mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'})$. Since $\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \pi'} \beta = 2$ and $\pi_{\theta} \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \subseteq \pi'$, it follows that $\beta \pm \alpha_i \notin \pi_{\theta}$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi$. Hence by Lemma 6.5, $X \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{\mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'}}$.

Let $\gamma \in Q^+(\pi)$ and $\eta \in Q^+(\pi')$ such that in its expression as a sum of weight vectors, X has a nonzero contribution from $U^+_{\theta(-\beta+\gamma)-\gamma-\eta}K_{-\beta}$. Note that this ensures that

$$\theta(-\beta + \gamma) - \gamma - \eta \in Q^+(\pi).$$

Write $\gamma = \gamma_1' + \gamma_2'$ with $\gamma_2' \in Q^+(\pi')$ and $\gamma_1' \in Q^+(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \pi')$. Since θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$, we have $\theta(\gamma_2') \in Q(\pi')$. The fact that $\pi_\theta \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \subseteq \pi'$ forces $\theta(-\gamma) \in p(\gamma_1') + Q^+(\pi_\theta) \subseteq p(\gamma_1') + Q^+(\pi')$. Hence

$$\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\gamma) = \operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\theta(-\gamma)).$$

By the hypothesis of the lemma, $\mu = \theta(-\beta) - \beta$ satisfies $\operatorname{Supp}(\mu) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) = \emptyset$. The fact that θ restricts to an automorphism of $\Delta(\pi')$ combined with the fact that $\pi_{\theta} \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \subset \pi'$ guarantees that

$$\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\beta) = \operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\theta(-\beta)).$$

Thus by our assumptions on the height of β and the results of the previous paragraph, we observe that

$$\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\setminus \pi'}(\gamma) \in \{0,1\}$$

and so

$$\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash\pi'}(\theta(-\gamma)+\gamma)\in\{0,2\}.$$

It follows that either $\theta(-\beta+\gamma)-\gamma-\eta\in Q^+(\pi')$ or $\theta(-\gamma)+\gamma+\eta\in Q^+(\pi')$. Thus

$$X \in \sum_{\zeta \in Q^+(\pi'), \zeta < \beta} U^+_{\beta + \mu - \zeta} K_{-\beta} + \sum_{\zeta \in Q^+(\pi'), \zeta < \beta} U^+_{\zeta} K_{-\beta}.$$

Note that [b, X] = 0 for $b \in \mathcal{M}_{\pi'}$ ensures that each weight summand of X also commutes with all $b \in \mathcal{M}_{\pi'}$. Thus each weight summand of X generates a trivial (ad $\mathcal{M}_{\pi'}$)-module.

Recall that \mathcal{B}_{θ} is invariant under the action of κ_{θ} (see Section 4), which is conjugate to the Chevalley antiautomorphism κ , defined in Section 3.4. Applying κ_{θ} to X yields an element $Y \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{\mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'}}$ such that

$$Y \in \sum_{\zeta \in Q^+(\pi'), \zeta < \beta} G^-_{-\beta - \mu + \zeta} K_{-\beta} + \sum_{\zeta \in Q^+(\pi'), \zeta < \beta} G^-_{-\zeta} K_{-\beta}.$$

Since $X \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{B}_{\theta} : \mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'})$ so is Y and hence $[B_i, Y] = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. By the previous paragraph, we also have $Y \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{\mathcal{M}_{\pi'}}$.

Suppose that $Y_{-\beta-\mu+\zeta}K_{-\beta} \in G^-_{-\beta-\mu+\zeta}K_{-\beta}$ is a nonzero (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector for some $\zeta \in Q^+(\pi')$ with $\zeta < \beta$. Since $(\mu, \alpha) = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \pi'$, it follows that $Y_{-\beta-\mu+\zeta}K_{-\beta-\mu}$ is also a nonzero (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector. Hence, we may apply Lemma 6.2 with $\theta(-\beta) = \beta + \mu$ playing the role of β , ζ playing the role

of λ and $\gamma = \gamma' = 0$. This forces $\zeta = 0$ and so $Y_{-\beta - \mu + \zeta}K_{-\beta} \in G^-_{-\beta - \mu}K_{-\beta}$. Now suppose that $Y_{-\zeta}K_{-\beta} \in G^-_{-\zeta}K_{-\beta}$ is a nonzero (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector for some $\zeta \in Q^+(\pi')$ with $\zeta < \beta$. Applying Lemma 6.3 with $\gamma = \gamma' = 0$ and $\lambda = \beta - \zeta$ yields $\zeta = 0$ and so $Y_{-\zeta}K_{-\beta} \in \mathbb{C}(q)K_{-\beta}$.

Now choose δ maximal so that

$$(6.7) Y \in Y_{-\delta}K_{-\beta} + \sum_{\varepsilon \neq \delta} G_{-\xi}^- K_{-\beta}.$$

By Lemma 6.1, $Y_{-\delta}K_{-\beta}$ is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector. Hence by the previous paragraph, either $\delta = \beta + \mu$ or $\delta = 0$. If $\delta = 0$, then $Y \in \mathbb{C}(q)K_{-\beta}$ and thus so is X and the lemma follows. Thus, we assume that $\delta = \beta + \mu = \theta(-\beta)$.

Since $\delta = \beta + \mu$, (6.7) can be rewritten as

$$Y \in Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta} + Y_{-\delta'}K_{-\beta} + \sum_{\xi \not> \delta'} G_{-\xi}^-K_{-\beta},$$

where $Y_{-\delta} = Y_{-\beta-\mu} \in G^-_{-\beta-\mu}$ is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector and $Y_{-\delta'} \in G^-_{-\delta'}$ with $\delta' \not\geq \beta + \mu$. By Section 3.2, $Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta}$ generates a finite-dimensional (ad $_{\beta}U_{\pi'}$)-module. Since $\beta + \mu$ restricts to 0 with respect to π' , this module is trivial and so

(6.8)
$$(\operatorname{ad}_{\beta} E_i)(Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta}) = 0 \text{ for each } \alpha_i \in \pi'.$$

We also have $(ad_{\beta}E_i)K_{-\beta} = (ad\ E_i)K_{-\beta} = 0$ and, thus

$$[E_i K_i^{-1}, Y_{-\beta-\mu} K_{-\beta}] = ((\text{ad } E_i) Y_{-\beta-\mu} K_{-\beta}) K_i^{-1}$$

for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$.

It follows from (6.8), Section 3.2 (in particular, the inequality (3.4) and the related discussion), and the definition of the adjoint action in Section 3.1 that

$$\deg_{\mathcal{F}}([E_i, Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta}]) = \deg_{\mathcal{F}}(((\operatorname{ad} E_i)Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta})) < \deg_{\mathcal{F}}K_{-\beta}$$

for all $\alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_{\theta}$. Since θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$, it follows that $\theta_q(F_iK_i) \in (\text{ad } \mathcal{M}_{\pi'}^+)E_{p(i)}$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_{\theta}$. Recall that $Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta}$ is $(\text{ad } \mathcal{M}_{\pi'})$ invariant. Hence, we also have

$$\deg_{\mathcal{F}}[\theta_q(F_iK_i), Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta}] < \deg_{\mathcal{F}}K_{-\beta}$$

for all $\alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_\theta$. On the other hand, $[F_i K_i, G^- K_{-\beta}] \subseteq G^- K_{-\beta}$ and so

$$\deg_{\mathcal{F}}[F_i K_i, G^- K_{-\beta}] = \deg_{\mathcal{F}} K_{-\beta}.$$

Hence, if $[F_i, Y_{-\delta'}K_{-\beta}] \neq 0$, then

$$[B_i, Y] = [F_i, Y_{-\delta'}K_{-\beta}] + \text{terms of lower degree with respect to } \mathcal{F}.$$

But $[B_i, Y] = 0$, and so, we must have $[F_i, Y_{-\delta'}K_{-\beta}] = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_\theta$.

Recall that each weight summand of Y generates a trivial (ad $\mathcal{M}_{\pi'}$)-module. This fact combined with the above paragraph yields $[F_i, Y_{-\delta'}K_{-\beta}] = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Thus, $Y_{-\delta'}K_{-\beta}$ must be an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector. Since $\delta' < \beta + \mu$, it follows from the arguments above that $\delta' = 0$. Therefore,

$$Y \in Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta} + \mathbb{C}(q)K_{-\beta}.$$

Applying κ_{θ} to every term in the above expression yields the desired analogous assertion for X.

Note that $X \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$ if and only if $Y \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$. By assumptions on π' and β , it follows that $K_{-\beta} \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$ and $Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta}$ commutes with all elements of $\mathcal{T} \cap U_{\pi'}$. Hence it is sufficient to show that $Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta} \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$. We have already shown that $[a, Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta}] = 0$ for all $a \in \mathcal{M}_{\pi'}$ and all $a = F_i$ with $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Consider $\alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_\theta$. Now $[B_i, Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta}]$ can be written as a sum of terms of weights

$$-\beta - \mu - \alpha_i$$
, $-\beta - \mu$, and $-\beta - \mu - \theta(\alpha_i)$.

But $[B_i, Y_{-\beta-\mu}] = [B_i, Y] = 0$ and so each of these weight terms must be zero. In particular, the term of weight $-\beta - \mu - \theta(\alpha_i)$, which is $[\theta_q(F_iK_i)K_i^{-1}, Y_{-\beta-\mu}K_{-\beta}]$, equals zero for all $\alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_\theta$. The lemma now follows from the fact that $U_{\pi'}$ is generated by $\mathcal{M}_{\pi'}$, $F_i, \alpha_i \in \pi'$, $U^0 \cap U_{\pi'}$, and $\theta_q(F_iK_i)K_i^{-1}, \alpha_i \in \pi' \setminus \pi_\theta$.

6.4. **Determining commutativity.** Let τ be a subset of π . For each $m \geq 0$, set

$$G_{(\tau,m)}^- = \sum_{\operatorname{ht}_\tau(\delta) = m} G_{-\delta}^- \quad \text{and} \quad U_{(\tau,m)}^+ = \sum_{\operatorname{ht}_\tau(\delta) = m} U_{\delta}^+.$$

Note that

$$G^-_{(\tau,m)} \ \cap \ G^-_{(\tau,j)} = 0$$

whenever $j \neq m$. We also have

$$(6.9) \quad [K_i^{\pm 1}, G_{(\tau,j)}^-] \subseteq G_{(\tau,j)}^-, \ [F_i, G_{(\tau,j)}^-] \subseteq G_{(\tau,j)}^- \text{ and } [E_i, G_{(\tau,j)}^-] \subseteq G_{(\tau,j)}^- U^0 U^+$$

for all $j \geq 0$ and $\alpha_i \in \pi \setminus \tau$. It follows that for each j, the space $G_{(\tau,j)}^-U^0U^+$ is preserved by the action of (ad $U_{\pi \setminus \tau}$). Thus, if θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$ where π' is a subset of $\pi \setminus \tau$, then

$$[B_i, G^-_{(\tau,j)}] \subseteq G^-_{(\tau,j)} U^0 U^+$$

for all $j \geq 0$ and $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Analogous statements hold for $G^-_{(\tau,j)}$ replaced by $U^+_{(\tau,j)}$. Moreover, we have

$$[B_i, G^-_{(\tau,j)}U^0U^+_{(\tau,m)}] \subseteq G^-_{(\tau,j)}U^0U^+_{(\tau,m)}$$

for all nonnegative integers j, m and all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$.

Now suppose that β is a positive weight, π' a subset of $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$, and $\tau = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \pi'$. Assume further that $\operatorname{ht}_{\tau}(\beta) = 2$. Note that

$$\sum_{\delta \in Q(\pi')} G^-_{-\beta+\delta} = G^-_{(\tau,2)} \text{ and } \sum_{\delta \in Q(\pi')} G^-_{-\delta} = G^-_{(\tau,0)}.$$

Proposition 6.7. Let $\beta \in Q^+(\pi)$ such that $\theta(-\beta) - \beta \in Q^+(\pi_\theta)$ and $\operatorname{Supp}(\theta(-\beta) - \beta) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) = \emptyset$. Set $\pi' = \operatorname{Orth}(\beta) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$ and assume that $\pi' \subseteq \operatorname{Orth}(\theta(-\beta))$. Assume that

- θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$.
- $\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\beta) = 2.$
- $(\pi_{\theta} \cup \mathcal{S}) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \subseteq \pi'$.
- $-w_{\pi'} = -w(\pi')_0$ restricts to a permutation on $\pi_{\theta} \cap \pi'$.

Let $a = \sum_{I, \text{wt}(I) \leq \beta} B_I a_I$ be an element of \mathcal{B}_{θ} where each $a_I \in \mathcal{M}_{\theta}^+$ and a_I is a scalar whenever $\text{wt}(I) = \beta$, such that the following two conditions hold:

- (i) $\mathcal{P}(a) = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I$.
- (ii) $\mathcal{P}(a) \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$.

Then

$$a \in \mathcal{P}(a) + G^{-}_{(\tau,1)}U^{0}U^{+}_{(\tau,1)} + \mathbb{C}(q)K_{-\beta} + X_{\theta(-\beta)}K_{\theta(-\beta)-\beta},$$

where $\tau = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \pi'$ and $X_{\theta(-\beta)} \in G_{\theta(-\beta)}^+$. Moreover,

$$a \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{\mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'}}, \quad X_{\theta(-\beta)} K_{\theta(-\beta)-\beta} \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}},$$

the lowest weight summand of a is $\mathcal{P}(a)$ (which is also the lowest l-weight summand of a), and the highest weight summand of a is the element $X_{\theta(-\beta)}K_{\theta(-\beta)-\beta}$ in $G_{\theta(-\beta)}^+K_{\theta(-\beta)-\beta}$.

Proof. The fact that θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$ ensures that $B_i \in U_{\pi'}$ for all i with $\alpha_i \in \pi'$. Hence $[B_i, \mathcal{P}(a)] = 0$ for all $\alpha_i \in \pi'$.

We may assume that $a = \tilde{b}$ where $b = \sum_{I, \text{wt}(I) = \beta} B_I a_I$ as in Proposition 4.3. By the discussion at the end of Section 4.3, we may write

(6.10)
$$a = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I + \sum_{\lambda',\lambda,\gamma,\gamma'} b_{-\beta+\lambda'} u_{\lambda,\gamma} K_{-\beta+2\gamma'},$$

where each index of four weights $\lambda, \eta, \gamma, \gamma'$ with $\eta = \lambda' - \lambda - \gamma$ satisfy the conditions of Lemma 4.1 with respect to β and $u_{\lambda,\gamma} \in U_{\theta(-\lambda)-\gamma}^+$. Set $\tau = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \pi'$. As in Section 6.2, a can be expressed as a sum $a = a_0 + a_1 + a_2 + a_3$ where

$$a_3 = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I,$$

$$a_2 = \sum_{\lambda' \in O^+(\pi') \setminus \{0\}} \sum_{\lambda, \gamma, \gamma'} b_{-\beta + \lambda'} u_{\lambda, \gamma} K_{-\beta + 2\gamma'} \in G^-_{(\tau, 2)} U^0 U^+,$$

$$a_1 = \sum_{\operatorname{ht}_{\tau}(\beta - \lambda') = 1} \sum_{\lambda, \gamma, \gamma'} b_{-\beta + \lambda'} u_{\lambda, \gamma} K_{-\beta + 2\gamma'} \in G^-_{(\tau, 1)} U^0 U^+,$$

$$a_0 = \sum_{\beta - \lambda' \in Q^+(\pi')} \sum_{\lambda, \gamma, \gamma'} b_{-\beta + \lambda'} u_{\lambda, \gamma} K_{-\beta + 2\gamma'} \in G^-_{(\tau, 0)} U^0 U^+.$$

Given $\alpha_j \in \pi'$, we have $[B_j, a] = [B_j, a_2 + a_1 + a_0] \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$ and so, by (6.9), $[B_j, a] = [B_j, a_2 + a_1 + a_0]$ is an element of $G_{(\tau, 2)}^- U^0 U^+ + G_{(\tau, 1)}^- U^0 U^+ + G_{(\tau, 0)}^- U^0 U^+$. Since $a \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$, we also have $a_2 + a_1 + a_0 \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{B}_{\theta} : \mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'})$.

The fact that $\mathcal{P}(a) = \mathcal{P}(a_3) = a_3$ (i.e., assumption (i)) ensures that $u_{\lambda,\gamma}K_{\lambda'+2\gamma'} \notin \mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_\theta$ for any choice of $(\lambda', \lambda, \gamma, \gamma')$ with $b_{-\beta+\lambda'}u_{\lambda,\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'} \neq 0$. Thus

$$\mathcal{P}(a_2) = \mathcal{P}(a_1) = \mathcal{P}(a_0) = 0.$$

Let $(\lambda'_0, \lambda_0, \gamma_0, \gamma'_0)$ be chosen so that $b_{-\beta+\lambda'_0} u_{\lambda_0, \gamma_0} K_{-\beta+2\gamma'_0} \neq 0$ and $\beta - \lambda'_0$ is maximal. It follows that

(6.11)
$$a_2 + a_1 + a_0 \in b_{-\beta + \lambda'_0} u_{\lambda_0, \gamma_0} K_{-\beta + 2\gamma'_0} + \sum_{\delta \neq \beta - \lambda'_0} G_{-\delta}^- U^0 U^+.$$

By Lemma 6.1, $b_{-\beta+\lambda'_0}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'_0}$ is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector.

Suppose that λ' and $\bar{\lambda}'$ are two weights such that $\operatorname{ht}_{\tau}(\beta - \lambda') > \operatorname{ht}_{\tau}(\beta - \bar{\lambda}')$. It follows that $\beta - \bar{\lambda}' \not\geq \beta - \lambda'$. Hence if $a_2 \neq 0$, we can always choose $(\lambda'_0, \lambda_0, \gamma_0, \gamma'_0)$

as in (6.11) so that $b_{-\beta+\lambda'_0}u_{\lambda_0,\gamma_0}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'_0}$ is a nonzero biweight summand of a_2 . In other words, $\lambda'_0 > 0$ and $\lambda'_0 \in Q^+(\pi') \setminus \{0\}$. Recall that the four-tuple $(\lambda_0, \eta_0, \gamma_0, \gamma'_0)$ satisfies the conditions of Lemma 4.1 where $\eta_0 = \lambda'_0 - \lambda_0 - \gamma_0$. Applying Lemma 6.2 to $\lambda_0 + \eta_0$ (instead of λ_0), γ_0 , γ'_0 , and β , we see that $\lambda_0 + \eta_0 = \gamma_0 = \gamma'_0 = 0$. But then $\lambda'_0 = 0$, a contradiction. Therefore, $a_2 = 0$. It follows that

$$a = a_3 + a_1 + a_0 \in \mathcal{P}(a) + G_{(\tau,1)}^- U^0 U^+ + G_{(\tau,0)}^- U^0 U^+.$$

We next argue that $a_1 \in G^-_{(\tau,1)}U^0U^+_{(\tau,1)}$. Consider a biweight summand d of a where $d = b_{-\beta+\lambda'}u_{\lambda,\gamma}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'}$. By the definition of a_1 , the assumption on the height of β and the fact that $\eta \in \mathcal{S} \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \subseteq \pi'$, we see that

(6.12)
$$\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\lambda + \gamma) = 1.$$

We can write $\lambda = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2$ where $\lambda_1 \in Q^+(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \pi')$ and $\lambda_2 \in Q^+(\pi')$. Since $\theta(-\beta) - \beta \in Q^+(\pi_\theta)$, $\operatorname{Supp}(\theta(-\beta) - \beta) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta) = \emptyset$ and θ restricts to an involution on $\Delta(\pi')$, it follows that

$$\theta(-\lambda) \in p(\lambda_1) + Q^+(\pi') + Q^+(\operatorname{Supp}(\theta(-\beta) - \beta)).$$

Hence

$$\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\lambda) = \operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash \pi'}(\theta(-\lambda)).$$

Now $\gamma \leq \theta(-\lambda)$. Since γ, λ , and $\theta(-\lambda)$ are all positive weights, we see from (6.12) that

$$\operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash\pi'}(\lambda) = \operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash\pi'}(\theta(-\lambda)) = \operatorname{ht}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\backslash\pi'}(\theta(-\lambda) - \gamma) = 1.$$

Thus $U^+_{\theta(-\lambda)-\gamma}\subseteq U^+_{(\tau,1)}$. Hence $u_{\lambda,\gamma}\in U^+_{(\tau,1)}$ and so $a_1\in G^-_{(\tau,1)}U^0U^+_{(\tau,1)}$, as claimed. Since $\pi_\theta\cap\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\subseteq\pi'$, we have $U^+_{(\tau,1)}\cap\mathcal{M}^+=0$. Consider $b\in\mathcal{B}_\theta\cap U_{\pi'}$ and recall that $[b,a_3]=0$. It follows that $[b,a_1+a_0]\in\mathcal{B}_\theta$. By the discussion preceding the proposition, $[b,a_1]$ is also in $G^-_{(\tau,1)}U^0U^+_{(\tau,1)}$. On the other hand, $[b,a_0]\in G^-_{\pi'}U^0U^+$. Hence, if $[b,a_1]\neq 0$, then there exists ζ and ξ with $\operatorname{ht}_{\tau}(\zeta)=\operatorname{ht}_{\tau}(\xi)=1$ such that

$$[b, a_1 + a_0] = b' + \sum_{\delta \not> \zeta} G^-_{-\delta} U^0 U^+,$$

where b' is a nonzero element of $G^-_{\zeta}U^0U^+_{\xi}$. This contradicts Remark 4.2 since $[b, a_1 + a_0] \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$. Hence $[b, a_1] = 0$.

We have shown that $a_2 = 0$ and $a_1 \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{\mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'}}$. Hence $a_0 \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{B}_{\theta} : \mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'})$. In analogy to (6.11), a_0 satisfies

$$a_0 \in b_{-\beta + \lambda_1'} u_{\lambda_1, \gamma_1} K_{-\beta + 2\gamma_1'} + \sum_{\delta \ngeq \beta - \lambda_1'} G_{-\delta}^- U^0 U^+$$

for an appropriate choice of $\lambda'_1, \lambda_1, \gamma_1, \gamma'_1$. Using Lemma 4.1, we obtain that $b_{-\beta+\lambda'_1}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'_1}$ is an (ad $U_{\pi'}$) lowest weight vector. By definition of $a_0, \beta-\lambda'_1 \in Q^+(\pi')$. If $\gamma' \notin Q^+(\pi')$, then by Lemma 6.4, $b_{-\beta+\lambda'_1}u_{\lambda_1,\gamma_1}K_{-\beta+2\gamma'_1} \in U^-\mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_\theta$ contradicting the fact that $\mathcal{P}(a_0) = 0$. Therefore, $\gamma' \in Q^+(\pi')$. Applying Lemma 6.3 (with $\lambda_1 + \eta_1$ in the role of λ of the lemma) yields

$$b_{-\beta+\lambda_1'}K_{-\beta+2\gamma_1'} \in \mathbb{C}(q)K_{-\beta}.$$

Hence by the maximality of $\beta - \lambda'_1$, we see that $a_0 \in U^+K_{-\beta}$. By Lemma 6.6,

$$a_0 \in U_{\theta(-\beta)}^+ K_{-\beta} + \mathbb{C}(q) K_{-\beta}$$
 and $a_0 \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$.

Note that $K_{-\beta}$ and $K_{\theta(-\beta)}$ are both elements of $(U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$. Thus there exists an element $X_{\theta(-\beta)}$ in $G^+_{\theta(-\beta)} \cap (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$ such that

$$a_0 \in X_{\theta(-\beta)} K_{\theta(-\beta)-\beta} + \mathbb{C}(q) K_{-\beta}.$$

Since a_3 and a_0 are in $(U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi'}}$ and $a_1 \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{\mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'}}$, it follows that

$$a = a_3 + a_1 + a_0 \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{\mathcal{B}_\theta \cap U_{\pi'}}.$$

From (6.10) we see that $\mathcal{P}(a)$ is both the lowest weight term in the expansion of a as a sum of weight vectors and the lowest l-weight summand of a. Applying κ_{θ} , the version of the Chevalley antiautomorphism that preserves \mathcal{B}_{θ} , to a yields a nonzero element $\kappa_{\theta}(a)$ in \mathcal{B}_{θ} with

$$\mathcal{P}(\kappa_{\theta}(a)) = \mathcal{P}(\kappa_{\theta}(X_{\theta(-\beta)})),$$

where $X_{\theta(-\beta)}K_{\theta(-\beta)-\beta}$ is the contribution to a from $U_{\theta(-\beta)}^+K_{-\beta}$. By Corollary 4.4, $\mathcal{P}(\kappa_{\theta}(a))$ is nonzero. Hence $X_{\theta(-\beta)}K_{\theta(-\beta)-\beta} \neq 0$ and is the term of highest weight in the expansion of a as a sum of weight vectors.

7. Constructing Cartan subalgebras

We present the main result of the paper here, namely, the construction of quantum analogs of Cartan subalgebras (or, more precisely, their enveloping algebras) of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} where $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is a maximally split symmetric pair.

7.1. **Specialization.** Recall that \mathcal{B}_{θ} specializes to $U(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta})$ as q goes to 1 (Section 4.1). The next lemma sets up the basic tools needed to verify quantum Cartan subalgebras specialize to their classical counterparts as q goes to 1.

Lemma 7.1. Let $b = b_1 + C$ be an element of \mathcal{B}_{θ} such that

- $b_1 \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap \hat{U}$ and b_1 specializes to a nonzero element of $U(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta})$ as q goes to
- $C \in \sum_{\zeta,\xi} G^-_{-\zeta} U^0 U^+_{\xi}$ where each $\xi \notin Q^+(\pi_\theta)$ and $\zeta \notin Q^+(\pi_\theta)$.

Then $C \in (q-1)\hat{U}$ and b specializes to \bar{b}_1 as q goes to 1. Moreover, if $\kappa_{\theta}(b_1) = ab_1 + b_2$ where $b_2 \in \sum_{\xi \notin Q^+(\pi_{\theta})} G^-U^0U_{\xi}^+$ and a is a scalar, then a evaluates to a nonzero scalar in $\mathbb C$ at q=1 and $\kappa_{\theta}(b)=ab$.

Proof. The fact that $\xi \notin Q^+(\pi_\theta)$ ensures that $U_{\xi}^+ \cap \mathcal{M}^+ = 0$. Repeated applications of Lemma 4.1 show that $C \in \sum_{\xi \notin Q^+(\pi_\theta)} \mathcal{B}_{\theta} U^0 U_{\xi}^+$. Thus, the specialization of $(q-1)^s C$ cannot be a nonzero element of $U(\mathfrak{g}^\theta)$ for any s.

Choose s minimal such that $(q-1)^s b \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap \hat{U}$. The assumptions on b_1 force $s \geq 0$. Moreover, the minimality of s ensures that $(q-1)^s b$ specializes to a nonzero element of $U(\mathfrak{g})$. If s > 0, then $(q-1)^s b_1 \in (q-1)\hat{U}$ and so the specialization of $(q-1)^s b$ as q goes to 1 is the same as the specialization of $(q-1)^s C$. This contradicts the fact that $b \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$ and \mathcal{B}_{θ} specializes to $U(\mathfrak{g}^{\theta})$. Hence $s = 0, b \in \hat{U}, b$ specializes to b_1 and so $C \in (q-1)\hat{U}$.

Note that $\kappa_{\theta}(b_1)$ specializes to the image of \bar{b}_1 under the classical Chevalley antiautomorphism of \mathfrak{g} . Hence $ab_1 + b_2 \in \hat{U}$ forces a to evaluate to a nonzero

element of \mathbb{C} at q=1. Since κ_{θ} preserves \mathcal{B}_{θ} , $\kappa_{\theta}(b)-ab=b_2-a\kappa_{\theta}(C)$ is an element of \mathcal{B}_{θ} . Now $\kappa_{\theta}(C) \in \sum_{\zeta \notin Q^+(\pi_{\theta})} G^-U^0U_{\zeta}^+$, hence by the same arguments as above, $(q-1)^s\kappa_{\theta}(C)$ cannot specialize to a nonzero element of \mathcal{B}_{θ} for any s. The assumptions of the lemma ensure the same is true for b_2 . Hence $b_2 - a\kappa_{\theta}(C) = 0$ and $\kappa_{\theta}(b) = ab$.

7.2. Quantum symmetric pair Cartan subalgebras. In the next result, we put together the upper and lower triangular parts associated to positive roots β using Section 6.4 in order to identify a quantum Cartan subalgebra of \mathcal{B}_{θ} . We also show that this Cartan subalgebra satisfies a uniqueness property with respect to the action of the quantum Chevalley antiautomorphism.

Note that in general, we cannot expect to lift a term of the form $e_{\beta} + f_{-\beta}$ with $\theta(\beta) = -\beta$ to an element in $U_{\beta}^{+} + G_{-\beta}^{-}$ that is also in \mathcal{B}_{θ} . We see in the next theorem that for most cases, we get an intermediate term (referred to as C_{j} or just C) that specializes to 0 as q goes to 1.

Theorem 7.2. Let $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ be a maximally split pair. Let $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m\}$ be a maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system and let $\{\alpha_{\beta_1}, \ldots, \alpha_{\beta_m}\}$ be a set of simple roots satisfying the conditions of Theorem 2.7 and Remark 2.8. For each j, there exists a unique nonzero element H_j (up to scalar multiple) in \mathcal{B}_{θ} such that $H_j = X_{\beta_j} + C_j + s_{\beta_j}(K_{-\beta_j} - 1) + Y_{-\beta_j}$ where s_{β_j} is a (possibly zero) scalar and

- (i) $X_{\beta_j} \in G_{\beta_j}^+, Y_{-\beta_j} \in U_{-\beta_j}^-, \text{ and } C_j \in U_{\text{Supp}(\beta_j)} \cap G_{(\tau,1)}^- U^0 U_{(\tau,1)}^+ \text{ where } \tau = \{\alpha_{\beta_i}, p(\alpha_{\beta_i})\}.$
- (ii) $X_{\beta_j} \in [(\text{ad } U^+)K_{-2\nu_j}]K_{-\beta_j+2\nu_j}$ and $Y_{-\beta_j} \in [(\text{ad } U^-)K_{-2\nu_j}]K_{-\beta_j+2\nu_j}$ where ν_j is the fundamental weight associated to the simple root α_{β_j} .
- (iii) $\{X_{\beta_j}, Y_{-\beta_j}\} \subset (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi_j} \mathcal{T}_{\theta}}$ and $C_j \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{(\mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi_j}) \mathcal{T}_{\theta}}$ where $\pi_j = \operatorname{StrOrth}(\beta_j)$.
- (iv) If β_j satisfies Theorem 2.7(5), then $Y_{\beta_j} \in [(\operatorname{ad} F_{-\alpha'_{\beta}})(\operatorname{ad} U^-)K_{-2\nu_j}]K_{2\nu_j-\beta_j}$.
- (v) $\kappa_{\theta}(H_j) = H_j$ for each j.

Moreover, $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H_1,\ldots,H_m]$ is a commutative polynomial ring over $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}]$ in m generators that specializes to the enveloping algebra of a Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} as q goes to 1.

Proof. Consider $\gamma \in Q^+(\pi)$ and $\alpha_i \in \pi \setminus \operatorname{Supp}(\gamma)$. It follows that $(\alpha_i, \gamma) \leq 0$ with equality if and only if $(\alpha_i, \alpha) = 0$ for all simple roots $\alpha \in \operatorname{Supp}(\gamma)$. Therefore, E_i, F_i, K_i^{-1} commute with all elements of G_{γ}^+ and all elements of $U_{-\gamma}^-$ for all $\alpha_i \in \operatorname{Orth}(\gamma) \setminus \operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$. Hence, in proving (iii), we need only consider those $\alpha_i \in \operatorname{StrOrth}(\beta_i) \cap \operatorname{Supp}(\beta_i)$.

Suppose that for each $\beta_j \in \Gamma_\theta$, we have identified an element $H_j = X_{\beta_j} + C_j + s_{\beta_j}(K_{-\beta_j} - 1) + Y_{-\beta_j}$ so that $X_{\beta_j}, Y_{-\beta_j}$, and C_j each satisfy the relevant parts of (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), and, moreover, the following two properties hold:

- (a) $Y_{-\beta_i}$ specializes to $f_{-\beta_i}$ as q goes to 1.
- (b) $\kappa_{\theta}(Y_{-\beta_j})$ is a nonzero scalar multiple of X_{β_j} .

Note that these two properties ensure X_{β_j} specializes to e_{β_j} . Hence, by Lemma 7.1, H_j specializes to $e_{\beta_j} + f_{-\beta_j}$ and $\kappa_{\theta}(H_j) = H_j$ after a suitable scalar adjustment. Thus the assertion concerning specialization follows from these conditions.

Note that by construction of Γ_{θ} , we have $(\gamma, \beta_j) = 0$ for all $\gamma \in Q(\pi)^{\theta}$ and all j = 1, ..., m. Hence for each j = 1, ..., m and each $K_{\gamma} \in \mathcal{T}_{\theta}$, $[K_{\gamma}, H_j]$,

which is an element of \mathcal{B}_{θ} , equals $[K_{\gamma}, C_j]$. By assumption on C_j , we also have $[K_{\gamma}, C_j] \in G^-_{(\tau,1)}U^0U^+_{(\tau,1)}$. Since $\tau \cap \pi_{\theta} = \emptyset$, it follows that $\mathcal{M}^+ \cap U^+_{(\tau,1)} = 0$ and so $\mathcal{P}([K_{\gamma}, C_j]) = 0$. By Corollary 4.4, $[K_{\gamma}, C_j] = 0$. Thus each H_j commutes with every element of \mathcal{T}_{θ} . By Theorem 2.7(i), $\mathrm{Supp}(\beta_i) \subseteq \mathrm{StrOrth}(\beta_j)$ for all i > j. Thus (i) and (iii) ensure that H_j commutes with H_i for i > j and so the elements $\{H_1, \ldots, H_m\}$ pairwise commute. Hence $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H_1, \ldots, H_m]$ is a commutative ring. The property that each H_j specializes to $e_{\beta_j} + f_{-\beta_j}$ implies that $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H_1, \ldots, H_m]$ specializes to the enveloping algebra of the Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} , which is a polynomial ring over \mathbb{C} . This guarantees that there are no additional relations among the H_j and so $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H_1, \ldots, H_m]$ is a polynomial ring in m generators over $\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}]$.

For the uniqueness assertion, suppose that H'_j also satisfies the conclusions of the theorem. Note that conditions (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and the specialization assertion are enough to ensure that each Y_{β_j} corresponds to Y_j of Theorem 5.9. Hence, rescaling if necessary, we get that $H_j - H'_j \in G^-_{(\tau,1)} U^0 U^+_{(\tau,1)} + G^+_{\beta_j} + \mathbb{C}(q)(K_{-\beta_j} - 1)$. Hence $\mathcal{P}(H_j - H'_j)$ is a scalar, say s in $\mathbb{C}(q)$. Since $H_j - H'_j - s \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$, it follows from Corollary 4.4 that $H_j = H'_j + s$. The fact that both H_j and H'_j are in $U^-_{-\beta_j} + G^-_{(\tau,1)} U^0 U^+_{(\tau,1)} + G^+_{\beta_j} + \mathbb{C}(q)(K_{-\beta_j} - 1)$ forces s = 0 and hence $H_j = H'_j$.

We complete the proof by identifying the H_j whose summands satisfy (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and the two properties (a) and (b) highlighted above. The proof follows the same breakdown into cases of possible roots in Γ_{θ} as in the proof of Theorem 5.9. Note that (iv) only comes into play in Case 5. We drop the subscript j, writing β for β_j , H for H_j , etc. Set $w_{\beta} = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}, \alpha'_{\beta}\})_0$.

Case 1. $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} = \alpha'_{\beta}$. Choose k so that $\alpha_k = \alpha_{\beta} = \beta$. Since $\theta(\alpha_k) = \theta(\beta) = -\beta = -\alpha_k$, we see that $H = B_k - s_k = F_k + E_k K_k^{-1} + s_k (K_k^{-1} - 1)$ is in \mathcal{B}_{θ} . Moreover, this element specializes to $f_k + e_k$ as q goes to 1. It is straightforward to check that H satisfies (i)–(iii), (a), and (b).

Case 2. $\beta = \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ and $\alpha_{\beta} = \alpha'_{\beta}$. By Theorem 5.9, there exists $Y_{-\beta}$ that satisfies (i), (ii), and (a). Write

$$Y_{-\beta} = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I$$

for appropriate scalars a_I . By Proposition 6.7, there exists $a \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$ such that

$$\mathcal{P}(a) = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta} F_I a_I,$$

the lowest weight summand of a is $Y_{-\beta}$, the highest weight summand of a is a term $X_{\beta} \in G_{\beta}^{+}$ (since $\theta(-\beta) = \beta$), and X_{β} commutes with all elements of $U_{\pi'}$. Hence $\kappa_{\theta}(X_{\beta})$ is an element of $U_{-\beta}^{-}$ that commutes with all elements of $U_{\pi'}$. It follows from Corollary 5.4, that $\kappa_{\theta}(X_{\beta})$ is a scalar multiple of $Y_{-\beta}$ and so (b) holds. By (3.6) and the second half of assertion (ii), X_{β} satisfies (ii). Hence X_{β} and $Y_{-\beta}$ satisfy the assertions in (i)–(iii), (a), and (b).

By Proposition 6.7, $a = X_{\beta} + C + sK_{-\beta} + Y_{-\beta}$ for some nonzero scalar s and element C in $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ satisfying (i) and (iii). Thus, the desired Cartan element is $H = a - s = X_{\beta} + C + s(K_{-\beta} - 1) + Y_{-\beta}$ in this case.

Case 3. $\beta = p(\alpha_{\beta}) + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta} = w\alpha_{\beta}$ where $w = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}_0)$. Arguing as in Case 2 yields an element $H = Y_{-\beta} + C + X_{\beta} + s(K_{-\beta} - 1)$ so that $Y_{-\beta}$ satisfies the relevant parts of (i), (ii), (iii), (a) and C satisfies the relevant parts of (i) and (iii).

Choose i so that $\alpha_{\beta} = \alpha_i$. By Theorem 2.7(3) and Remark 2.8, we may assume $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ is a root system of type A and the symmetric pair $\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)}$, $(\mathfrak{g}_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)})^{\theta}$ is of type AIII/AIV. Corollary 5.8(b) further ensures that

$$F_i Y_{-\beta} - q Y_{-\beta} F_i = 0.$$

On the other hand, it follows from properties of C that

(7.1)
$$F_i(H - Y_{-\beta}) - q(H - Y_{-\beta})F_i \in \sum_{m \le 2} G_{(\tau,m)}^- U^0 U^+.$$

It follows from the discussion concerning S in Section 4.1 that $\alpha_i \notin S$ and so $B_i = F_i + c_i \theta_q(F_i K_i) K_i^{-1}$ for a suitable scalar c_i (i.e., $s_i = 0$ and there is no K_i^{-1} term in B_i). Since $\theta(-\beta) = \beta$, we see from (7.1) and Remark 4.2 that

$$B_i H - q H B_i \in \sum_{m \le 2} \sum_{r \le 2} G^-_{(\tau, m)} U^0 U^+_{(\tau, r)}.$$

On the other hand,

$$(\theta_a(F_iK_i)K_i^{-1})X_{\beta} - qX_{\beta}(\theta_a(F_iK_i)K_i^{-1})$$

either equals 0 or has weight $\beta + \theta(-\alpha_i)$. Since $\operatorname{ht}_{\tau}(\beta) + \theta(-\alpha_i) = 3$, this term must be 0. By Corollary 5.8, $\kappa_{\theta}(X_{\beta})$ is a nonzero scalar multiple of $Y_{-\beta}$, thus (b) holds. Hence, H satisfies the conclusions of the lemma.

Case 4. $\beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta} = w\alpha'_{\beta}$ where $w = w(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) \setminus \{\alpha'_{\beta}\})_0$. More precisely, we assume that β satisfies the conditions of Theorem 2.7(4) as further clarified by Remark 2.8. Hence, $\beta = w\alpha'_{\beta}$. Moreover, we may assume that $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta) = \{\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_s\}$ generates a root system of type B_s and is ordered in the standard way so that $\alpha'_{\beta} = \gamma_s$ is the unique shortest simple root and $\alpha_{\beta} = \gamma_1$.

Let m be chosen so that the mth simple root of π , namely α_m , equals the first root γ_1 of $\text{Supp}(\beta)$. It follows from the description of the generators for \mathcal{B}_{θ} in Section 4.1 that

$$B_m = F_{-\gamma_1} + c[(\text{ad } E_{\gamma_2} E_{\gamma_3} \cdots E_{\gamma_{s-1}} E_{\gamma_s}^2 E_{\gamma_{s-1}} \cdots E_{\gamma_2}) E_{\gamma_1}] K_{\gamma_1}^{-1}$$

for some nonzero scalar c. Note that if $\alpha_i \in \pi_\theta$ and $b \in \mathcal{B}_\theta$, then

$$[(adF_i)bK_j]K_i^{-1} = [F_ibK_jK_i - bK_jF_iK_i]K_i^{-1} = F_ibK_i - q^{-(\alpha_i,\alpha_j)}bF_iK_i$$

is also an element of \mathcal{B}_{θ} for all choices of j. Hence, since $\gamma_j \in \pi_{\theta}$ for $j = 2, \ldots, s$, the element

$$H' = [(\text{ad } F_{-\gamma_s} F_{-\gamma_{s-1}} \cdots F_{-\gamma_2}) B_m K_{\gamma_1}] K_{\gamma_1}^{-1}$$

$$= [(\text{ad } F_{-\gamma_s} F_{-\gamma_{s-1}} \cdots F_{-\gamma_2}) F_{-\gamma_1} K_{\gamma_1}] K_{\gamma_1}^{-1} + c' [(\text{ad } E_{\gamma_s} E_{\gamma_{s-1}} \cdots E_{\gamma_2}) E_{\gamma_1}] K_{\gamma_1}^{-1}$$

is also in \mathcal{B}_{θ} where c' is a suitably chosen nonzero scalar. Note that

$$K_{-\beta} = K_{\gamma_s}^{-1} K_{\gamma_{s-1}}^{-1} \cdots K_{\gamma_2}^{-1} K_{\gamma_1}^{-1} \in \mathcal{T}_{\theta} K_{\gamma_1}^{-1}.$$

Hence $K_{\gamma_1}K_{-\beta}$ is in \mathcal{B}_{θ} . Set

(7.2)
$$X_{\beta} = c'[(\text{ad } E_{\gamma_s} E_{\gamma_{s-1}} \cdots E_{\gamma_2}) E_{\gamma_1}] K_{-\beta} \text{ and }$$

$$Y_{-\beta} = [(\text{ad } F_{-\gamma_s} F_{-\gamma_{s-1}} \cdots F_{-\gamma_2}) F_{-\gamma_1} K_{\gamma_1}] K_{-\beta}$$

and note that $H = H'K_{-\beta+\gamma_1} = X_{\beta} + Y_{-\beta}$ is in \mathcal{B}_{θ} . We show that H satisfied (i), (ii), (iii), (a), and (b) with C = 0.

Note that $E_{\gamma_1} = d[(\operatorname{ad} E_{\gamma_1})K_{-2\nu_1}]K_{-2\nu_1}$ and $F_{-\gamma_1}K_{\gamma_1} = d'[(\operatorname{ad} F_{-\gamma_1})K_{-2\nu_1}]K_{-2\nu_1}$ for nonzero scalars d and d'. Hence by (7.2), X_{β} and $Y_{-\beta}$ both satisfy assertion (ii). Assertions (i) and (a) follow from the construction of X_{β} and $Y_{-\beta}$ and the definition of the adjoint action (Section 3.1). Assertion (b) follows from (3.6) of Section 3.4. Assertion (iii) for X_{β} follows from the fact that X_{β} is a highest weight vector with respect to the action of (ad $U_{\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)\setminus\{\gamma_1,\gamma_2\}}$) and has weight β with $(\beta, \gamma_j) = 0$ for $j = 2, \ldots, s-1$. Assertion (iii) for $Y_{-\beta}$ now follows from (b).

Case 5. $\beta = \alpha'_{\beta} + \alpha_{\beta} + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ and $\alpha_{\beta} \neq \alpha'_{\beta}$. Set $\beta' = \beta - \alpha'_{\beta}$. Recall from Theorem 2.7 that $\alpha'_{\beta} \in \pi_{\theta}$, α'_{β} is strongly orthogonal to all roots in $\text{Supp}(\beta') \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}$, and $(\alpha'_{\beta}, \beta) = 0$. Note also that $(\alpha'_{\beta}, \beta') = -(\alpha'_{\beta}, \alpha'_{\beta})$ and $\theta(-\beta') = \beta' + 2\alpha'_{\beta}$.

By the proof of Theorem 5.9 Case 5, there exists $Y_{-\beta'}$ that satisfies (i), (ii), and (a) with respect to β' instead of β . Write

$$Y_{-\beta'} = \sum_{\text{wt}(I)=\beta'} F_I a_I$$

for appropriate scalars a_I . By Proposition 6.7, there exists

$$H' = Y_{-\beta'} + C' + X_{\theta(-\beta')} K_{2\alpha'_{\beta}} + sK_{-\beta'}$$

in \mathcal{B}_{θ} such that $Y_{-\beta'} \in U_{-\beta'}^-$, $X_{\theta(-\beta')} \in G_{\theta(-\beta')}^+$, $C' \in U_{\text{Supp}(\beta')} \cap G_{(\tau,1)}^- U_{(\tau,1)}^+ U^0$, and s is a scalar. Moreover, each of these terms commute with all elements of $U_{\pi'}$.

Let k be the index so that $\alpha'_{\beta} = \alpha_k$ and recall that $(\alpha_k, \nu) = 0$ where ν is the fundamental weight associated to α_{β} . It follows that $(\text{ad } F_k)(uK_{-2\nu})K_{2\nu} = (\text{ad } F_k)u$ for all u. Thus in much of the discussion below, we ignore the $K_{-2\nu}$ term which can always be added in later. Note that $F_k \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$ since $\alpha_k \in \pi_{\theta}$. Note that

$$[F_k K_{-\beta'} - q^{-(\beta',\alpha_k)} K_{-\beta'} F_k] = 0.$$

Set

$$H = [F_k H' - q^{-(\beta', \alpha_k)} H' F_k] = Y_{-\beta} + C + X_{\beta},$$

where $C = [F_k C' - q^{-(\beta',\alpha_k)} C' F_k] K_k$,

(7.3)
$$Y_{-\beta} = (F_k Y_{-\beta'} - q^{-(\beta',\alpha_k)} Y_{-\beta'} F_k) = [(\text{ad } F_k)(Y_{-\beta'} K_{\beta'})] K_{-\beta},$$

and

$$X_{\beta} = F_k(X_{\theta(-\beta')}K_{\theta(\beta')}K_{-\beta'}) - q^{-(\beta',\alpha_k)}(X_{\theta(-\beta')}K_{\theta(\beta')}K_{-\beta'})F_k$$
$$= [(\text{ad } F_k)(X_{\theta(-\beta')}K_{\theta(\beta')})]K_{-\beta}.$$

We argue that H and its summands satisfy (i)–(iv), (a), and (b). We see from (7.3) (as in the proof of Case 5 of Theorem 5.9) that $Y_{-\beta}$ satisfies the relevant properties of (i), (ii), and (a) since $Y_{-\beta'}$ does. Note that (7.3) also ensures that $Y_{-\beta}$ satisfies (iv). By Proposition 6.7,

$$\{X_{\theta(-\beta')}, Y_{-\beta'}\} \subseteq (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{U_{\pi_j}} \text{ and } C' \in (U_q(\mathfrak{g}))^{\mathcal{B}_{\theta} \cap U_{\pi'}},$$

where $\pi' = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta') \setminus \{\alpha_{\beta}\}$. Hence, since F_k commutes with all elements in $U_{\pi'}$, it follows from these inclusions and the discussion at the beginning of the proof (before the cases) that $X_{\beta}, Y_{-\beta}$, and C satisfy (iii). So we only need to show that X_{β} satisfies (i) and (ii) and $X_{\beta}, Y_{-\beta}$ are related as in (b).

Since C' is an element of $G^-_{(\tau,1)}U^0U^+_{(\tau,1)}$, so is C. Thus $\mathcal{P}(C)=0$. Note that we also have $X_\beta\in G^-U^0U^+_{(\tau,2)}$ and so $\mathcal{P}(X_\beta)=0$. Set

$$b = F_k \left(\sum_{\text{wt}(I) = \beta'} B_I a_I \right) - q^{-(\beta', \alpha_k)} \left(\sum_{\text{wt}(I) = \beta'} B_I a_I \right) F_k$$

and define \tilde{b} as in Proposition 4.3. Note that $\mathcal{P}(\tilde{b}) = \mathcal{P}(H) = Y_{-\beta}$. Hence by Corollary 4.4, $H = \tilde{b}$. Note that in addition to β' , β also satisfies the conditions of Proposition 6.7. This is because $\alpha_k \in \text{Orth}(\beta)$ even if it is not strongly orthogonal to β and so β satisfies the required assumption on height. Note further that we may choose a = H since H satisfies Proposition 6.7 (i) and (ii). Hence by Proposition 6.7 we get

$$X_{\beta} \in U_{\beta}^+ K_{-\beta} = G_{\beta}^+$$

and so X_{β} satisfies assertion (i) of this theorem. Hence X_{β} satisfies both (i) and (iii).

We next show that

$$(7.4) \qquad (ad E_k F_k^2)(X_{\theta(-\beta')} K_{\theta(-\beta')}) = (ad F_k)(X_{\theta(-\beta')} K_{\theta(-\beta')})$$

up to a nonzero scalar. The fact that $\alpha_k \in \pi_\theta$ ensures that $E_k, F_k, K_k^{\pm 1} \in \mathcal{B}_\theta$. Hence

$$[(\text{ad } E_k)(H'K_{\beta'})]K_{-\beta'}$$

= $[(\text{ad } E_k)(Y_{-\beta'}K_{\beta'} + C'K_{\beta'} + X_{\theta(-\beta')}K_{\theta(-\beta')} + s)]K_{-\beta'} \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}.$

Note that (ad E_k) $(Y_{-\beta'}K_{\beta'}) = 0$ since $\alpha_k \notin \operatorname{Supp}(\beta')$. It is straightforward to check that (ad E_k)s = 0 and (ad E_k) $(X_{\theta(-\beta')}K_{\theta(-\beta')}) \in U_{\theta(-\beta')+\alpha_k}^+$. Also, [(ad E_k) $(C'K_{\beta'})]K_{-\beta'} \in G_{(\tau,1)}^-U^0U_{(\tau,1)}^+$ since the same is true for C'. It follows that

$$[(\text{ad }E_k)(H'K_{\beta'}]K_{-\beta'}\in G^-_{(\tau,1)}U^0U^+_{(\tau,1)}+U^+_{\theta(-\beta')+\alpha_k}\subseteq \sum_{m\geq 1}G^-U^0U^+_{(\tau,m)}.$$

By Remark 4.2, we get $[(\text{ad }E_k)(H'K_{\beta'})]K_{-\beta'}=0$. Since $(G_{(\tau,1)}^-U^0U_{(\tau,1)}^+)\cap (U^0G_{\theta(-\beta')+\alpha_k}^+)=0$, we must have $(\text{ad }E_k)(X_{\theta(-\beta')}K_{\theta(-\beta')})=0$. Equality (7.4) now follows from rewriting $E_kF_k^2$ as a linear combination of $F_k^2E_k$ and F_ku for some $u\in U^0$ using the defining relation (4.5) for $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$.

Equality (7.4) and the definition of X_{β} implies that

(7.5)
$$(ad E_k F_k)(X_\beta K_\beta) = X_\beta K_\beta$$

up to a nonzero scalar. Using (4.5) we see that

(7.6)
$$(ad F_k)(X_{\beta}K_{\beta}) \in U^+ + U^+K_k^2 + U^+F_kK_k.$$

Note that (ad $E_k)U^+K_k^2 \subseteq U^+K_k^2$ while (ad $E_k)uF_kK_k \in U^+F_kK_k + U^+(K_k^2-1)$ for any choice of $u \in U^+$. Since $X_{\beta}K_{\beta} \in U^+$, it follows from (7.5), (7.6) and the fact that X_{β} satisfies (iii) that

$$(\text{ad } F_k)(X_{\beta}K_{\beta}) \in (U_{\beta-\alpha_k}^+)^{U_{\pi'}} = (U_{\beta'}^+)^{U_{\pi'}}.$$

Applying κ to $((\text{ad } F_k)(X_{\beta}K_{\beta}))K_{-\beta'}$ yields an element $Y'_{-\beta'} \in (U^-_{-\beta'})^{U_{\pi'}}$. By the uniqueness assertion of Corollary 5.4, it follows that $Y'_{-\beta'} = Y_{-\beta'}$ up to nonzero scalar. By identity (3.6), (7.5), and (7.3), we see that

$$\kappa(Y_{-\beta}K_{\beta}) = \kappa((\text{ad } F_k)Y_{-\beta'}K_{\beta'})$$

= $(\text{ad } E_k)\kappa(Y_{-\beta'}K_{\beta'}) = (\text{ad } E_kF_k)(X_{\beta}K_{\beta}) = X_{\beta}K_{\beta}$

up to nonzero scalars and so (b) holds. Since $Y_{-\beta'}$ satisfies (ii) with β replaced by β' , it now follows from the identity (3.6) that $X_{\beta}K_{\beta} \in [(\text{ad }U^+)K_{-2\nu}]K_{-\beta+2\nu}$ where recall that ν is the fundamental weight associated to α_{β} . Hence, we see that X_{β} satisfies (ii).

We refer to the algebra $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H_1, \dots, H_m]$ of Theorem 7.2 as a quantum Cartan subalgebra of \mathcal{B}_{θ} . The next result is the first step in understanding finite-dimensional \mathcal{B}_{θ} -modules with respect to the action of \mathcal{H} . It is an immediate consequence of Corollaries 3.3 and 3.5.

Corollary 7.3. Let \mathcal{H} be a quantum Cartan subalgebra of the coideal subalgebra \mathcal{B}_{θ} associated to the symmetric pair $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$. Any finite-dimensional unitary \mathcal{B}_{θ} -module can be written as a direct sum of eigenspaces with respect to the action of \mathcal{H} . Moreover, any finite-dimensional $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module can be written as a direct sum of eigenspaces with respect to the action of \mathcal{H} .

Remark 7.4. Assume that $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is a symmetric pair of type AI. The algebra \mathcal{B}_{θ} in this case is referred to in the literature as the (nonstandard) q-deformed algebra $U'_q(\mathfrak{so}_n)$ and its finite-dimensional modules have been analyzed and classified by Klimyk, Iorgov, and Gavrilik (see for example [GK] and [IK]) using quantum versions of Gel'fand-Tsetlin basis. Rowell and Wenzl ([RW]) revisit the representation theory of this coideal subalgebra. They take a different approach that involves developing a highest weight module theory using a Cartan subalgebra \mathcal{H} . This Cartan subalgebra \mathcal{H} agrees with the one produced by the above theorem using Theorem 2.7. In particular, in this case, $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = 0$, $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\alpha_1, \alpha_3, \cdots, \alpha_{\lfloor (n+1)/2 \rfloor}\}$, and $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}(q)[B_1, B_3, \ldots, B_{\lfloor (n+1)/2 \rfloor}]$. For more details on the representation theory of \mathcal{B}_{θ} developed using \mathcal{H} , the reader is referred to [RW].

Remark 7.5. Suppose that $\beta = p(\alpha_{\beta}) + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ with $\alpha_{\beta} \neq p(\alpha_{\beta})$ as in Case 3 of the proof of the above theorem. Then θ restricts to an involution of type AIII/AIV. Moreover, the element α_{β} can be switched with $p(\alpha_{\beta})$ in the construction of the corresponding Cartan element associated to $\beta \in \Gamma_{\theta}$. The end result is still a commutative polynomial ring specializing to the enveloping algebra of the same Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} . However, the Cartan element corresponding to β is different for the two constructions. We take a closer look at such roots in the analysis of a large family of symmetric pairs of type AIII/AIV in Section 8 below.

8. A Family of examples: Type AIII/AIV

In this section, we consider the following family of examples: symmetric pairs of type AIII/AIV with $\pi_{\theta} = \emptyset$. Note that the discussion presented here has applications to other symmetric pairs as well. In particular, consider for a moment the case where $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is an arbitrary symmetric pair with corresponding maximum strongly orthogonal θ -system Γ_{θ} . Suppose that there is a root $\beta \in \Gamma_{\theta}$ such that $\beta = p(\alpha_{\beta}) + w_{\beta}\alpha_{\beta}$ with $\alpha_{\beta} \neq p(\alpha_{\beta})$ and $\Delta(\operatorname{Supp}(\beta))$ is a root system of type A as

in Case 3 of the proof of Theorem 2.7. By Remark 2.8, the involution θ restricts to an involution of type AIII/AIV. If, in addition, $\pi_{\theta} = \emptyset$, then the discussion in this section applies to the construction of the Cartan element associated to β .

The presentation in this section was in part inspired by conversations with Stroppel ([S]) who has analyzed the finite-dimensional simple modules of the quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras in type AIII/AIV. In [Wa], Watanabe also looks at symmetric pairs of type AIII with $\pi_{\theta} = 0$ and restricts to the case when \mathfrak{g} is of type A_n where n is even. He obtains a triangular decomposition for \mathcal{B}_{θ} for this subfamily where the components are each described as subspaces (see [Wa, Remark 2.2.10]). We see below that the Cartan part of the triangularization in [Wa] agrees with the Cartan subalgebra of this paper, and thus this subspace is actually a subalgebra of \mathcal{B}_{θ} .

8.1. **Overview.** Assume that $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ is a symmetric pair of type AIII/AIV with $r = \lfloor (n+1)/2 \rfloor$ where $n \geq 2$ and r is as in the proof of Theorem 2.7 for Type AIII/AIV. The involution θ on \mathfrak{g} is defined by $\theta(\alpha_i) = -\alpha_{n-i+1}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$. By Theorems 2.5 and 2.7, the set

$$\mathfrak{h}_{ heta} \oplus \left(igoplus_{eta \in \Gamma_{ heta}} \mathbb{C}(e_{eta} + f_{-eta})
ight)$$

is a Cartan subalgebra for \mathfrak{g}^{θ} where $\mathfrak{h}_{\theta} = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{h_i - h_{n-i+1} | i = 1, \dots, r\}, \Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \dots, \beta_r\}, \text{ and }$

$$\beta_i = \alpha_i + \alpha_{i+1} + \dots + \alpha_{n-i+1}$$

for $j = 1, \dots, r$.

The right coideal subalgebra \mathcal{B}_{θ} is generated over $\mathbb{C}(q)$ by

$$B_i = F_i + E_{n-i+1} K_i^{-1}$$

and

$$K_i K_{n-i+1}^{-1}$$

for i = 1, ..., n. (In the notation of Section 4.1, we are taking $c_i = -1$ and $s_i = 0$ for each i. Other choices of parameters yield analogous results. Note that $\mathcal{S} = \{\alpha_r\}$ if r is odd and is empty otherwise, so that the only time s_i could take on nonzero values is when r is odd and i = r.) The B_i , i = 1, ..., n satisfy the following relations (see for example [Ko], Theorem 7.4):

• For $i, j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ with $a_{ij} = 0$, we have

$$B_i B_j - B_j B_i = \delta_{n-i+1,j} (q - q^{-1})^{-1} (K_{n-i+1} K_i^{-1} - K_{n-i+1}^{-1} K_i).$$

• For $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ with $a_{ij} = -1$, we have

$$\begin{split} B_i^2 B_j - (q + q^{-1}) B_i B_j B_i + B_j B_i^2 &= -\delta_{i, n - i + 1} q B_j \\ &+ \delta_{i, n - j + 1} (q + q^{-1}) (q K_{n - i + 1} K_i^{-1} + q^{-2} K_{n - i + 1}^{-1} K_i) B_i. \end{split}$$

Note that $a_{ij} = -1$ and i = n - i + 1 if and only if n is odd, i = (n + 1)/2 = r, and $j = i \pm 1$. Also, $a_{ij} = -1$ and i = n - j + 1 if and only if n is even and $\{i, j\} = \{\frac{n}{2}, \frac{n}{2} + 1\} = \{r, r + 1\}$.

We also have the following relations:

$$(K_{n-i+1}K_i^{-1})B_j(K_{n-i+1}K_i^{-1})^{-1} = q^{(\alpha_{n-i+1}-\alpha_i, -\alpha_j)}B_j$$

for all i, j. It follows that $B_1, \ldots, B_{r-1}, B_{r+1}, \ldots, B_n$ generates an algebra isomorphic to $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1})$ if n is odd and $B_1, \ldots, B_{r-1}, B_{r+2}, \cdots B_n$ generates an algebra isomorphic to $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1})$ if n is even.

8.2. Case 1: n = 2. In this case, $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta\}$ where $\beta = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$. Note that $\alpha_{\beta} = \alpha_1$ and

$$(1-q^2)^{-1}[(\text{ad } F_2F_1)K_{-2\nu}]K_{-\beta+2\nu} = (F_2F_1 - qF_1F_2)$$

where $\nu = \nu_1$ is the fundamental weight associated to α_1 . Also, $\kappa(F_2F_1 - qF_1F_2)$ is a nonzero scalar multiple of $(E_1E_2 - qE_2E_1)K_1^{-1}K_2^{-1}$. Set

(8.1)
$$H = B_2 B_1 - q B_1 B_2 - (q - q^{-1})^{-1} [q^{-1} K - K^{-1}] - (1 + q)^{-1}$$

where $K = K_1 K_2^{-1}$. A straightforward computation shows that

$$H = (F_2F_1 - qF_1F_2) + q^{-2}(E_1E_2 - qE_2E_1)K_1^{-1}K_2^{-1} + (1+q)^{-1}(K_1^{-1}K_2^{-1} - 1) + (q^{-1} - q)F_1E_1K_2^{-1}$$

and hence H satisfies the conclusions of Theorem 7.2. The Cartan subalgebra for \mathcal{B}_{θ} in this case is $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}(q)[K, K^{-1}][H]$. By (8.1), we can use $B_2B_1 - qB_1B_2$ instead of H as a generator for \mathcal{H} .

It follows from (3.3) of [AKR] that $CK^{1/3}$ is in the center of the simply connected version $\check{\mathcal{B}}_{\theta}$ (see Section 4.1) where

$$C = B_2 B_1 - q B_1 B_2 + \frac{1}{(q - q^{-1})} K^{-1} - \frac{(q + q^{-1})}{(q - q^{-1})} K$$
$$= H + \frac{q}{(q - q^{-1})} K + (1 + q)^{-1}.$$

Thus we have the following equivalent descriptions of \mathcal{H} as a polynomial ring in one variable over the commutative ring $\mathbb{C}(q)[K,K^{-1}]$:

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}(q)[K, K^{-1}][H] = \mathbb{C}(q)[K, K^{-1}][B_2B_1 - qB_1B_2] = \mathbb{C}(q)[K, K^{-1}][C].$$

Note that \mathcal{B}_{θ} admits a second quantum Cartan subalgebra that satisfies the conclusions of Theorem 7.2. This second subalgebra is constructed using the same maximum orthogonal system $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta\}$, but instead of choosing $\alpha_{\beta} = \alpha_{1}$, we pick $\alpha_{\beta} = \alpha_{2}$. This second Cartan subalgebra is $\mathcal{H}' = \mathbb{C}(q)[K, K^{-1}][H']$ where H' takes the same form as H with B_{1} and B_{2} interchanged. In analogy to \mathcal{H} above, we see that

$$\mathcal{H}' = \mathbb{C}(q)[K, K^{-1}][H'] = \mathbb{C}(q)[K, K^{-1}][B_1B_2 - qB_2B_1] = \mathbb{C}(q)[K, K^{-1}][C'],$$

where $C' = H' + (q+2q^{-1})/(q+q^{-1})K^{-1} + (1+q)$ and $C'K^{-1/3}$ is a central element.

In [AKR], Aldenhoven, Koelink, and Roman analyze the finite-dimensional modules for \mathcal{B}_{θ} in this case. They use the algebra generated by \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{H}' together as the Cartan subalgebra for \mathcal{B}_{θ} . Using the relationship between C, C' and the central elements $CK^{1/3}$, $C'K^{-1/3}$, it is straightforward to see that this larger algebra is commutative. Aldenhoven, Koelink, and Roman show that any finite-dimensional simple \mathcal{B}_{θ} -module is generated by a vector v, referred to as a highest weight vector, that is, an eigenvector with respect to the action of K and satisfies $B_1v = 0$. They characterize finite-dimensional simple modules based on the eigenvalue of the highest weight vector and the dimension of the module (see [AKR, Proposition 3.1]).

Given a finite-dimensional simple module for \mathcal{B}_{θ} , they explicitly describe the action of this large Cartan subalgebra on a basis (see [AKR, Corollary 3.3]).

8.3. Case 2: n=3. In this case $\Gamma_{\theta}=\{\beta_1,\beta_2\}$ where $\beta_1=\alpha_2$ and $\beta_2=\alpha_1+\alpha_2+\alpha_3$. The Cartan element associated to β_1 is simply $H_1=B_2=F_2+E_2K_2^{-1}$. Set $\beta=\beta_2$ and let $\nu=\nu_1=(\alpha_3+2\alpha_2+3\alpha_1)/4$, the fundamental weight associated to α_1 . Set

$$Y_{-\beta} = [F_3(F_2F_1 - qF_1F_2) - q(F_2F_1 - qF_1F_2)F_3]$$

and note that

$$Y_{-\beta} = [(\text{ad } F_3 F_2 F_1) K_{-2\nu_1}] K_{2\nu_1 - \beta}$$

up to a nonzero scalar multiple which we ignore. Set

$$X_{\beta} = [E_1(E_2E_3 - qE_3E_2) - q(E_2E_3 - qE_3E_2)E_1]K_{-\beta}.$$

Note that $\kappa(Y_{-\beta}) = X_{\beta}$ (up to multiplication by a nonzero scalar). Set

$$(8.2) H_2 = [B_3(B_2B_1 - qB_1B_2) - q(B_2B_1 - qB_1B_2)B_3] + B_2K_1K_3^{-1}.$$

A straightforward (lengthy) computation shows that

$$H_2 = Y_{-\beta} + X_{\beta} - (q - q^{-1})FE_1K_3^{-1} - q(q - q^{-1})(F_1EK_3^{-1}K_2^{-1})$$

where $F=(F_2F_1-qF_1F_2)$ and $E=(E_1E_2-qE_2E_1)$. Thus H_2 satisfies the conclusions of Theorem 7.2. The Cartan subalgebra for \mathcal{B}_{θ} in this case is $\mathcal{H}=\mathbb{C}(q)[K,K^{-1}][H_1,H_2]$ where $K=K_1K_3^{-1}$. Since $H_1=B_2$ and H_2 commute with each other, we see that B_2 commutes with

$$(8.3) (B_3(B_2B_1 - qB_1B_2) - q(B_2B_1 - qB_1B_2)B_3).$$

Moreover, it follows from the explicit formulas for H_1 and H_2 that

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}(q)[K, K^{-1}][B_2, (B_3(B_2B_1 - qB_1B_2) - q(B_2B_1 - qB_1B_2)B_3)].$$

8.4. The general case. We show that the general case for this family of examples is very similar to the low rank cases n=2,3. Given two elements A,B in $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ and a nonzero scalar $a\in\mathbb{C}(q)$, we define the a-commutator $[A,B]_a$ by

$$[A, B]_a = AB - aBA.$$

Define elements H'_i in \mathcal{B}_{θ} by

$$H'_j = [B_{n-j+1}, [B_{n-j}, \cdots, [B_{j+1}, B_j]_q]_q \cdots]_q$$

for all j = 1, ..., r. Note that the elements H'_{j} satisfy the recursive relations

(8.4)
$$H'_{i} = [B_{n-j+1}, [H'_{i+1}, B_{j}]_{q}]_{q}$$

for $j=1,\ldots,r-1$. In Theorem 8.2 below, we prove that the Cartan subalgebra \mathcal{H} of \mathcal{B}_{θ} defined by Theorem 7.2 based on the choice of Γ_{θ} of Theorem 2.7 satisfies

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H'_1, \dots, H'_r].$$

For n even, the elements H'_j are the same as the h'_j defined by (5) of [Wa] (up to reordering of the subscripts). An immediate consequence of Theorem 8.2 is that the Cartan part in [Wa] is the same as the Cartan subalgebra presented here for the family of coideal subalgebras considered in [Wa].

Note that the lowest weight term of H'_i is

$$W_j = [F_{n-j+1}, [F_{n-j}, \cdots, [F_{j+1}, F_j]_q]_q \cdots]_q = c[(\text{ad } F_{n-j+1} \cdots F_{j+1})F_jK_j]K_{-\beta_j}$$
 for some nonzero scalar c where $-\beta_j = -\alpha_j - \alpha_{j+1} - \cdots - \alpha_{n-j+1}$. In particular,

for some nonzero scalar c where $-\beta_j = -\alpha_j - \alpha_{j+1} - \cdots - \alpha_{n-j+1}$. In particular, the lowest weight term of H'_j agrees with the lowest weight term of the Cartan element of \mathcal{H} associated to weight β_j as defined in Theorem 7.2.

Lemma 8.1. The elements H'_1, \ldots, H'_r pairwise commute with each other.

Proof. Assume first that n is odd. Note that H'_k is in the subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ generated by the set $\{B_i | i = k, k+1, \ldots, n-k+1\}$, We argue that B_i commutes with H'_j for all $i = j+1, \ldots, n-j$, and so H'_k commutes with H'_j for all k > j. This will prove the lemma when n is odd.

Note that $H'_r = B_r$ and

$$H'_{r-1} = (B_{r+1}(B_rB_{r-1} - qB_{r-1}B_r) - q(B_rB_{r-1} - qB_{r-1}B_r)B_{r+1}).$$

This is just (8.3) with 1,2,3 replaced by r-1,r,r+1, respectively. In particular, the results of Section 8.3 ensure that $H'_r=B_r$ commutes with H'_{r-1} . Now assume that j< r-1 and B_i commutes with H'_{j+1} for all $i=j+2,\ldots,n-j-1$. Since B_i commutes with B_j and B_{n-j+1} for all $j+2 \le i \le n-j-1$, it follows from (8.4) that B_i also commutes with H'_j . Thus it is sufficient to show that B_{j+1} and B_{n-j} commutes with H'_j .

Let \mathcal{A} be the algebra generated by $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1})$ and a new element X subject only to the following additional relations:

- $F_i X X F_i = E_i X X E_i = 0$ for all $i \in \{1, \dots, r-2\}$.
- $K_i X K_i^{-1} = X$ for all i = 1, ..., r 1.

Since $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1})$ is a subalgebra of \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{A} admits an (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1})$) action. The above relations ensure that X has weight 0 with respect to this action and (ad F_i) $X = (ad E_i)X = 0$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, r-2$. Recall that $j \leq r-2$. Set

$$V_1 = (\text{ad } E_{r-1} \cdots E_{j+1}) E_j,$$

$$V_2 = [(\text{ad } F_j \cdots F_{r-2}) F_{r-1} K_{r-1}] K_j^{-1} \cdots K_{r-1}^{-1},$$

$$V_3 = [V_2, [X, V_1]_{q^{-1}}]_{q^{-1}}.$$

Note that V_1 is the lowest weight vector in the (ad $U_{\{\alpha_{r-1},\cdots,\alpha_{j+1}\}}$)-module generated by E_j . Indeed, this follows from Lemma 3.1 with $\pi' = \{\alpha_{r-1},\cdots,\alpha_{j+1}\}$ and i=j. Since $(\alpha_{j+1},\alpha_{r-1}+\alpha_{r-2}+\cdots+\alpha_j)=0$, V_1 is also a trivial vector with respect to the action of (ad $U_{\{\alpha_{j+1}\}}$). Hence (ad $E_{j+1})V_1=(ad\ F_{j+1})V_1=0$. Similar arguments yield (ad $F_{j+1})V_2=(ad\ E_{j+1})V_2=0$. It follows that (ad $F_{j+1})V_3=(ad\ E_{j+1})V_3=0$. Since V_3 has weight 0 with respect to the action of (ad $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1})$, we have

(8.5)
$$[F_{j+1}, V_3] = 0$$
 and $[E_{j+1}, V_3] = 0$.

It follows from the relations for \mathcal{B}_{θ} that the map defined by

$$E_i \mapsto B_i$$
, $F_i \mapsto B_{n-i+1}$, $K_i \mapsto K_{n-i+1}^{-1} K_i$,
 $K_{n-i+1} \mapsto K_{n-i+1} K_i^{-1}$, $X \mapsto B_r$, $q \mapsto q^{-1}$

for i = 1, ..., r - 1 defines a \mathbb{C} algebra homomorphism. Moreover, this map sends V_3 to H'_i . Applying this homomorphism to (8.5) yields

$$[B_{n-j}, H'_j] = 0$$
 and $[B_{j+1}, H'_j] = 0$,

as desired.

Now assume that n is even. We have $H'_r = [B_{r+1}, B_r]_q$ and

$$H'_{r-1} = [B_{r+2}, [B_{r+1}, [B_r, B_{r-1}]_q]_q]_q.$$

Note that both elements commute with all elements in \mathcal{T}_{θ} . Using the relations of \mathcal{B}_{θ} , one can show that Cartan element H_{r-1} associated to the root $\beta_{r-1} = \alpha_{r+2} + \alpha_{r+1} + \alpha_r + \alpha_{r-1}$ satisfies

$$(8.6) H_{r-1} = H'_{r-1} + uH'_r + v$$

for appropriate elements $u,v\in\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}]$. This is very similar to the result for H_2 when n=3 given in Section 8.3. Since B_r,B_{r+1} both commute with H_{r-1} , we must have $H'_r=[B_{r+1},B_r]_q$ commutes with H_{r-1} . Hence the expression for H_{r-1} given in (8.6) ensures that $[B_{r+1},B_r]_q$ commutes with H'_{r-1} . Arguing using induction as in the n is odd case, we see that B_i for all $i\in\{j+1,j+2,\ldots,r-1,r+2,\ldots,n-j\}$ and $[B_{r+1},B_r]_q$ commute with H'_j for all j. Note that for all k>j, the element H'_k is in the subalgebra generated by B_i for $i\in\{j+1,j+2,\ldots,r-1,r+2,\ldots,n-j\}$ and $[B_{r+1},B_r]_q$. Hence H'_k commutes with H'_j for all k>j and the lemma follows. \square

The next result shows that $\mathcal{H}' = \mathcal{H}$, thus establishing a nice formula for a set of generators of \mathcal{H} for this family of symmetric pairs.

Theorem 8.2. Let $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ be a symmetric pair of type AIII/AIV such that $r = \lfloor (n+1)/2 \rfloor$. Let $\Gamma_{\theta} = \{\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_r\}$ where $\beta_j = \alpha_j + \alpha_{j+1} + \cdots + \alpha_{n-j+1}$ and set $\alpha_{\beta_j} = \alpha_j$ for each j. Then

(8.7)
$$\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H'_1, \dots, H'_r],$$

where H is the quantum Cartan subalgebra as defined in Theorem 7.2 and

$$H'_{j} = [B_{n-j+1}, [B_{n-j}, \dots, [B_{j+1}, B_{j}]_{q}]_{q} \cdots]_{q}$$

for all $j = 1, \ldots, r$.

Proof. If n is odd, then $H_r = B_r = H'_r$ which is clearly in the right hand side of (8.7). If n is even, then by (8.1) of Section 8.2, we see that H_r is in the right hand side of (8.7).

Now consider j < r. Recall that the construction of the quantum Cartan element H_j in Theorem 7.2 is based on Proposition 6.7 which in turn uses Proposition 4.3. In the notation of Proposition 4.3, $H_j = \tilde{b}$ where $H'_j = b$. Thus, we can write

$$H_j = H_j' + \sum_{\text{wt}(I) < \beta_i} B_I a_I$$

where each $a_I \in \mathcal{T}_{\theta}$. Moreover, by the discussion at the end of Section 4.3 and Lemma 4.1, we see that H_j , H'_j , $H_j - H'_j$ are all elements in the set

(8.8)
$$\sum_{\lambda,\gamma,\gamma'} G^{-}_{-\beta_j+\lambda+\gamma} U^{+}_{\theta(-\lambda)-\gamma} K_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'},$$

where the sum runs over λ, γ, γ' in $Q^+(\pi)$ such that $0 < \lambda \le \beta_j$, $\gamma \le \theta(-\lambda)$, and $\gamma' \le \gamma$. Set $\pi_j = \{\alpha_{j+1}, \ldots, \alpha_{n-j}\}.$

Let $\lambda + \gamma$ be minimal such that $H_j - H'_j$ admits a nonzero biweight summand of l-weight $-\beta_j + \lambda + \gamma$, say $guK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'} \in G^-_{-\beta_j+\lambda+\gamma}U^+_{\theta(-\lambda)-\gamma}K_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}$ where $g \in G^-$ and $u \in U^+$. As explained above, H_j and H'_j have the same lowest weight term W_j and so $\lambda + \gamma > 0$. Since $H_j - H'_j \in \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$, it follows from Remark 4.2 that $guK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'} \in U^-\mathcal{M}^+\mathcal{T}_{\theta}$. Note that \mathcal{M}^+ is just the identity element

because $\pi_{\theta} = \emptyset$ and so u = 1. By Theorem 7.2, $\mathcal{P}(H_j) = W_j$. On the other hand, $\mathcal{P}(gK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}) = gK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}$ and so $gK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}$ does not appear as a biweight summand of H_j with respect to the expansion along the lines of (8.8). Hence $gK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}$ must appear as a biweight summand of H'_j .

Note that \mathcal{M}^+ is just the identity element because $\pi_{\theta} = \emptyset$ and so u = 1. Since

$$gK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}\in U^-_{-\beta+\lambda+\gamma}K_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}=G^-_{-\beta_i+\lambda+\gamma}K_{2\gamma'-\lambda-\gamma},$$

we must have $2\gamma' - \lambda - \gamma \in Q(\pi)^{\theta}$. Also, the fact that H_j and H'_j commutes with all elements in $\mathcal{T}_{\theta} = \langle K_i K_{n-i+1}^{-1} | i = 1, \ldots, r \rangle$ ensures that $p(\lambda + \gamma) = \lambda + \gamma$. By the definition of β_j and π_j it follows that either $\beta_j - \lambda - \gamma \in Q^+(\pi_j)$ or $\lambda + \gamma \in Q^+(\pi_j)$. If $\lambda + \gamma \in Q^+(\pi_j)$, then it follows from Lemma 6.2 that $\lambda = \gamma = 0$ which contradicts the fact that $\lambda + \gamma > 0$. Hence $\beta_j - \lambda - \gamma \in Q^+(\pi_j)$ and $g \in U_{\pi_j}$.

Assume first that n is odd. By Theorem 7.2 and the proof of Lemma 8.1, both H_j and H'_j commute with all elements of $U_{\pi_j} \cap \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$. By Lemma 6.1, $gK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}$ is an (ad U_{π_j}) lowest weight vector. By Section 3.2, the restriction of $-\beta_j + 2\gamma'$ to π_j is -2ξ for some $\xi \in P^+(\pi_j)$ and $\beta_j - \lambda - \gamma$ restricts to $\xi - w_j \xi$ where $w_j = w(\pi_j)_0$. Since $\beta_j - \lambda - \gamma \in Q^+(\pi_j)$, these two weights are equal, namely $\beta_j - \lambda - \gamma = \xi - w_j \xi$. Hence $\beta_j - \lambda - \gamma \in Q^+(\pi_j) \cap P^+(\pi_j)$. The only weight less than β_j in $Q^+(\pi_j)$ which is also in $P^+(\pi_j)$ is β_{j+1} . Hence the weight of g is

(8.9)
$$\xi - w_j \xi = \beta_j - \lambda - \gamma = \beta_{j+1} = \alpha_{j+1} + \dots + \alpha_{n-j}.$$

It follows that $\lambda + \gamma = \alpha_j + \alpha_{n-j+1}$. Since $\gamma' \leq \gamma$, we must have $\gamma' \in \{0, \alpha_j, \alpha_{n-j+1}, \alpha_j + \alpha_{n-j+1}\}$. Using the fact that $\beta_j - 2\gamma'$ restricts to 2ξ and ξ satisfies (8.9), it is straightforward to check that $\gamma' = \alpha_j$ or $\gamma' = \alpha_{n-j+1}$.

As explained above, $gK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}$ appears as a biweight summand in the expansion of H'_j using (8.8). From the definition of H'_j and the fact that g has weight $-\beta_{j+1}$, $gK_{-\beta_j+2\gamma'}$ must appear in the weight vector expansion of the sum of the following two terms:

$$[E_jK_{n-j+1}^{-1}, [F_{n-j}, \dots, [F_{j+1}, F_j]_q]_q \cdots]_q$$

and

$$[F_{n-j+1}, [F_{n-j}, \dots, [F_{j+1}, E_{n-j+1}K_j^{-1}]_q]_q \cdots]_q.$$

It follows that $g = [F_{n-j}, [F_{n-j-1}, \dots, [F_{j+2}, F_{j+1}]_q \dots]_q]_q K_{\beta_{j+1}}$ up to some nonzero scalar. Since $\gamma' = \alpha_j$ or α_{n-j+1} , we have

$$gK_{-\beta_{j}+2\gamma'} = gK_{-\beta_{j+1}}(K_{j}K_{n-j+1})^{-1}K_{2\gamma'}$$

= $[F_{n-j}, [F_{n-j-1}, \dots, [F_{j+2}, F_{j+1}]_{q} \dots]_{q}]_{q}t,$

where $t = K_j K_{n-j+1}^{-1}$ or $t = K_j^{-1} K_{n-j+1}$. Thus

$$H_j \in H'_j + H'_{j+1}t + \sum_{\text{wt}(I) < \beta_{j+1}} B_I a_I.$$

Note that all three elements H_j, H'_j, H'_{j+1} commute with all elements in $U_{\pi_{j+2}} \cap \mathcal{B}_{\theta}$ and all elements in \mathcal{T}_{θ} . So, using a similar argument as above yields

(8.10)
$$H_j = H'_j + H'_{j+1}t + H'_{j+2}s + \sum_{\text{wt}(I) < \beta_{j+2}} B_I a_I$$

with $s \in \mathcal{T}_{\theta}$. Hence, repeated applications of this argument yield

$$H_j \in \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H'_j, H'_{j+1}, \dots, H'_r].$$

Since the coefficient of H'_i in H_j is 1, we get

(8.11)
$$\mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H_{j}, H_{j+1}, \dots, H_{r}] = \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][H'_{j}, H'_{j+1}, \dots, H'_{r}].$$

This proves (8.7) when n is odd.

Now assume that n is even. Let V^- be the subalgebra of U^- generated by

$$F_1, \ldots, F_{r-1}, [F_{r+1}, F_r]_q, F_{r+2}, \ldots, F_n.$$

Note that V^- is isomorphic to $U_q^-(\mathfrak{sl}_{n-1})$ (the algebra generated by F_1, \ldots, F_{n-1}) via the map defined by

- $F_i \mapsto F_i$ for $i = 1, \dots, r 1$,
- $[F_{r+1}, F_r]_q \mapsto F_r$,
- $F_i \mapsto F_{i-1}$ for $i = r + 2, \dots, n$.

Hence V^- inherits an adjoint action from $U_q^-(\mathfrak{sl}_{n-1})$. Now $H_j - H_j'$ commutes with all elements in \mathcal{T}_{θ} and all elements in the algebra generated by

$$B_{j+1}, \ldots, B_{r-1}, [B_{r+1}, B_r]_q, B_{r+2}, \ldots, B_{n-j}.$$

The theorem follows using an argument very similar to the odd n case. The key ingredient is an analysis of the lowest weight summand of $H_j - H'_j$ with respect to the adjoint action of V^- . This term must lie in $U^-\mathcal{T}_{\theta}$ and be invariant under the action of (ad \mathcal{T}_{θ}). This forces the lowest weight summand to be in the algebra generated by V^- and \mathcal{T}_{θ} . Arguing as above yields an analog of (8.10). Repeated applications of this type of argument yield (8.11) for n even which completes the proof of the theorem.

Remark 8.3. There is a close relationship between the quantum Cartan subalgebra in this case and the center of \mathcal{B}_{θ} . In particular, by [KoL], there exists z_j in \mathcal{B}_{θ} such that

- (i) $z_j \in [(\text{ad } U_{\pi_j})K_{-2\nu_j}]K_{2\nu_j-\beta_j},$
- (ii) $z_j = [(\operatorname{ad} F_{n-j+1} \cdots F_{j+1}) F_j K_j] K_{-\beta_j} + \text{higher weight terms},$
- (iii) $z_j K_{\beta_j 2\nu_j}$ is in the center of $(U_{\pi_j} \cap \mathcal{B}_{\theta}) \check{\mathcal{T}}_{\theta}$.

Note that (ii) implies that

$$z_j = H'_j + \sum_{\text{wt}(I) < \beta_i} B_I \mathcal{T}_{\theta}.$$

One can expand (ad $U_{\pi_j})K_{-2\nu_j}$ as a sum of weight spaces in a manner analogous to the expansion of the B_I in Lemma 4.1. (See for example [KoL, Section 1.5 (10)].) An inductive argument similar to the one used in the above theorem yields $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}(q)[\mathcal{T}_{\theta}][z_1,\ldots,z_r]$.

Remark 8.4. In [Wa], Watanabe uses the braid group automorphisms of [KoP] in order to determine the action of the Cartan on highest weight generating vectors. A natural question is: Can we use these automorphisms to construct quantum Cartan subalgebras? We see that the answer is no for examples considered in this section where here we take the most obvious choice of braid group automorphism to pass from one Cartan element to another. In particular, consider the case where

n=3 as in Section 8.3. Applying the braid group automorphism τ_1^- of [KoP] to the Cartan element $H_1=B_2$ we get the element

$$\tau_1^{-1}(H_1) = (iq^{1/2})([B_1, [B_3, B_2]_q]_q - qB_2K_1K_3^{-1})$$

of \mathcal{B}_{θ} where here we have adjusted the outcome to reflect a slightly different choice of generators for \mathcal{B}_{θ} . On the surface, this term looks similar to H_2 as defined in (8.2). However, $[B_1, [B_3, B_2]_q]_q$ is not a scalar multiple of $[B_3[B_2, B_1]_q]_q$ and so H_2 is not equal to a scalar multiple of $\tau_1^-(H_1)$. Moreover, $[B_1, [B_3, B_2]_q]_q$ does not commute with B_2 and so H_1 does not commute with $\tau_1^{-1}(H_1)$. Thus, in contrast to the Cartan subalgebras studied here, the subalgebra generated by $H_1, \tau_1^{-1}(H_1), K_1K_3^{-1}, K_3K_1^{-1}$ is not commutative.

Remark 8.5. Note that the set $\Gamma = \{\beta_1, \dots, \beta_r\}$ where $r = \lfloor (n+1)/2 \rfloor$ and

$$\beta_j = \alpha_j + \alpha_{j+1} + \dots + \alpha_{n-j+1}$$

for $j=1,\ldots,r$ is also a strongly orthogonal θ -system for the symmetric pair $\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{g}^{\theta}$ of type AI. Choosing $\alpha_{\beta_j}=\alpha_j$ and $\alpha'_{\beta}=\alpha_{\beta_{n-j+1}}$ for each j, we see that Γ satisfies conditions Theorem 2.7 (i)–(iv) but does not fall into one of the five cases of this theorem. A natural question is: Can we still identify a quantum Cartan subalgebra of \mathcal{B}_{θ} defined by this strongly orthogonal θ -system? In the case when n=3, a straightforward computation shows that $H'_{\beta_2}=B_2$ commutes with $H'_{\beta_1}=[B_3,[B_2,B_1]_q]_q$ where $B_i=F_i+E_iK_i^{-1}$ for each i. More generally, in analogy to the type AIII case, the algebra $\mathcal{H}'=\mathbb{C}(q)[H'_1,\ldots,H'_r]$ is a commutative polynomial ring where

$$H'_{j} = [B_{n-j+1}, [B_{n-j}, \cdots, [B_{j+1}, B_{j}]_{q}]_{q} \cdots]_{q}$$

for $j=1,\ldots,r$. Furthermore, \mathcal{H}' specializes to the enveloping algebra of a Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g}^{θ} as q goes to 1. However, \mathcal{H} is not κ_{θ} invariant. This is because $\kappa_{\theta}(B_j) = B_j$ for $j-1,\ldots,n$ and so

$$\kappa_{\theta}(H'_j) = [B_j, [B_{j+1}, \cdots, [B_{n-j}, B_{n-j+1}]_q]_q \cdots]_q \neq H'_j,$$

and, moreover, $\kappa_{\theta}(H'_j) \notin \mathcal{H}'$ for all j < (n+1)/2. Hence Corollary 3.3 does not apply to \mathcal{H}' . Nevertheless, it is likely that one can use a twist of κ_{θ} obtained by composing it with an automorphism of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ induced by the nontrivial diagram automorphism for type A_n in order to establish the semisimplicity of unitary \mathcal{B}_{θ} -modules with respect to the action of \mathcal{H}' . Thus \mathcal{H}' could potentially serve as an alternative quantum Cartan subalgebra for \mathcal{B}_{θ} distinct from the quantum Cartan subalgebra in type AI defined by Theorems 2.7 and 7.2 (see Remark 7.4).

9. Appendix: Commonly used notation

Section 2: \mathbb{C} , \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{N} , \mathfrak{g} , θ , \mathfrak{g}^{θ}

Section 2.1: \mathfrak{n}^- , \mathfrak{h} , \mathfrak{n}^+ , Δ , Δ^+ , $h_i, e_{\alpha}, f_{-\alpha}, \pi = \{\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n\}$, \mathcal{W} , $w_0, e_i, f_i, h_{\alpha}$, (,), $\mathfrak{g}_{\pi'}$, $Q(\pi')$, $Q^+(\pi')$, $\Delta(\pi')$, $\mathcal{W}_{\pi'}$, $w(\pi')_0$, $P(\pi)$, $P^+(\pi)$, $P(\pi')$, $P^+(\pi')$, $\operatorname{mult}_{\alpha}(\beta)$, $\operatorname{Supp}(\beta)$, $\operatorname{ht}(\beta)$

Section 2.2: $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{R}}$, $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$, $\mathfrak{t}_{\mathbb{R}}$, $\mathfrak{p}_{\mathbb{R}}$, $\mathfrak{a}_{\mathbb{R}}$, $Q(\pi)^{\theta}$, $P(\pi)^{\theta}$, Δ_{θ} , $Orth(\beta)$, $StrOrth(\beta)$, \mathfrak{h}_{θ} , \mathfrak{a}

Section 2.4: π_{θ} , p, Γ_{θ} , α_{β} , α'_{β}

Section 3.1: $U_q(\mathfrak{g}), E_i, F_i, K_i^{\pm 1}, \epsilon, U^+, U^-, \mathcal{T}, U^0, G^+, G^-, \hat{U}, V_{\lambda}$, biweight, l-weight, $K_{\xi}, \check{\mathcal{T}}, \check{U}, M(\lambda), L(\lambda), U_{\pi'}, L_{\pi'}(\lambda), S^{U_{\pi'}}$

Section 3.2: $\operatorname{ad}_{\lambda}$, $G^{-}(\lambda)$, $\delta M(\lambda/2)$, $\operatorname{deg}_{\mathcal{F}}$, $\tilde{\lambda}$, $F(\check{U})$, $F_{\pi'}(\check{U})$

Section 3.3: T_i, T_w, σ

Section 3.4: κ

Section 4.1: \mathcal{M} , θ_q , \mathcal{T}_{θ} , \mathcal{B}_{θ} , \mathcal{B}_i ($\alpha_i \notin \pi_{\theta}$), $\mathbf{c} = (\mathbf{c_1}, \dots, \mathbf{c_n})$, $\mathbf{s} = (\mathbf{s_1}, \dots, \mathbf{s_n})$, \mathcal{S} , κ_{θ} , $\check{\mathcal{T}}_{\theta}$, $\check{\mathcal{B}}_{\theta}$

Section 4.2: \mathcal{M}^+ , B_i ($\alpha_i \in \pi_\theta$), F_J , B_J , $\operatorname{wt}(j_1, \ldots, j_m)$

Section 4.3: \mathcal{P}

Section 5.1: $\bar{L}(\lambda)$, $\bar{L}_{\pi'}(\lambda)$, $[\bar{L}(\lambda):\bar{L}_{\pi'}(\gamma)]$, ν_{α}

Section 5.2: $[L(\lambda):L_{\pi'}(\gamma)]$

Section 5.3: φ , φ'

Section 6.1: $\mathcal{N}(D:C), [b, a]$

Section 6.2: $ht_{\tau}(\beta)$

Section 6.4: $G^{-}_{(\tau,m)}, U^{+}_{(\tau,m)}$

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author especially wants to thank Catharina Stroppel and Stefan Kolb for their intriguing questions and stimulating mathematical discussions that inspired the author to think again about quantum symmetric pairs. The author is very grateful to the organizers, István Heckenberger, Stefan Kolb, and Jasper Stokman, for the invitation to the Mini-Workshop: Coideal Subalgebras of Quantum Groups, held at the Mathematisches Forschungsinstitut Oberwolfach. The author would also like to express appreciation to the referee for carefully reading this manuscript and providing insightful and constructive suggestions. Some of this work is related to open questions formulated after attending the conference (see *An Overview of Quantum Symmetric Pairs* in [HKS]). A preliminary version of the results in this paper were presented at the Joint Mathematics Meetings, Atlanta 2017.

References

- [AKR] Noud Aldenhoven, Erik Koelink, and Pablo Román, Branching rules for finite-dimensional $\mathcal{U}_q(\mathfrak{su}(3))$ -representations with respect to a right coideal subalgebra, Algebr. Represent. Theory **20** (2017), no. 4, 821–842, DOI 10.1007/s10468-017-9678-z. MR3669159
- [A] Shôrô Araki, On root systems and an infinitesimal classification of irreducible symmetric spaces, J. Math. Osaka City Univ. 13 (1962), 1–34. MR0153782
- [AK] Yoshio Agaoka and Eiji Kaneda, Strongly orthogonal subsets in root systems, Hokkaido Math. J. 31 (2002), no. 1, 107–136, DOI 10.14492/hokmj/1350911773. MR1888273
- [BK] M.Balagovic and S. Kolb, Universal K-matrix for quantum symmetric pairs, Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik, published online 2016 (arXiv:1507.06276).
- [BW] Huanchen Bao and Weiqiang Wang, A new approach to Kazhdan-Lusztig theory of type B via quantum symmetric pairs (English, with English and French summaries), Astérisque 402 (2018), vii+134. MR3864017
- [BW2] Huanchen Bao and Weiqiang Wang, Canonical bases arising from quantum symmetric pairs, Invent. Math. 213 (2018), no. 3, 1099–1177, DOI 10.1007/s00222-018-0801-5. MR3842062
- [DFG] Heiko Dietrich, Paolo Faccin, and Willem A. de Graaf, Computing with real Lie algebras: real forms, Cartan decompositions, and Cartan subalgebras, J. Symbolic Comput. 56 (2013), 27–45, DOI 10.1016/j.jsc.2013.05.007. MR3061707
- [D] Mathijs S. Dijkhuizen, Some remarks on the construction of quantum symmetric spaces: Representations of Lie groups, Lie algebras and their quantum analogues, Acta Appl. Math. 44 (1996), no. 1-2, 59-80, DOI 10.1007/BF00116516. MR1407040
- [DS] Mathijs S. Dijkhuizen and Jasper V. Stokman, Some limit transitions between BC type orthogonal polynomials interpreted on quantum complex Grassmannians, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 35 (1999), no. 3, 451–500, DOI 10.2977/prims/1195143610. MR1710751
- [DN] Mathijs S. Dijkhuizen and Masatoshi Noumi, A family of quantum projective spaces and related q-hypergeometric orthogonal polynomials, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 350 (1998), no. 8, 3269–3296, DOI 10.1090/S0002-9947-98-01971-0. MR1432197
- [Dr] V. G. Drinfel'd, Quantum groups, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Berkeley, Calif., 1986), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1987, pp. 798–820. MR934283

- [ES] Michael Ehrig and Catharina Stroppel, Nazarov-Wenzl algebras, coideal subalgebras and categorified skew Howe duality, Adv. Math. 331 (2018), 58–142, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2018.01.013. MR3804673
- [GK] A. M. Gavrilik and A. U. Klimyk, q-deformed orthogonal and pseudo-orthogonal algebras and their representations, Lett. Math. Phys. 21 (1991), no. 3, 215–220, DOI 10.1007/BF00420371. MR1102131
- [H] James E. Humphreys, Introduction to Lie algebras and representation theory, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1972. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Vol. 9. MR0323842
- [H2] J. E. Humphreys, Longest element of a finite Coxeter group, unpublished notes (http://people.math.umass.edu/~jeh/pub/longest.pdf) (2015).
- [HKS] István Heckenberger, Stefan Kolb, and Jasper V. Stokman, Mini-Workshop: Coideal Subalgebras of Quantum Groups, Oberwolfach Reports 12 (2015), 533–569, DOI 10.4171/OWR/2015/10. MR3443118
- [IK] N. Z. Iorgov and A. U. Klimyk, Classification theorem on irreducible representations of the q-deformed algebra $U_q'(so_n)$, Int. J. Math. Math. Sci. **2** (2005), 225–262, DOI 10.1155/IJMMS.2005.225. MR2143754
- [K] Bertram Kostant, On the conjugacy of real Cartan subalgebras. I, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.
 U. S. A. 41 (1955), 967–970, DOI 10.1073/pnas.41.11.967. MR0073928
- [Kn] Anthony W. Knapp, Lie groups beyond an introduction, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 140, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1996. MR1399083
- [Ko] Stefan Kolb, Quantum symmetric Kac-Moody pairs, Adv. Math. 267 (2014), 395–469, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2014.08.010. MR3269184
- [Ko2] Stefan Kolb, Quantum symmetric pairs and the reflection equation, Algebr. Represent. Theory 11 (2008), no. 6, 519–544, DOI 10.1007/s10468-008-9093-6. MR2453228
- [KoL] Stefan Kolb and Gail Letzter, The center of quantum symmetric pair coideal subalgebras, Represent. Theory 12 (2008), 294–326, DOI 10.1090/S1088-4165-08-00332-4. MR2439008
- [KoP] Stefan Kolb and Jacopo Pellegrini, Braid group actions on coideal subalgebras of quantized enveloping algebras, J. Algebra 336 (2011), 395–416, DOI 10.1016/j.jalgebra.2011.04.001. MR2802552
- [Ja] Jens Carsten Jantzen, Lectures on quantum groups, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 6, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1996. MR1359532
- [Ji] Michio Jimbo, A q-difference analogue of $U(\mathfrak{g})$ and the Yang-Baxter equation, Lett. Math. Phys. **10** (1985), no. 1, 63–69, DOI 10.1007/BF00704588. MR797001
- [J] Anthony Joseph, Quantum groups and their primitive ideals, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], vol. 29, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995. MR1315966
- [JL] Anthony Joseph and Gail Letzter, Local finiteness of the adjoint action for quantized enveloping algebras, J. Algebra 153 (1992), no. 2, 289–318, DOI 10.1016/0021-8693(92)90157-H. MR1198203
- [L1] Gail Letzter, Harish-Chandra modules for quantum symmetric pairs, Represent. Theory 4 (2000), 64–96, DOI 10.1090/S1088-4165-00-00087-X. MR1742961
- [L2] Gail Letzter, Coideal subalgebras and quantum symmetric pairs, New directions in Hopf algebras, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., vol. 43, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2002, pp. 117–165. MR1913438
- [L3] Gail Letzter, Quantum symmetric pairs and their zonal spherical functions, Transform. Groups 8 (2003), no. 3, 261–292, DOI 10.1007/s00031-003-0719-9. MR1996417
- [L4] Gail Letzter, Quantum zonal spherical functions and Macdonald polynomials, Adv. Math. 189 (2004), no. 1, 88–147, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2003.11.007. MR2093481
- [L5] Gail Letzter, Invariant differential operators for quantum symmetric spaces, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 193 (2008), no. 903, vi+90, DOI 10.1090/memo/0903. MR2400554
- [Lu] George Lusztig, Introduction to quantum groups, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 110, Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1993. MR1227098
- [N] Masatoshi Noumi, Macdonald's symmetric polynomials as zonal spherical functions on some quantum homogeneous spaces, Adv. Math. 123 (1996), no. 1, 16–77, DOI 10.1006/aima.1996.0066. MR1413836
- [NS] Masatoshi Noumi and Tetsuya Sugitani, Quantum symmetric spaces and related qorthogonal polynomials, Group theoretical methods in physics (Toyonaka, 1994), World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1995, pp. 28–40. MR1413733

- [NDS] Masatoshi Noumi, Mathijs S. Dijkhuizen, and Tetsuya Sugitani, Multivariable Askey-Wilson polynomials and quantum complex Grassmannians, Special functions, q-series and related topics (Toronto, ON, 1995), Fields Inst. Commun., vol. 14, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997, pp. 167–177. MR1448686
- [OV] A. L. Onishchik and E. B. Vinberg, Lie Groups and Lie Algebras, II, Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, Vol 41, Springer-Verlag, 1991.
- [RW] Eric C. Rowell and Hans Wenzl, SO(N)₂ braid group representations are Gaussian, Quantum Topol. 8 (2017), no. 1, 1–33, DOI 10.4171/QT/85. MR3630280
- [Su] Mitsuo Sugiura, Conjugate classes of Cartan subalgebras in real semi-simple Lie algebras,
 J. Math. Soc. Japan 11 (1959), 374–434, DOI 10.2969/jmsj/01140374. MR0146305
- [S] C. Stroppel, private communication.
- [Wa] H. Watanabe, Crystal basis theory for a quantum symmetric pair (U, U^j) , arXiv: 1704.01277.
- [W] Hans Wenzl, On centralizer algebras for spin representations, Comm. Math. Phys. 314 (2012), no. 1, 243–263, DOI 10.1007/s00220-012-1494-z. MR2954516

Mathematics Research Group, National Security Agency, Fort Meade, Maryland 20755-6844

Email address: gletzter@verizon.net